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Preface

Who Was William Sharp?

William Sharp was born in Paisley, near Glasgow, in 1855. His father, a
successful merchant, moved his family to Glasgow in 1867; his mother,
Katherine Brooks, was the daughter of the Swedish Vice Consul in
Glasgow. A talented, adventurous boy who read voraciously, he spent
summers with his family in the Inner Hebrides where he developed a
strong attachment to the land and the people. In the summer of 1863, his
paternal aunt brought her children from London to vacation with their
cousins. Months short of his eighth birthday, Sharp formed a bond with
one of those cousins, Elizabeth Sharp, a bright girl who shared many of
his enthusiasms. Their meeting led eventually to their engagement (in
1875) and their marriage (in 1884).

After finishing school at the Glasgow Academy in 1871, Sharp
studied literature for two years at Glasgow University, an experience
that fed his desire to become a writer. Following his father’s sudden
death in August 1876, he fell ill and sailed to Australia to recover his
health and look for suitable work. Finding none, he enjoyed a warm
and adventurous summer and returned in June 1877 to London where
he spent several weeks with Elizabeth and her friends. A year later he
settled in London and began to establish himself as a poet, journalist,
and editor. Through Elizabeth’s contacts and those he made among
writers, including Dante Gabriel Rossetti, he became by the end of the
1880s a well-established figure in the literary and intellectual life of the
city. During this decade he published biographical studies of Rossetti,
Percy Bysshe Shelley, and Robert Browning; three books of poetry; two
novels; many articles and reviews; and several editions of other writers.
None of those publications brought the recognition he sought. By 1890
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he had accumulated enough money to reduce his editing and reviewing
and devote more time to poetry and prose.

That autumn he and Elizabeth went to Heidelberg for several weeks
and then to Italy for the winter. In January, Edith Wingate Rinder, a
beautiful young woman and the wife of Frank Rinder, accompanied
her aunt, Mona Caird, a close girlhood friend of Elizabeth, on a three-
week visit to Rome. There Edith spent many hours exploring the city
and surrounding area with Sharp who fell deeply in love with her.
Inspired by the joy he felt in her presence and the warmth and beauty
of the country, Sharp wrote and printed privately in Italy a slim book
of poems, Sospiri di Roma, that exceeded in quality those he had written
previously.

After returning to England in the spring of 1891 and under the
influence of his continuing relationship with Edith, Sharp began writing
a prose romance set in western Scotland. When he found a publisher
(Frank Murray in Derby) for Pharais, A Romance of the Isles, he decided
to issue it pseudonymously as the work of Fiona Macleod. In choosing a
female pseudonym, Sharp signaled his belief that romance flowed from
the repressed feminine side of his nature. The pseudonym also reflected
the importance of Edith in the novel’s composition and substance. Their
relationship is mirrored in the work’s depiction of a love affair doomed
to failure. Finally, it disguised his authorship from London critics who,
he feared, would not treat it seriously if it appeared as the work of the
prosaic William Sharp.

Pharais changed the course of Sharp’s life. Along with The
Mountain Lovers, another west of Scotland romance that followed in
1895, it attracted enthusiastic readers and favorable notices. When
it became clear that his fictional author had struck a sympathetic
chord with the reading public and the books were bringing in money,
Sharp proceeded to invent a life for Fiona Macleod and project her
personality through her publications and letters. In letters signed
William Sharp, he began promoting the writings of Fiona and adding
touches to her character. He sometimes functioned as her agent.
To some, he asserted she was his cousin, and he implied to a few
intimate friends they were lovers. In molding the persona of Fiona
Macleod and sustaining it for a decade, Sharp drew upon the three
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women he knew best: Elizabeth, his wife and first cousin; Edith
Rinder, with whom he had developed a deep bond; and Elizabeth’s
friend and Edith’s aunt, Mona Caird, a powerful and independent
woman married to a wealthy Scottish Laird. He enlisted his sister
Mary Sharp, who lived with their mother in Edinburgh, to supply
the Fiona handwriting. His drafts of Fiona Macleod letters went to
her for copying and mailing from Edinburgh.

For a decade before his death in 1905, he conducted through
his publications and correspondence a double literary life. As
Fiona, he produced poems and stories which, in their romantic
content, settings, characters, and mystical aura, reflected the spirit
of the time, attracted a wide readership, and became the principal
literary achievement of the Scottish Celtic Renaissance. As Sharp,
he continued reviewing and editing and tried his hand at several
novels. As Fiona’s chief advocate and protector, he deflected requests
for interviews by insisting on her desire for privacy. If it became
known he was Fiona, critics would dismiss the writings as deceptive
and inauthentic. Destroying the fiction of her being a real woman,
moreover, would block his creativity and deprive him of needed
income. So, he persisted and maintained the double life until he died.
He refused to disclose his authorship even to the Prime Minister of
England to obtain a much-needed Civil List pension. The popular
writings of Fiona Macleod may have obtained Parliament’s approval,
but not those of the journeyman William Sharp

His rugged good looks and exuberant manner obscured the fact
that Sharp had been ill since childhood. Scarlet fever in his youth and
rheumatic fever as a young man damaged his heart. In his forties,
diabetes set in, and attacks increased in frequency and seriousness.
Given his declining health after the turn of the century, though
interrupted by occasional bursts of exuberant creativity, his death in
December 1905 was not a surprise to his family and close friends. It
occurred while he and Elizabeth were staying with Alexander Nelson
Hood, the Duke of Bronte, at his Castello Maniace on the northwest
slopes of Mount Etna in Sicily. Sharp is buried there in the estate’s
Protestant Cemetery where a Celtic cross marks his grave.
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Biographies of William Sharp

The first book-length account of William Sharp’s life was written by
his wife, Elizabeth Amelia Sharp. Her William Sharp (Fiona Macleod): A
Memoir was published in 1910 by William Heinemann in London and
Duffield and Company in New York. Comprehensive and beautifully
written, thisbook contains all Elizabeth wanted to say about her husband,
and it remains an essential source of information about his life. The
next book-length effort to understand Sharp and his creation of Fiona
Macleod was Flavia Alaya’s William Sharp — “Fiona Macleod” published
by the Harvard University Press in 1970. This work depends on Mrs.
Sharp’s Memoir for the basic facts of Sharp’s life and work, but it differs
in intensions. The author’s insightful reading both of Sharp’s writings
and that of his European and American contemporaries enabled her to
place Sharp in the historical context of Late Victorianism. In this book,
Sharp emerged from obscurity into a writer to be read for the quality
and range of his work and for his insights into the cultural landscape of
the late nineteenth and the early twentieth centuries.

The next bibliographical study of Sharp — Steve Balmires’s The Little
Book of the Great Enchantment — was published by R. ]. Stewart Books
in Arcata, California in 2008. This book profits immensely from Mr.
Balmires’s ability as a storyteller, his knowledge of the Gaelic language
and Celtic civilization, and his access to my first rendition of Sharp’s life
and letters known as The William Sharp “Fiona Macleod” Archive sponsored
by the Institute of English Studies in the School of Advanced Study in
the University of London. (The Archive has been superceded by my three
volume Life and Letters of William Sharp and “Fiona Macleod” published by
Open Book Publishers in 2018-2020.) What may be a limitation of this
book for some readers is the author’s treatment of William Sharp and
Fiona Macleod as two separate individuals. Beyond that, the reader’s
ability to “suspend disbelief” may be tested by the author’s assertion
that Fiona was a product of the realm of fairies, and her writings were
a “personal, first-hand account of her own Fairy tradition.” Fairies were
and for some are still a constant among the people of the Inner and
Outer Hebrides. Mr. Balmires professes to share their belief in spirits
who make themselves known in the material world with negative as
well as positive results.
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Professor Terry L. Meyers published in 1996 a short but important
book with a very long title: The Sexual Tensions of William Sharp: A Study
of the Birth of Fiona Macleod Incorporating Two Lost Works, “Ariadne in
Naxos” and “Beatrice” (New York: Peter Lang). Drawing on recent studies
of gender identification and male and female homosexuality in the late
nineteenth century, Meyers observed that repressed homosexuality
was the source of Sharp’s sexual tensions. He presented the two lost
works as additional evidence that Sharp, from an early age, recognized
feminine traits in his make-up and identified with the plight of women.
In the mid-nineties he compartmentalized his masculine and feminine
inclinations and invented a woman through whom he could give voice
to the latter. That bifurcation, the presence of two individuals, one male
and the other female, Meyers observed, became a means of alleviating,
as he acutely concludes, though not eliminating, Sharp’s sexual tensions.
Sharp recognized the complexities of gender identification and the
varied combinations of masculine and feminine traits in his associates.
He was sexually attracted to both women and men. Though there is
ample evidence of its overt expression in his realtions with women,
there is no such evidence in his relations with men. Lack of evidence, of
course, does not preclude its occuring.

This biography of William Sharp has a lengthy and checkered ancestry.
It began when Professor Lionel Stevenson in the Duke University
Department of English suggested I look at William Sharp, whom I had
never heard of, as I explored topics for a doctoral dissertation. I did so and
admired the quality of some of his writings. More important, I became
fascinated by what was known or assumed about his personal life. A grant
from the Duke Graduate School enabled me to travel to London where I
met William Sharp’s nephew and Literary Executor, Noel Farquharson
Sharp, and to Edinburgh where I examined the Sharp manuscripts in the
National Library of Scotland. That trip was the first of many to England
and Scotland where I have been welcomed by people with various ties
to the writer. Upon arriving at the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee
(UWM) in 1966 as a member of its English Department, I began to collect
copies of Sharp’s letters — those signed William Sharp and those signed
Fiona Macleod — from libraries and private collectors. With the help
of graduate students and support from the UWM Graduate School, I
eventually collected and annotated copies of hundreds of letters written
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to a wide range of British, American, and European literary figures with
whom Sharp corresponded between 1870 and 1905.

As the number of letters grew, I abandoned all hope of having them
published. In the mid-1990s, I met Professor Warwick Gould, the eminent
Yeats scholar who founded the Institute for British Studies in London
University. He suggested I prepare the annotated Sharp letters to insert
chronologically on a website supported by his Institute. I did so, and that
website, known as The William Sharp “Fiona Macleod” Archive, was completed
in 2010, and it has been consulted by many scholars interested in Sharp
and his friends. In 2017, Professor Gould suggested I prepare a proposal
to publish the letters and send it to Open Book Publishers in Cambridge,
England. When that proposal was reviewed and accepted, I returned to
the letters, checked the transcriptions, expanded the annotations, and
reworked the introductory section for each chapter of letters. The happy
result was The Life and Letters of William Sharp and “Fiona Macleod,” twenty-
five chapters arranged chronologically in three volumes which are available
from Open Book Publishers” website without charge and in hard or soft
copies for a modest price (Volume 1: 1855-1894 is available at https://doi.
org./10.11647/OBP.0142; Volume 2: 1895-1899 at https://doi.org./10.11647/
OBP.0196; Volume 3: 1900-1905 at 10.11647 /OBP.0221). The first volume was
published in 2018, and the final two in 2020.

After finishing that project, I realized the introductory essays — the
“Life” sections of Life and Letters — were an incipient biography buried
in three large volumes of transcribed and annotated letters where they
are likely to be read only by scholars interested in the period. I was,
nonetheless, astonished to see recently that the three volumes of Life and
Letters have been viewed online 9,000 times and downloaded 2,500 times.
That aside, this compilation of the revised twenty-five chapters is more
readable, both online and as a printed volume. Lacking annotations and
strictly chronological, it is closely tied to Life and Letters. Quotations from
and references to Sharp’s letters are not annotated, but their dates are
evident in the text. Readers may download the appropriate volume and
chapter of Life and Letters to read the full letter, consult annotations to
that letter, and use one of several widely used search engines to learn
more about people and places. Page numbers of quotations from and
references to other books and articles are given in parentheses. Since
much of the information about Sharp’s life is derived from Elizabeth
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Sharp’s Memoir, its page numbers are often omitted to enhance
readability. Publication details of books and articles mentioned in the
text may be found in the Bibliography. Books and articles by William
Sharp are not included in the Bibliography. They await a full-scale
bibliography, a major undertaking beyond the scope of this biography.
The best listing of Sharp’s writings remains that at the end of the two-
volume edition of Elizabeth Sharp’s Memoir.

Constrained by its ancestry, this biography focuses on Sharp’s life
and draws heavily on his extensive correspondence, Elizabeth Sharp’s
Memoir, and accounts by his contemporaries. It portrays his daily
comings and goings, his interactions with publishers in Europe and
America, his beliefs, his values, and his physical and mental condition.
The letters reveal more than has previously been known, and from
them Sharp emerges as a handsome, intelligent, talented, sensitive, and
conflicted man. Difficult to pin down with precision, he was immersed
in the crosscurrents of ideas and the artistic and social movements of
his time. He took part in spiritualist efforts to affirm the existence of life
after death, and he embraced innovative ideas about the place of women
in society, the constraints of marriage, the fluidity of gender identity,
and the complexity of the human psyche. Those issues and many others
are addressed in his letters and, sometimes indirectly, in his writings.
They are laid out in this volume in such a way that they may form the
basis for a more comprehensive study of his life and work.

A singular contribution of this biography is its description of the
autobiographical content of the writings of Fiona Macleod, of the
remarkable extent to which Sharp used the feminine pseudonym and
stories and myths from the Gaelic past to disguise his telling and retelling
the complex story of his love affair with an exceptional woman who was
not his wife. This revelation adds, I believe, depth and poignancy to the
pseudonymous stories and poems.

Neither the annotated letters and introductions in Life and Letters nor
the revised introductions that form this biography would have been
possible without the tools bestowed on historians and literary scholars
by computers and the internet. Nor would they be available without the
foresight and generosity of Open Book Publishers which offers them to
the public free of charge.






Chapter One
1855-188]1

William Sharp was born on September 12, 1855, at 4 Garthland Place
in Paisley, Scotland. He was the oldest in a family of five daughters
and three sons. His father, David Galbreath Sharp, was a partner in a
mercantile house, and his mother, Katherine Brooks, was the daughter
of the Swedish Vice Consul in Glasgow. Sharp spent the summers of
his childhood in the West country — on the shores of the Clyde, the sea
coast, and the Isle of Arran. He swam, rowed, sailed, and cultivated a
passionate love of nature inherited from his father. His Highland nurse,
Barbara, told him tales of fairies, Celtic heroes, and Highland chieftains.
These stories and the old Gaelic songs seeded his imagination with
materials that came to fruition years later when he began writing the
tales and poems published under the pseudonym “Fiona Macleod.”
Fanciful as a child, Sharp often imagined himself a marauding Viking
or a brave Gaelic warrior. He developed early the sense of an invisible
world and communicated freely with invisible playmates. The God he
learned about in church was “remote and forbidding,” but in the woods
of the Inner Hebrides “he felt there was some great power behind the
beauty.” The “sense of the Infinite touched him there.” When he was
six, “he built a little altar of stones, [...] and on it he laid white flowers
in offering” to a benign and beautiful Presence who ruled the natural
world (Memoir, 6).

In 1863, when he was seven, his aunt brought her three children
from London to spend some time with the Paisley Sharps who had
rented a house for the summer at Blairmore on the Gare Loch in
western Scotland. One of those children was Elizabeth Amelia Sharp.
Years later she recalled her cousin William, who would eventually be
her husband, as “a merry, mischievous little boy [...] with bright brown
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curly hair, blue-gray eyes, and a laughing face [...] eager, active in his
endless invention of games and occupations.” Until he was eight, he was
educated at home by a governess. In the fall of 1863, he was sent to
Blair Lodge, a boarding school in Polmont Woods between Falkirk and
Linlithgow. Four years later, the Sharps moved from Paisley to Glasgow
and enrolled William as a day student at Glasgow Academy. In the
summer of 1871, when he was fifteen, he developed a severe case of
typhoid fever and was sent to the West Highlands to recover. There he
formed a friendship with Seumas Macleod, an elderly fisherman whose
tales and beliefs found their way into the stories and poems he began
publishing in the 1890s as the work of another Macleod whose first name,
Fiona, was an abbreviation of Fionnaghal, the Gaelic equivalent of Flora.
In the fall of 1871, at age sixteen, he entered Glasgow University. An
eager and perceptive student, he excelled in English literature, which he
studied under Professor John Nichol who became a close friend.

His most memorable summer was his eighteenth. Wandering near
the Gare Loch close to Ardentinny, he encountered and joined a band
of gypsies. Without explaining his absence or communicating his
whereabouts, he roamed with them for weeks. With his light brown
hair, he became their “sun-brother,” and he absorbed much of their bird-
lore and wood-lore and the beliefs they derived from the patterns of the
stars and the winds. This magical experience, free and unconventional,
informed his later publications, especially Children of Tomorrow and The
Gypsy Christ. Understandably his parents were distressed upon learning
their son had “gone with gypsies.” When they located him, he relented
and returned in the fall of 1872 to his classes at Glasgow University.
Worried about his dreaming nature and interest in literature, his father
at the close of the 1872-1873 academic year placed him in the Glasgow
law office of Messrs. Maclure and Hanney with the hope he might take
to the legal profession. Though he left the University after two years, he
was found “worthy of special commendation” at the end of his second
year. He had taken full advantage of the University’s library, and during
his two years as a legal apprentice he continued to “read omnivorously,”
according to Elizabeth, in “literature, philosophy, poetry, mysticism,
occultism, magic, mythology, folklore.” He developed “a sense of
brotherhood with psychics and seers of other lands and days. His
reading precipitated a radical shift from the Presbyterian faith in which
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he was raised toward a belief in the unity of the truths underlying all
religions.

Sharp’s second meeting with Elizabeth took place in August 1875
when the London Sharps invited him to spend a week with them at
Dunoon on the Clyde where they were on holiday. Of that occasion,
Elizabeth wrote,

I remember vividly the impression he made on me when I saw the tall,
thin figure pass through our garden gateway at sunset — he had come
down by the evening steamer from Glasgow — and stride swiftly up the
path. He was six feet one inch in height, very thin, with slightly sloping
shoulders. He was good looking, with a fair complexion and high
coloring; gray-blue eyes, brown hair closely cut, a sensitive mouth, and
a winning smile. He looked delicate but full of vitality. He spoke very
rapidly, and when excited his words seemed to tumble one over the other
so that it was not always easy to understand him (Memoir, 17).

After a month in the West, Elizabeth and her sister visited the Glasgow
Sharps in September, and before the end of the month, as Elizabeth
recalled, she and William, both twenty years old and first cousins, “were
secretly plighted to one another.” They managed to spend a day together
secretly in Edinburgh’s Dean Cemetery where William confided “his
true ambition lay not in being a scientific man, but a poet, that his
desire was to write about Mother Nature and her inner mysteries.” As
Elizabeth recalled, “We talked and talked — about his ambitions, his
beliefs and visions, our hopeless prospects, the coming lonely months,
my studies — and parted in deep dejection,” as they had no hope of
seeing each other again until the next fall.

After Elizabeth returned to London, she received some of her fiancé’s
early poems, among them “In Dean Cemetery,” a “pantheistic dream
in fifty—seven stanzas” commemorating their day together. As the year
proceeded, she received many more poems. In her Memoir, Elizabeth
explained “why he chose such serious types of poems to dedicate to the
girl to whom he was engaged.” She was “the first friend he had found
who to some extent understood him, understood the inner hidden side
of his nature, sympathized with and believed in his visions, dreams,
and aims.” That sentence explains not only Sharp’s initial attraction to
Elizabeth, but also the foundation of their marriage which occurred
several years later and lasted until Sharp died in 1905 at the age of
fifty-five.
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In August 1876, a year later, the two Sharp families rented houses
next to each other in Dunoon which enabled Elizabeth and William to
spend many happy days “rambling over the hills, boating and sailing
on the lochs,” talking over their very vague prospects, and reading and
discussing his poems. The families” holiday was brought to an abrupt
and unhappy end on August 20 by the untimely death of William’s
father, an event that was a great shock to William who soon suffered a
physical breakdown that raised the danger of consumption. Hoping a
complete change of environment might improve his health and spirits,
his family arranged passage for him on a ship bound for Australia. He
relished the experiences of the voyage and the new country, where he
stayed with family friends and spent many days exploring Gippsland
and the desert region of New South Wales. He decided to settle in
Australia and began looking for suitable work. When that search failed,
he changed course and booked passage on the Loch Tay which reached
London in June 1877.

Sharp stayed for a time with Elizabeth and her parents at their
London house on Inverness Terrace just north of Bayswater Road.
This was his first experience of the city that would become his home.
Elizabeth introduced him to her friends, among them Adelaide Elder
and Mona Alison, who later married the Scottish Laird, Henryson Caird
of Casseneary. Elizabeth’s mother enlisted the help and influence of her
friends to find work for Sharp, but there was no immediate success. At
summer’s end, he returned to Scotland, joining his mother at Moffat
where she had taken a house, and he devoted himself through a lonely
fall and winter to writing. Several poems composed during these months
appeared in his first volume of poetry, The Human Inheritance, in 1882.

Less than a year after returning from Australia, in the spring of 1878
when he was twenty-two, Sharp returned to London and began work
at the London branch of the Melbourne Bank, a position secured for
him by Alexander Elder, the father of Adelaide. He rented a room at 19
Albert’s Street near Regent’s Park and spent weekends with Elizabeth
and her family at 72 Inverness Terrace, but their engagement remained
secret. Despite an earlier decision to refrain from publishing “until he
could do it properly,” Sharp became increasingly anxious to appear in
print. He submitted a poem, “A Nocturne to Chopin,” to Good Words. It
was accepted and published in July 1878. Late that summer, Elizabeth
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convinced him to end the secrecy, which he thoroughly enjoyed, and
tell her mother they were engaged. When she realized her daughter
was determined, she reluctantly approved, but warned others would
disapprove because they were first cousins. “From that moment,”
Elizabeth said, her mother “treated her nephew as her son.”

On the first of September 1879, William, with an introduction from
Sir Noel Paton, the Scottish Pre-Raphaelite painter and a friend of the
family, appeared at the door of the famous poet and painter Dante
Gabriel Rossetti. Rossetti welcomed the handsome and enthusiastic
young writer who became a frequent guest at his home, 16 Cheyne
Walk. Sharp soon gained acceptance into the circle of admiring friends
who lightened the darkness of Rossetti’s final years. He came to know
Algernon Swinburne, Theodore Watts (later Watts-Dunton), Hall

Fig. 1 Dante Gabriel Rossetti in 1850 at age twenty-two. A portrait by William
Holman Hunt (c. 1883), Wikimedia, https://commons.wikimedia.org/
wiki/File:William_Holman_Hunt_-_Portrait_of_Dante_Gabriel_Rossetti_

at_22_years_of_Age_-_Google_Art_Project.jpg, Public Domain.


https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:William_Holman_Hunt_-_Portrait_of_Dante_Gabriel_Rossetti_at_22_years_of_Age_-_Google_Art_Project.jpg
https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:William_Holman_Hunt_-_Portrait_of_Dante_Gabriel_Rossetti_at_22_years_of_Age_-_Google_Art_Project.jpg
https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:William_Holman_Hunt_-_Portrait_of_Dante_Gabriel_Rossetti_at_22_years_of_Age_-_Google_Art_Project.jpg

6 William Sharp and “Fiona Macleod”

Caine (another Rossetti acolyte), Robert Francillon, Julian Hawthorne,
Rossetti’s brother and sister, William Michael and Christina, and Philip
Marston, a promising young poet who was blind and soon became
Sharp’s close friend.

Fig. 2 An albumen print of Dante Gabriel Rossetti. Taken by Charles Lutwidge
Dodgson (Lewis Carroll) (1863), Wikimedia, https://commons.wikimedia.
org/wiki/File:Dante_Gabriel_Rossetti_001.jpg, Public Domain.

In the summer of 1880, Mrs. George Lillie Craik, author of John Halifax,
Gentleman and Philip Marston’s godmother, entertained Sharp and
Marston several times at her home, The Corner House, south of London
in Shortlands, Kent. During one of those visits Sharp caught a severe
cold after being drenched in a thunderstorm. Still ill, he went to Port
Maddock in North Wales to visit Elizabeth and her mother who had
rented a holiday cottage. There his cold descended into rheumatic
fever which forced him to stay an entire month while Elizabeth and her
mother nursed him back to health. The illness lasted through the fall and
permanently damaged his heart. Despite her worry that Sharp — “weak
and delicate” — would not take care of himself, Elizabeth accompanied
her mother to Italy for the winter months. By mid-December Sharp was
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well enough to describe in a letter to Elizabeth a night he spent at the
Qasis Club in Covent Garden with Francillon, Julian Hawthorne, and
many other artists.

In 1881 Sharp published several articles in Modern Thought and
increased his contacts with the Rossetti circle. One consequence of his
deeper literary involvement was an abrupt end to his banking career.
In late August, the Principal of the City of Melbourne Bank offered
him the alternative of employment in a remote branch in Australia or
resignation. Sharp chose the latter and went to Scotland for two months
to visit relatives and friends, among them William Bell Scott and Sir Noel
Paton. When he returned to London he spent several weeks looking for
another position and finally obtained a post with the Fine Arts Society’s
Gallery in Bond Street. The Society had decided to establish a section
on German and English engravings and hired Sharp, through the
good offices of Mrs. Craik, to study the subject for six months and then
become the section’s director. Shortly after he began work at the Gallery,
the society reversed course and withdrew from the project. At year’s
end, Sharp was again out of work.

His trip to Australia, his persistent ill-health, his relationship with
the woman who would become his wife, his determination to become a
serious writer, and his lack of interest in banking or any other business
or profession defined Sharp’s life into his mid-twenties. His prospects
were dim at the close of 1881. But another factor turned the tide: the
friends he made as a bright and handsome young Scotsman new on
the London scene. Some came through Elizabeth, a young girl of means
with a fine mind and a sound education. She had a group of similarly
talented and knowledgeable friends who readily accepted Sharp into
their circle, supported his ambitions, and encouraged his development.
Others came through Dante Gabriel Rossetti, who in his final years
fostered Sharp’s development as a poet, confided in him through long
opium-fueled nights, and welcomed him into his circle of accomplished
and respected painters, poets, and editors. They smoothed Sharp’s entry
into the literary life of London where he would flourish and attain a
position of prominence during the 1880s.






Chapter Two
1882-1884

In February 1882 Rossetti became ill and depressed, convinced he
was near death. Hall Caine, his main caretaker, rented a house on the
seacoast near Birchington in Kent in the hope that living near the sea
away from the fogs and smoke of London would improve his health and
spirits. He invited William Sharp and Theodore Watts for a weekend
to help him break through Rossetti’s gloom. In a February 13 letter to
Elizabeth from Birchington, Sharp described an outing with Rossetti the
previous day: “Oh, the larks yesterday! It was as warm as June, and
Rossetti and Caine and I went out, and I lay in the grass basking in
the sun, looking down on the shining sea, and hearing these heavenly
incarnate little joys sending thrills of sweetness, and vague pain through
all my being.” Years later he expanded on the experience as one of his
most cherished memories:

It had been a lovely day. Rossetti asked me to go out with him for a stroll
on the cliff; and though he leaned heavily and dragged his limbs wearily
as if in pain, he grew more cheerful as the sunlight warmed him. The
sky was a cloudless blue and the singing of at least a score of larks was
wonderful to listen to. Everywhere Spring odours prevailed.... At first, I
thought Rossetti was indifferent, but this mood gave way. He let go my
arm and stood staring seaward silently, then, still in a low, tired voice,
but with a new tone, he murmured, “It is beautiful — the world and life
itself. I am glad I have lived.” Insensibly thereafter the dejection lifted
from off his spirit. And for the rest of that day and that evening he was
noticeably less despondent (Memoir, 59-60).

Less than two months later, on April 9, Rossetti died. Sharp described
his feelings to Elizabeth on the night before he went to Birchington for
the funeral:
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He had weaknesses and frailties within the last six or eight months owing
to his illness, but to myself he was ever patient and true and affectionate.
A grand heart and soul, a true friend, a great artist, a great poet. I shall
not meet with such another. He loved me, I know — and believed and
hoped great things of me, and within the last few days I have learned
how generously and how urgently, he impressed this upon others. [...]
can hardly imagine London without him.

Rossetti was more than a friend and mentor. Sharp’s father rejected his
son’s artistic bent and died without reconciliation. Rossetti was the first
of many who filled that void.

In the years before his death, Rossetti drew first Caine and then Sharp
into his circle and depended on them for support and companionship.
Soon after he died, both men decided to write a book about the great
man. When Caine learned in July that Sharp was preparing a book,
he complained bitterly. Since Sharp’s book would cut into the sale of
his book, he had decided to abandon it. Sharp’s letters to Caine were
not available to Elizabeth for her Memoir, and she mentioned him only
twice. Their competing books on Rossetti might well have permanently
damaged their relationship. A trove of Sharp letters to Caine preserved
in the Manx Museum on the Isle of Man shows, on the contrary, they
remained close friends for many years. After a brief period of strain in
the summer of 1882, Sharp cleared the air in a letter that assured Caine
his book would not be a biography, but “a Study of the Poet-Artist — for
in deference to your own work I determined to make the biographical
portion consist of only about ten pages or so. [...] I fail to see where the
two will clash.” Mollified by this explanation, Caine went ahead with
his book — Recollections of Dante Gabriel Rossetti — which was published
by Elliot Stock in September. Sharp’s response to Caine preserved their
friendship.

During July, William Michael Rossetti worked with Sharp on the
dating and location of his brother’s paintings. With that information in
hand by early August, Sharp joined his mother and sisters in a rented
cottage in western Scotland where he wrote the main body of the book.
He finished it after returning to London, and Macmillan published Dante
Gabriel Rossetti: A Record and A Study in December. The book’s favorable
reception provided a significant boost to Sharp’s literary career. While
his descriptions and analyses of Rossetti’s paintings, poetry, and prose
continue to be of some interest, the book’s main lasting value is its
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Fig. 3 Hall Caine, The Manxman, as caricatured in Vanity Fair. John Bernard
Partridge (1896), Wikimedia, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Hall_
Caine_Vanity_Fair_2_July_1896.jpg, Public Domain.

Appendix, a detailed listing of the dates, subjects, and then current
owners of Rossetti’s paintings.

Sharp’s first book of poems — The Human Inheritance; The New Hope;
Motherhood — was published by Elliot Stock in 1882. He considered
this book, according to Elizabeth, the beginning of the “true work of
his life.” As the title indicates, it consists of three long poems. “The
Human Inheritance” has four sections which depict, in turn, childhood,
youth, manhood/womanhood, and old age. “The New Hope” forecasts
a spiritual regeneration of the world; and “Motherhood” attempts to
show “by depicting the experience of giving birth” the commonality
of experience among all living creatures. Sharp considered that poem,
which Rossetti had praised, a major accomplishment. When Elizabeth
was in Italy in 1880, she read parts of “Motherhood” to Eugene Lee-
Hamilton, an aspiring poet who lived near Florence with his mother
and sister, Violet Paget, who was gaining a reputation in England for
her publications under the pseudonym Vernon Lee. They thought the
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poem’s depiction of “giving birth” was not a fit subject for poetry. In
response Sharp wrote a long letter to Lee-Hamilton and another to Paget
in March 1881 justifying his effort to show in the poem that women
shared with animals many experiences and feelings. The poem seems
not to have produced much consternation when it appeared in the 1882
volume, perhaps because the entire volume evoked minimal notice and
sank quietly out of sight. The care with which Sharp wrote and defended
“Motherhood,” however, signaled his life-long fascination with the
inner lives of women. This poem was his first effort to penetrate and
portray publicly the consciousness of a woman, a manner of thinking
and feeling he felt deep within himself that culminated in 1892 in his
creation of and identification with Fiona Macleod.

During 1882 Sharp earned small amounts for poems that appeared
in the Athenaeum, the Portfolio, the Academy, the Art Journal, and, in
America, Harper’'s Magazine. Toward the end of the year, he was down to
his last penny. A forty-pound check from Harper’s provided relief; then
out of the blue a two-hundred-pound check arrived from an unknown
friend of his grandfather who had heard from Sir Noel Paton that he was
“inclined to the study of literature and art.” Sharp was to use the money
“to pursue his artistic studies” in Italy. With this windfall he left for Italy
at the end of February 1883 and spent five months studying paintings
by the major figures of the Italian Renaissance. He went first to Florence
where he stayed with Elizabeth’s aunt in her villa on the outskirts of
the city, then to Venice where he met Ouida and William Dean Howells
and formed a close friendship with John Addington Symonds, then to
Sienna, and then to Rome before returning to Florence. He described
much of what he saw in a series of lengthy letters to Elizabeth who had
seen many of the paintings and frescoes during her trip to Italy in 1881.
He studied the works carefully and shared his opinions of their relative
merits. His association with Rossetti and others of the Pre-Raphaelite
movement introduced him to many artists who preceded Raphael. In
Italy he made direct contact with their paintings, and that experience
provided a solid basis for the art criticism that occupied his time and
attention in the years that followed.

When he returned to London, he wrote a series of articles for the
Glasgow Herald on Etrurian cities. In August, he was in Scotland with
his mother and sisters in a rented house on the Clyde. While there, he
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Fig. 4 Photograph of William Sharp taken by an unknown photographer in Rome
in 1883. Reproduced from William Sharp: A Memoir, compiled by Elizabeth
Sharp (London: William Heinemann, 1910).

went over to Arran to visit Sir Noel Paton; from there he went on to
Oban, sailed to Mull, and crossed the island to the small island of Iona
which became a place of pilgrimage for him and figured prominently
in his writings as Fiona Macleod. In September, the Glasgow Herald, on
the strength of his Italian articles, invited him to become its London-
based art critic, a post he held for many years before turning it over to
Elizabeth.

On his way to Scotland in early August, he lost a large portmanteau
which “in addition to new clothes got in London and valuable souvenirs
and presents from Italy, contained all my MSS., both prose & verse,
all my Memoranda (many of them essential to work in hand), all my
Notes taken in Italy, my private papers and letters, some proofs, three
partly written articles (two of them much overdue), my most valued
books — and indeed my whole literary stock-in-trade pro-tem.” After
retracing his steps in cold, wet weather, trying to find the missing case,
he had no choice but to accept its loss. He wrote to Hall Caine in August
1883:



14 William Sharp and “Fiona Macleod”

As a literary worker yourself you will understand what a “fister” this is
to a young writer. I must take this buffet of Fate, however, without undue
wincing — and tackle to again all the more earnestly for the severe loss
and disappointment experienced. There’s no use crying over spilt milk.

The portmanteau was found about a month after its loss and returned in
a wet and damaged condition, but many of the poems and essays were
recoverable, and some were published in Good Words, the Fortnightly
Review, Cassell’s Magazine, and the Literary World.

After returning to London from Scotland in September, Sharp
contacted a cold that progressed into a second bout of rheumatic fever,
further damaging his heart. His sister Mary came from Edinburgh to
join Elizabeth in nursing him back to health. By November he was able
to tell Caine:

I am greatly better, so much so that I find it difficult to credit the doctor’s
doleful prognostications: I feel I must take care, but beyond that I have
no immediate cause for alarm. The worst of it is that I am one day in
exuberant health and the next very much the reverse. The doctors agree
that it is valvular disease of the heart, a treacherous form thereof still
further complicated by a hereditary bias.

He felt well enough to make light of the illness: “a fellow must ‘kick’
someday — and I would as soon do so “per the heart’ as, like no small
number of my forbears in Scotland, from delirium tremens, sheep-
stealing (in hanging days), and general disreputableness.” Still, there
was a problem: “Even if pecuniarly able, I am forbidden to marry for a
year to come — and though waiting is hard now for us both, it is better
even for my fiancée that nothing should be done which might result in
what would be such a grief to her.” Even if he had the requisite money,
marriage would put too great a strain on his heart.

During the early part of 1884, Sharp prepared his second book of
poems, Earth’s Voices, which was published by Elliott Stock in June.
Perhaps because he had become friends with more important literary
figures, it was more widely noted than the earlier volume. He received
a letter of praise from Walter Pater, whose judgment might have been
tinged by the volume’s dedication to him, and another from Christina
Rossetti who liked several poems, especially those praising her brother.
In a 1906 Century article, Sharp’s friend Ernest Rhys praised some of
the poems in Earth’s Voices: “His writings betrayed a constant quest
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after those hardly realizable regions of thought and those keener lyric
emotions, which, since Shelley wrote and Rossetti wrote and painted,
have so often occupied the interpreters of the vision and spectacle
of nature.” Rhys found in one of the volume’s poems, “A Record,”
“unmistakable germs” of “some of the supernatural ideas that afterward
received a much more vital expression in the works of Fiona Macleod.”

Sharp spent most of March and April in a Dover house loaned to
him by Mrs. Craik who understood both his precarious finances and
his need to recuperate away from the fogs of London. His friend and
fellow poet Philip Marston (1850-1887), Mrs. Craik’s godson who
was partially blinded at the age of three, spent a week with him in
April. Following Marston’s death in 1887, Sharp published an edition
of his poem, For a Song’s Sake, in Walter Scott’s Canterbury Series. In
a “Memorial Introduction,” he described in glowing terms the walks
they took together near Dover in 1884 and Marston’s excited response to
the warm sea air and sounds he never heard in London. Sharp crossed
to France in early May for the first of many visits to Paris as an art
critic for the Glasgow Herald. He wrote excitedly to Elizabeth about the
writers, painters, and other luminaries he was meeting, among them
Paul Bourget, Alphonse Daudet, Emile Zola, Frederic Mistral, Adolphe
Bouguereau, Fernand Cormon, Puvis de Chavannes, Jules Breton, and,
curiously, Madame Blavatsky.

After returning from Paris, Sharp suffered another relapse that led
him to ask Hall Caine on Sunday, June 15, 1884, if he could stay with him
the following night. He was vacating his cold and damp rented rooms
in Thorngate Road, and he had to leave them the next day. He could
not stay with Elizabeth’s family in Inverness Terrace until Tuesday. The
letter shows how close Sharp and Caine were in this period and supplies
a revealing insight into the malady Sharp could not escape:

I'have had, this afternoon, a narrow escape from rheumatic fever & must
leave here at once. I think I have fought it down, but I must not risk
such another chance. I have been crouching over a large fire and with
my medicine have got the better of the cursed complaint. [...] If in any
way inconvenient, a postcard will do if you only say all right on it. Wd.
come in the evening — but must go west early in the day from here on
an urgent matter. Can’t say how thankful I am to have escaped this sharp
and sudden attack, & there’s no saying what a second bout would do.
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Excuse a hideous scrawl, but my hands are so chilled and pained I can
hardly hold the pen — and have to write at a distance.

Caine replied at once. Sharp should come the next day to a house Caine
rented in Hampstead where he would be well cared for by two ladies.
According to Caine’s biographer, Sharp spent that Monday night at
Caine’s house on Worsley Road, Hampstead — where he was looked
after by Caine’s fifteen-year-old mistress, Mary Chandler, and her maid.
(Hall Caine: Portrait of a Victorian Romancer, 171.)

Caine had rented the Hampstead house for Mary Chandler because
he did not want his family or others to know about his relationship with
a very young girl who was pregnant with his child. Sharp was one of
only a few close friends who knew about the arrangement. In an August
26th letter from Scotland, he asked Caine

Is the hour of paternity drawing nigh? I wonder if MacColl would accept
for the Athenaeum a sonnet on “Caine’s Firstborn”? I must try. If a boy,
please call it “Abel,” or in case this would give rise to too many poor
jokes, what do you say to “Tubal.” Most people would simply think you
had called him after “that fellow, you know, in one of George Eliot’s
poems”!

As it turned out, a baby boy was born on August 15th and named
neither Abel nor Tubal, after the Tubal-Cain in Genesis, but Ralph after
Ralph Hall, Caine’s grandfather. The main purpose of the August 26th
letter was to let Caine know about an upcoming change in his own
circumstances:

Just a line, my dear Caine, in the midst of pressure from urgent work
and accumulated correspondence, to let you know (what I am sure you
will be glad to hear for my sake) that at last my long engagement is
drawing to a close, and that Lillie and I are to be married on All Saints
Day — just about two months from date. What we have got to marry on,
Heaven knows — for I don't: yet I hope a plunge in the dark will not in
this instance prove disastrous. It is not a plunge in the dark as regards
love and friendship — and that is the main thing.

The year of waiting prescribed by his doctor was up, and Elizabeth’s
parents were finally convinced her marriage to her first cousin
was inevitable even though the newly married couple’s financial
circumstances remained uncertain. Sharp had proved himself a reliable
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and constant young man; indeed, his frequent presence at 72 Inverness
Terrace, Bayswater, had made him part of Elizabeth’s family.

On October 31st, after a nine-year courtship, Elizabeth and William
were married at Christ Church, Lancaster Gate, London. They rented a
flat at 46 Talgarth Road in West Kensington which was furnished by their
families. They continued to make their way as writers and expanded
their circle of literary and artistic friends. In her Memoir, Elizabeth
included a list of luminaries whose “literary households” welcomed
the newly married couple. Among the many were Walter Pater, Robert
Browning, Mr. and Mrs. Ford Madox Ford, Mr. and Mrs. William
Morris, Mr. and Mrs. William Rossetti, Mr. and Mrs. Oscar Wilde, and
Sir Frederick Leighton, the painter whose beautiful home and studio
just off the Kensington High Street is now open to the public. At the
close of 1884, both Sharps embarked on a six-year period of editing and
reviewing that placed them near the center of London’s literary elite.
Still, William continued to write poetry and harbored a desire to gain
attention and praise for his imaginative writing in poetry and prose.






Chapter Three
1885-1886

Sharp remained healthy for most of 1885 and became more productive.
He continued as London art critic for the Glasgow Herald, joined the staff
of the Academy, and contributed articles to the Art Journal, the Examiner,
the Athenaeum, and Good Words. He hoped a year or two of reviewing
and editing would free him financially to concentrate on poetry and
fiction. He wrote to Eugene Lee-Hamilton in early January to praise
his recently published book of poems, Apollo and Marsyas, and Other
Poems. In a separate letter to Violet Paget, Lee-Hamilton’s half sister
who published as Vernon Lee, he expressed his disappointment in her
recent novel, Miss Brown, which portrayed some of Sharp’s friends in a
negative light: “You cannot be aware of the deep offense it has given to
many good friends. [...] If  had never read anything else of yours, ‘Miss
Brown’ would effectually have prevented my ever reading or having the
faintest curiosity to read anything from your pen.” Then he tempered
those harsh words:

If it were not for my sincere admiration for you as a writer of much
delightful, admirable, and original work —I should not have written
to you as I have now done: but it is because of my admiration for the
“Vernon Lee” whom I know that I refuse to recognize as genuine or
characteristic a production in every sense inferior to anything she has
done.

The severe criticism may have derived in part from Paget’s negative
response to Sharp’s “Motherhood,” parts of which Elizabeth read to her
when she visited Italy in 1881. Yet Sharp’s opinion of the novel reflected
that of many others, including Henry James to whom she had dedicated
the novel, and she came to regret her authorship. Though Sharp’s
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relationship with Vernon Lee soured temporarily, that with Eugene Lee-
Hamilton remained strong. Following the death of their mother in 1896,
Lee-Hamilton found himself able to leave the reclining chair he had lain
in for years, travel to America, and marry in 1898 the Anglo-Jamaican
novelist Annie E. Holdsworth. Though Lee-Hamilton’s health remained
precarious, he with his wife and half-sister continued for several years
to host British writers, Sharp among them, at their Villa Il Palmerino
outside Florence.

When he wrote the letters to Lee-Hamilton and Violet Paget, Sharp
was in bed with an illness that made him liable to his “old trouble”
which we now know was rheumatic fever and which he defined as a
rheumatic chill that “rather floored him.” By February he had recovered
enough to write a review of Walter Pater’s Marius the Epicurean that
appeared as the lead item in the 28 February issue of the Athenaeum
(271-273). Athenaeum reviews were unsigned, but Sharp sent a copy to
Pater who thanked him on March 1: “You seem to have struck a note
of criticism not merely pleasant but judicious; and there are one or
two points — literary ones — on which you have said precisely what I
should have wished and thought it important for me to have said. Thank
you sincerely for your friendly work!” He was pleased that Mrs. Sharp
was also interested in the book as it was always a sign to him that he had
to some extent succeeded in his literary work when it gained the “the
approval of accomplished women.” He hoped Sharp would contact him
a week or so ahead of a projected visit to Oxford so they could plan to
see as much as possible of each other (Memoir, 104-105).

Sharp first met Pater through Dante Gabriel Rossetti in the late 1870s,
and their friendship was such by November 1882 that Pater began a letter
to Sharp with a parenthetical: “(I think we have known each other long
enough to drop the ‘Mr.").” In 1884, Sharp dedicated his second book
of poems, Earth’s Voices: Transcripts from Nature: Sospitra and other Poems,
as follows: “Dedicated in High Esteem and in Personal Regard to my
Friend, Walter Pater, Fellow of Brasenose College, Oxford.” Sometime in
the late spring of 1885, the Sharps went “down to Oxford,” according to
Elizabeth, so she could “meet the Misses Pater at their brother’s house”
(Memoir, 119-120). While staying there, Sharp saw an advertisement for
“a desirable cottage to be let furnished, with service, and garden stocked
with vegetables” on Loch Tarbert in Scotland, and they rented it for July.
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The cottage turned out to be less desirable than advertised, but Sharp
described its location glowingly in a July 22 letter to Edward Dowden:

I came here from London some weeks ago, with my wife and a young
sister who lives in Glasgow. I forget, by the by, whether I ever told you that
I'was married late last autumn? I am always glad to get north, both loving
and knowing the Western Isles and Highlands, and all places wherever
broods the Celtic glamour. West Loch Tarbert is one of the loveliest of
the Atlantic sea-lochs: severing Knapdale (Northern Argyll) from “wild
Cantyre;” its length is about 11 miles, from its commencement east of the
islands of Giglia and Islay up to the narrow Isthmus of Tarbert on the
western side of Loch Fyne. From our windows we get a lovely view up the
loch, looking out on the mountainous district of Knapdale and the small-
islanded water towards Tarbert. To the North-east is Shobli-Ghoil — the
Hill of Love — the mountain where that Celtic Achilles, Diarmid, met
his death by a wound in the heel through the envy of Fingal. Behind us
are endless moorlands, and only one or two cottages at wide distances.

Foreshadowing more overtly his writing as Fiona Macleod, he continued:
“l have a stirring and heroic Celtic subject in my mind for poetic
treatment and hope to make a start with it erelong. It will be with regret
that we will leave at the end of the month — but we have two or three
other places to go to in Scotland before returning to London — which
we do not intend doing till the end of September.” The purpose of the
letter was to ask for Dowden’s opinions about the placing of several
sonnets in an edition of Shakespeare’s poems he was working on for
inclusion in the Canterbury Poets, a series of inexpensive editions of the
works of well-known English poets that was to be issued by the Walter
Scott Publishing House. After publishing Shakespeare: A Critical Study
of His Mind and Art in 1875, Dowden, a Professor at Trinity College in
Dublin, became a leading expert on Shakespeare, and Sharp valued his
opinions.

The care Sharp exercised in arranging the poems and writing the
Introduction for Songs, Poems, and Sonnets of William Shakespeare in the
fall of 1885 led the Walter Scott Publishing House to accept his proposal
for a book containing a selection of the best sonnets of the century and
to appointment him, in 1886, general editor of the Canterbury Poets. The
firm played a crucial role in establishing Sharp’s reputation as a writer
and editor. Walter Scott was a prosperous businessman in Newcastle
who acquired the bankrupt Tyne Publishing Company in 1882. He
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Fig. 5 Photograph of Edward Dowden Robinson (c. 1895), Wikimedia, https://
commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Portrait_of_Edward_Dowden.jpg,
Public Domain.

named David Gordon, a dynamic Scotsman, as manager of the renamed
Walter Scott Publishing House. Gordon convinced Scott he could turn
the firm to profitability by speeding up the publication of inexpensive
editions of major writers, separating them into several series, advertising
them aggressively, and selling them for one shilling at the rate of one
per month to an expanding reading public. After buying and reading
one volume, readers would be motivated to acquire another. Gordon
proceeded to create in short order not only the Canterbury Poets Series,
but also the Camelot Classics Series (for prose works), the Great Writers
Series (biographies), and the Contemporary Science Series.

Gordon turned first to Joseph Skipsey (1832-1903), who was
living in Newcastle, to edit the Canterbury Poets. Son of a coal miner,
Skipsey taught himself to read and matured into a well-known and
highly respected poet. Under his editorship, in 1884 and 1885 the firm
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produced editions of Samuel Taylor Coleridge, Percy Bysshe Shelley,
William Blake, Robert Burns, and Edgar Allan Poe (all edited by
Skipsey), George Herbert (edited by Ernest Rhys), and Sharp’s edition
of Shakespeare’s poems. Scott and Gordon knew little about English or
any other literature; they were businessmen intent on making money.
In his autobiographical Wales England Wed, Ernest Rhys recalled
receiving in early 1886 “an unexpected call at his London home from
‘two prosperous-looking men in top hats” who turned out to be Walter
Scott’s representatives.” They were there to offer Rhys the editorship
of a prose series complementing the Canterbury Poets. Rhys gradually
realized the two men thought they were talking to Professor John Rhys,
a well-known Celtic scholar. Nevertheless, Ernest got the job, and he
described the visit more fully in Everyman Remembers (75-76):

One morning two visitors were announced at an awkwardly early hour.
[...] Aloud knocking woke me in no state to receive strangers, clad in an
old Rob Roy dressing-gown and slippers. It was too late to retreat. One
of the callers, a red-haired Scotsman, was already entering. [...] These
morning callers were emissaries of Walter Scott Ltd. [...] they carted me
off to lunch at a City tavern and asked me to edit a prose series for a
ridiculously modest stipend. Before we parted, I had sketched a chart of
a dozen possible titles. So lightly was I launched on the career of editing.

After accepting the offer from the emissaries, one of whom must have
been David Gordon, Rhys chose Camelot as the name of the new series,
and settled on Sir Thomas Malory, “the father of English prose,” for its
first volume, which he edited under the title Romance of King Arthur.
The Camelot Series was a remarkable success, as were the other three
series. The volumes disappeared as fast as the Scott firm and its editors
could produce them. When the Camelot Series ran its course, Ernest
Rhys convinced an unknown publisher, J. M. Dent, to undertake another
series of inexpensive editions of higher quality, which became the
phenomenally successful Everyman’s Library. Dent, its publisher, made
vast sums of money, and Rhys, its first and long-time editor, became
famous as “Everyman.”

Shortly after returning to London in the fall of 1885, Sharp health
gave way again. “Disquieting rheumatic symptoms” according to
Elizabeth, but he was able to work on various writing and editing
projects, chief among them an anthology of nineteenth-century
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sonnets for the Canterbury Poets Series. He asked many well-known
poets for permission to use one or two of their works and composed
the volume’s introductory essay — “The Sonnet: Its History and
Characteristics” — which George Meredith considered “the best
exposition of the sonnet known to him” (Memoir, 116). Elizabeth
contributed to the selection and arrangement of the poems. By late
December, the volume was ready, and it was published on January 26,
1886. It sold well and was reissued several times during the year. Sharp
made some revisions during the summer and fall of 1886 for a new
edition in December. The anthology went through several more editions
and became, after 1899, Sonnets of the Nineteenth Century. Though Sharp
was hired by the Scott firm to prepare the book and later to revise it,
he did not share in its long-term financial success, but he told Edward
Dowden (February 3, 1886) the publishers had “behaved very decently”
to him. No matter how decent their behavior, it paled in contrast to what
Sharp would have earned had he received royalties, and that income
would have eased the financial difficulties the Sharps endured for
many years. Though Sharp’s earnings from the volume were meager, it
established his reputation as an editor.

Sharp also managed to write in the fall of 1885 a three-volume
sensational novel set in Scotland and Australia called The Sport of Chance
which was published serially in The People’s Friend in early 1887 and as a
book by Hurst and Blackett in 1888. He also began planning a biography
of Shelley for Walter Scott’s Great Writers Series, which was edited by
his friend Eric Robertson. For this series, Sharp eventually produced,
in addition to the Shelley (1887), biographies of Heinrich Heine (1888)
and Robert Browning (1890). Despite his frequent illnesses in the fall
of 1885, he wrote the introduction and edited for the Canterbury Poets’
Poetical Works of Sir Walter Scott, a Walter Scott who differed significantly
from the book’s publisher.

When Sharp learned the Scott firm was planning a Camelot prose
series with Ernest Rhys as General Editor, he saw an opportunity to make
some additional money. He asked a mutual friend for an introduction to
Rhys and sought him out with a proposal to edit and introduce Thomas
De Quincey’s Confessions of an Opium Eater. According to Rhys, Sharp
“burst in” on him “one summer morning” as he was “having a bath.”
Rhys described their meeting in Everyman Remembers (76):
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This was William Sharp, the poet, who towered up, a rosy giant, in the
low-raftered room. His fine figure and exuberant contours, set forth in
unusually resplendent clothes, suggested a stage Norseman. He talked
very fast and excitedly, his bright yellow hair brushed up from an open
brow, under which blue eyes, rosy cheeks, full red lips, and a pointed
yellow beard suggested a picture by some impressionist painter. He had
been editing the Canterbury Poets, in which series my George Herbert
volume appeared, and had heard from the publishers of my prose
argosy. Here was an opening after his own heart. In half an hour he had
proposed half a dozen books which he would like to edit for me, and De
Quincey’s Opium-Eater was there and then allotted to him.

He described this meeting earlier and at greater length in a 1907 Century
Maguzine article. Sharp was

joyously and consciously exuberant. He told of adventures in Australian
backwoods, and of intrigues in Italy; [...] and then he turned, with the
same rapid flow of brief staccato sentences, to speak of his friend Mr.
Swinburne’s new volume of poems, or of the last time he walked along
Cheyne Walk [where Rhys then lived ] to spend an evening with Rossetti.
He appeared to know everybody, to have been everywhere. [...] It is not
easy to avoid extravagance in speaking of one who was in all things an
illusionist. Sharp’s sensations, artistic ideas, and performances were
not to be counted by rule or measure. He was capable of predicting a
new religion as he paced the Thames Embankment, or of devising an
imaginary new theater for romantic drama — whose plays were yet to be
written (by himself) — as he rode home from the Haymarket.

And again:

Thanks to his large and imposing presence, his sanguine air, his rosy
faith in himself, he had a way of overwhelming editors that was beyond
anything, I believe, ever heard of in London, before or since. On one
occasion he went into a publisher’s office and gave so alluring an account
of a long-meditated book that the publisher gave him a check for 100£,
although he had not written a word.

Those descriptions capture better than any others the appearance and
mannerisms that made Sharp appealing — to women and to men — as
he was making his way in the London publishing world in the 1880s.
Elizabeth recalled the start of 1886 as “unpropitious.” It was a wet
winter, and Sharp was ill and dejected. In mid-February, he sent two
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sonnets to his friend Eric Robertson for his birthday. One begins with
following sestet:

A little thing it is indeed to die:

God’s seal to sanctify the soul’s advance —

Or silence, and a long enfevered trance.

But no slight thing is it — ere the last sigh

Leaves the tired heart, ere calm and passively

The worn face reverent grows, fades the dim glance —
To pass away and pay no recompense

To Life, who hath given to us so gloriously.

In a letter accompanying the sonnets, Sharp wrote, “There are two
‘William Sharps’ — one of them unhappy and bitter enough at heart,
God knows — though he seldom shows it. This other poor devil also
sends you a greeting of his own kind [the sonnet].” From childhood
on, Sharp assumed to an unusual extent the guise of different people.
Gradually the trait progressed to his portraying himself two people
inhabiting a single body. This letter is one of the early signs of the
movement toward duality. Here the duality is defined by mood; one
William Sharp is happy and outgoing, the other unhappy and bitter.
The notion of two people in one body was a means of explaining and
coping with the intense mood swings that plagued him throughout his
life. Gradually he came to define the duality as the dominance of reason
and the dominance of emotion, as living in the material world and the
spirit world, and finally as being both a man and a woman. That trend
finally culminated in the creation of a fully functional second self in the
form of the woman he called Fiona Macleod.

Of the Opium-Eater assignment, Rhys wrote: “But alas! before he
[Sharp] had completed the copy or even written his preamble for the
book, he came down with scarlet fever. Careless of infection, I spent an
hour at his bedside when the fever abated, in talking over De Quincey,
and then wrote the preamble myself over his name” (Everyman
Remembers, 77). Since the volume appeared on March 26, 1886, Sharp
must have been ill with scarlet fever in February, not long after his first
meeting with Rhys. “In the early spring of 1886,” Elizabeth wrote, “my
husband was laid low with scarlet fever and phlebitis. Recovery was
slow, and at the press review of the Royal Academy he caught a severe
chill; the next day he was in the grip of a prolonged attack of rheumatic
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fever” (Memoir, 125-126). The catalogue of Sharp’s colds and bouts of
rheumatic fever in the nineteen eighties is extensive:

1. InJanuary 1880 a bad cold while visiting Rossetti;

2. Insummer and fall 1880, another cold culminating in his initial
bout of rheumatic fever;

3. In fall 1883 a second attack of rheumatic fever which seriously
damaged a heart valve and drew his sister Mary from
Edinburgh to help Elizabeth nurse him back to health;

4. In June 1884 another cold that threatened to produce another
episode of rheumatic fever, which Sharp described in a pitiful
letter to Hall Caine in a hand so cold and shaky the writing is
nearly illegible;

5. Infall 1885, disquieting rheumatic symptoms;

6. In February 1886 scarlet fever and another attack of rheumatic
fever.

This record of illnesses contrasts markedly with the robust figure who
appeared to Rhys. Sharp described the dichotomy in a letter to Caine in
November 1883: “I am one day in exuberant health and the next very
much the reverse.”

The rheumatic fever attack in the spring of 1886 was particularly
severe. “For many days, Elizabeth wrote, “his life hung in the balance.”
Her description of his hallucinations during the illness is especially
compelling as it bears upon how his imagination worked and his later
creation of the Fiona Macleod persona:

During much of the suffering and tedium of those long weeks the sick
man passed in a dream-world of his own; for he had the power at times
of getting out of or beyond his normal consciousness at will. At first,
he imagined himself the owner of a gypsy travelling van, in which he
wandered over the to him well-known and much-loved solitudes of
Argyll, resting where the whim dictated and visiting his many fisher
and shepherd friends. Later, during the long crisis of the illness, though
unconscious often of all material surroundings, he passed through
other keen inner phases of consciousness, through psychic and dream
experiences that afterward to some extent were woven into the Fiona
Macleod writings, and, as he believed, were among the original shaping
influences that produced them. For a time, he felt himself to be practically
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dead to the material world and acutely alive “on the other side of things”
in the greater freer universe. He had no desire to return, and he rejoiced
in his freedom and greater powers; but as he described it afterward, a
hand suddenly restrained him: “Not yet, you must return.”

He believed he had been “freshly sensitized,” Elizabeth continued, he
“knew he had — as I had always believed — some special work to do
before he could again go free.” While his illness persisted, Ernest Rhys
brought him branches of a tree in early leaf, which Elizabeth placed on
the windowsill. The effect of their “fluttering leaves,” she wrote, helped
his imagination. But they had another effect: They “awoke ‘that dazzle
in the brain,” as he always described the process which led him over the
borderland of the physical into the ‘gardens’ of psychic consciousness
he called ‘the Green Life”.”

Here Elizabeth broached the psychic experiments — enhanced
by drugs — Sharp undertook in the 1890s. She discouraged those
experiments because they negatively affected his overall mental health.
She worried they might drive him into a state of schizophrenia from
which he could not recover. Such experiments led him in the nineties
into the orbit of William Butler Yeats, who enlisted both Sharp and
Fiona Macleod in his efforts to obtain by psychic experiments the rituals
of the Celtic Mystical Order he planned to house in an abandoned castle
in the west of Ireland. Many years later Yeats recounted a story Sharp
told him and commented “I did not believe him, and not because I
thought the story impossible, for I knew he had a susceptibility beyond
that of anyone I had ever known to symbolic or telepathic influence, but
because he never told anything that was true; the facts of life disturbed
him and were forgotten” (Autobiographies, 340).

After recovering from the worst of the 1886-episode, Sharp was
unable for many months to engage in sustained writing, and that left
him desperately short of money. “At the end of ten weeks,” Elizabeth
wrote, “he left his bed. As soon as possible I took him to Northbrook,
Micheldever [in Hampshire], the country house of our kind friends
Mr. and Mrs. Henryson Caird, who put it at our disposal for six weeks.
Slowly his strength came back in those warm summer days, as he lay
contentedly in the sunshine” (Memoir, 126). From Micheldever on
August 14, he described his condition to Theodore Watts, who was
helping him with the second edition of Sonnets of this Century:
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I am gaining strength very satisfactorily. My doctor ran down to see me
before going off to Canada on his autumn holiday, and he told me he
could now find no trace of heart-disease, though I undoubtedly inherited
from the Rheumatic fevers (the recent attack & that of 5 years ago) a
heart-complaint which would require my care for a year or so to come.
I am not to work too hard, and never after the afternoon. This is all very
well, but whether I can keep to such orders is a different matter.

In a September 7 letter to Frederick Shields, he said he was “progressing
slowly but steadily.” In a September 13 letter, he told Ford Madox Brown
he was “nearly robust again.” He had benefited from “his extended
stay at this pleasant country house.” He had begun to do a little work,
“chiefly reviewing,” but he had been instructed “to wait another month
at least before getting in full sail again.” He had hoped to be able to go
to Manchester to see and review the frescoes Brown was painting for the
Great Room of the newly constructed Town Hall, but that would have to
wait until spring. His doctor thought he needed “bracing” and advised
him to go to his “native air.” He and Elizabeth left Micheldever in mid-
September and spent two weeks in and around Edinburgh.

In mid-October, Sharp told J. Stanley Little, who would soon become
a close and valued friend, he was incapacitated by a sudden illness.
Elizabeth noticed “new disquieting symptoms” as “he began to assert
himself. His heart proved to be severely affected, and his recovery was
proportionately retarded” (Memoir, 126). Nevertheless, he returned
to the life of Shelley he promised for the Great Writers Series. In late
November he thanked Edward Dowden for sending as a gift his recently
published two-volume Life of Shelley. He needed it for his writing and
could not afford to buy it. As 1886 ended, Sharp had suffered varying
degrees of illness for nine months, his health remained precarious, and
money was in short supply






Chapter Four
1887-1888

In the spring of 1887, Sharp succeeded his friend Eric Robertson
as editor of the “Literary Chair” in the Young Folk’s Paper, a widely
circulated weekly paper for boys. This appointment brought “steady
work” and “a reliable income, a condition of security hitherto unknown
to us, which proved an excellent tonic to the delicate editor” (Memoir,
127-128). Assisted by Elizabeth, Sharp read evaluated, and responded
to “efforts in prose and verse of the ‘young folk” who wished to exercise
their budding literary talents.” The best pieces appeared in the paper
“prefaced by an article of criticism and instruction written by their
editor and critic.”

Though he remained weak, Sharp continued to work and travel.
After resting again for a time at the Caird’s country house in Hampshire,
he and Elizabeth went to Paris in early May to review the Salons for
the Glasgow Herald. On April 28, before leaving for Paris, he asked
Ford Madox Brown, who was in Manchester painting frescoes in the
new Town Hall, if it would be convenient for him to stay with him
on May 16 or 17 when he planned to be in Manchester for the Royal
Jubilee Exhibition celebrating the fiftieth year of Queen Victoria’s reign.
He wanted to examine a painting in the Exhibition for a review in
the Glasgow Herald. In a January 1890 letter to Brown, he recalled and
praised a framed etching of Brown’s “Entombment” he had seen in the
Exhibition. In his April 1887 letter to Brown, he said he had finished
a “memoir of poor Philip Marston to precede his forthcoming volume
of stories.” That volume, which Sharp called For a Song’s Sake and other
Stories, was published by the Walter Scott firm in May 1887. Brown had
known Philip and was close to the Marston family. In a July letter to
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Louise Chandler Moulton, another friend of the Marston’s, Sharp said
the volume was selling well “almost solely on a/c” of his introductory
memoir. The stories have not taken well, he continued, but the reviews
were flattering; in fact, one said Philip “was at least fortunate in death to
have such a biographer.”

Along with his articles and editorial work on the Young Folk’s Paper
and for the Walter Scott firm, Sharp’s main endeavor in 1887 was his
monograph on Shelley for Scott’s Great Writers Series. He continued
to correspond with Shelley experts, chief among them Edward
Dowden, and devoted considerable effort to the book, which was
published on the first of October. It contained instead of a dedication
a “special acknowledgment of indebtedness” to Dowden “whose two
comprehensive volumes on Shelley form the completest and most
reliable record extant, and at the same time constitute the worthiest
monument wherewith the poet’s memory has yet been honored.”
Elizabeth’s description of his choice of Shelley for his first Great Writers
book is telling. Shelley was the inspiring genius of his youth, she wrote,
and “He was in sympathy with much of Shelley’s thought: with his
hatred of rigid conventionality, of the tyranny of social laws, with his
antagonism to existing marriage and divorce laws, with his belief in
the sanctity of passion when called forth by high and true emotion”
(Memoir, 131). A letter Sharp wrote to a Mr. Clarke in December 1887
demonstrates the strength of his convictions regarding women'’s rights.
He called the views of women in a poem Clarke sent him for comment
“absolute lies and absurdities.” In a second letter to Clarke, he affirmed
the influence of Shelley: “instead of my reverence for true womanhood
falling off, it is yearly growing more strengthened, till now with Shelley
it is one of my cardinal faiths — the equality of the sexes.” Those were
the sentiments of Mona Caird and Elizabeth herself. By mentioning
them here in the context of the Shelley biography, she set the stage for
the events that changed the course of their lives in the following decade.

In August 1887 Sharp received a letter from Hall Caine expressing
his concern about the state of Sharp’s health. Sharp’s response, from
North Queensferry in Fife on September first, is a frank and detailed
account of the heart problem that plagued him:

I think you are the only one of my friends who has recognised what a
secret enemy my ill-health is. I1look so robust, and (often at a great effort)
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try to be cheerful and sanguine that many think I have little to complain
of. You, however, realise something of what I have really to endure.
There are perhaps few people who know what “angina pectoris” really
is, though “snake in the breast” gives them some idea it is not pleasant.
If from hereditary taint it sometimes attacks the most robust natures, &
is then deadliest. The agony of it is sometimes too great for conscious
endurance, and over one’s head always hangs the shadow of sudden
death. The doctor has warned me it may come at any moment; I may
stoop too suddenly, may fall, may receive startling news — anything of
the kind may bring about instant death. This, added to the precariousness
of the literary life and its incessant hard work, gives me many a dark
hour. Sometimes I awake at night with the dull gripping pain which is
ominous of attack, and as I lie by my sleeping wife I do not know if I shall
ever see the morning’s light. Then I think of the hard struggle of life, and
what my death would mean to my wife, and — well, I needn’t dilate on
the subject.

He continued, revealing more about his approach to life and death:

But partly because it is my natural bias and in great part because I have
trained myself to this kind of self-control, I betray nothing of all this to
anyone. The other day a friend remarked to my wife that I was looking so
well and was so cheerful & confident that I must surely be exceptionally
well — and yet this was shortly after an attack so violent and dreadful
that it was some time before I came round. If, however, I did not keep this
“brave front” before the world, I would give way to the shadow that dogs
me always. I never allow it to overcome me: if it be too appellant, I face it
and as it were frown it down. I have no fear of death, which the soul in me
knows to be but the gate of life. The world is so very beautiful, and full of
such transcendent hints of the divine, that death should be as welcome to
all as the first breath of summer to the hillslopes and meadows. Yet oh I
do cling to life too! There is so much I want to do, so many dreams which
I would fain should not all pass oblivion-ward unaccomplished.

Finally, he confirmed the singularity of his relationship with Caine: “You
are the only one of my friends to whom I have written this — but you
drew it from me by your brotherly sympathy. And now having read my
words destroy and forget them.” Since Caine ignored that direction, we
have in this newly discovered letter Sharp’s deepest thoughts powerfully
expressed about life and death. Reading the letter, we can feel the pain
that often gripped him and recognize the burden of knowing each day
might be his last.
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Improved finances enabled the Sharps to move, at the close of 1887,
from a flat on Talgarth Road in West Kensington to a larger house in
South Hampstead where “the air was purer and access to green fields
easier.” In early November, in good health and spirits, Sharp told
Caine he had taken “a most delightful house” in Goldhurst Terrace,
South Hampstead, and planned to move in at the end of December. He
suggested Caine do the same as the neighborhood was “well sheltered
from fog & east wind,” healthy and not inconvenient. It would be grand
to have Caine as a near neighbor. Later in the month, before the move,
ill-health struck again, and Elizabeth took her husband to the Isle of
Wight to recover from “inflammation of the lungs.” After returning
in early January, they settled into the South Hampstead house which
had, according to Elizabeth, a sunny study on the ground floor so the
“invalid” would not have to deal with stairs. Since its address, 17a
Goldhurst Terrace, was frequently confused with 17 Goldhurst Terrace,
the house in front facing the street, it needed a name, and the Sharps
settled on “Wescam,” a name made up of the initials the two Sharps and
Mona Caird who lived near by. They began holding Sunday evening
“at homes” which were attended by “all those with whom we were in
sympathy,” and the list of guests Elizabeth provided in the Memoir (140-
141) includes many well-known writers and editors. As winter turned
to spring Sharp’s health held in the new location. His editorial work
and Elizabeth’s well-placed friends and her charm as a hostess solidified
their position near the center of London’s literary life.

Mona Allison Caird and her husband James Alexander Henryson
Caird had a much larger house a few blocks north on Arkwrite Road
where the Sharps were frequently entertained and met many of Mona’s
well-placed friends, including Thomas Hardy. She was a formidable
figure who was gaining a reputation, praised by many and denigrated
by more, as an advocate for women'’s rights, especially greater equality
in marriage. The American women’s rights activist Elizabeth Cady
Stanton visited Mona Caird in February 1888 and recalled in 1898: “Mrs.
Caird was a very graceful, pleasing woman, and so gentle in manner
and appearance that no one would deem her capable of hurling such
thunderbolts at the long-suffering Saxon people” (Eighty Years and More:
Reminiscences 1815-1897). The Sharps shared Mona’s views on marriage
and women’s rights, and she invariably came to their rescue when they
needed help.
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Fig. 6. Alice Mona (Alison) Caird (1854-1922) Engraving based on a photograph
by H. S. Mendelssohn Wikipedia, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mona_
Caird

Sharp’s improved health enabled greater productivity. He selected
poems and wrote prefaces for an anthology of odes and a book of
American sonnets, both published in Scott’s Canterbury Series, of which
he was General Editor. He contributed reviews and critical articles to the
Academy, the Athenaeum, and the Literary World. In April, he reviewed a
Paris Salon for the Glasgow Herald and described it to Frederick Shields
as “the resort of the evil rather than of the good spirits of art.” George
Meredith invited the Sharp’s to spend Whitsuntide with him in Surrey,
and Sharp described their visit in a May 22 letter to Richard Le Gallienne:
“I have just returned from my delightful visit to the loveliest part of
the loveliest county in Southern England — and with glorious weather
& such a host as George Meredith I need not say that I have enjoyed
the last few days immensely.” From Box Hill, the Sharps walked over
to Dorking to see their friend Grant Allen who was entertaining Joseph
Cotton who edited the Academy. Sharp told Cotton he was pleased
by Le Gallienne’s Academy review of his edition of Philip Marston’s
poetry. Meredith and Sharp had long conversations during the day and,
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Elizabeth recalled, Meredith read from his novels at night: “The reader’s
enjoyment seemed as great as that of his audience, and it interested me
to hear how closely his methods of conversation resembled, in wittiness
and brilliance, those of the characters in his novels” (Memoir, 145). On
May 23, Sharp wrote to Theodore Watts: “What a charming fellow G. M.
is — is he not? The more I see of him, the more I admire and like him.”

Fig. 7 George Meredith in Robert Louis Stevenson: A Bookman Extra Number 1913
(London: Hodder & Stoughton), p. 138, Wikimedia, https://commons.
wikimedia.org/wiki/File:George_Meredith%27s_Portrait.jpg, Public Domain.

Sharp also told Watts on the 23 that he would send him a copy of his
third book of poetry — Romantic Ballads and Poems of Phantasy — which
had just been published by Walter Scott. It was a “maturer work,” and
he hoped Watts would find it an improvement over his first two volumes
of poetry.

In substance, it is imaginative in the truest sense — as I do not hesitate to
say. It honestly seems to me that with all its demerits there is stuff in it of
the purely imaginative kind such as you will not easily find in the work
of other contemporary minor poets. Of course, I shall be disappointed if
no one likes it, or thinks highly of it — but for the first time in my life I
am indifferent to adverse criticism: for I feel well assured that the little
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booklet is sterling — and with this assured confidence a bad reception
can at the worst be but unfortunate and disagreeable.

Having described the main qualities of the book, Sharp said he was
not urging Watts to review it (in the Athenaeum where he was a poetry
critic), but the letter spells out what he hoped Watts would say should
he decide to do so.

Sharp intended to print only a hundred copies. Given the “unexpected
and gratifying anticipatory demand,” he agreed toa “larger edition” most
of which was “already engaged.” The high demand might encourage
Watts to write or solicit a review. In the “Dedicatory Introduction” to
the volume Sharp expressed his “earnest conviction” that “a Romantic
revival [is] imminentin our poetic literature, a true awakening of genuine
romantic sentiment.” He dedicated the volume to his wife who has “a
sterling appreciation of imaginative literature.” She shared with him
“the true Celtic passion for the weird and supernatural, and for vividly
romantic sentiment and action.” In predicting a turn away from realism
and formalism, Sharp hoped the volume would inspire a third romantic
movement in the century’s poetry, the first begun by Wordsworth and
Keats and the second by Rossetti and William Morris. Several poems in
the volume are a decided improvement over those published earlier, but
its main interest is the “Introduction” which forecasts the poetry Sharp
would write as Fiona Macleod. The volume did not have the broad
impact Sharp anticipated or bring him the recognition he sought.

As 1888 proceeded, Sharp developed a close friendship with Richard
Le Gallienne, an aspiring poet who lived in Liverpool and would move to
London in 1891 to write for The Star. On May 19, he thanked Le Gallienne
for his friendly and sympathetic Academy review of his Marston book.
Three days later he asked Le Gallienne to let him know when he would
be in London as he looked forward to the pleasure of meeting him.
When Le Gallienne came to London in early June, Sharp sent him a
special invitation: “If you have not made any other arrangement could
you come here on Sunday evening next? We don’t ‘dress” on Sunday
evenings, as friends sometimes drop in then promiscuously: and indeed
on Sunday next we are, I believe, to have ‘high tea’ in place of dinner, for
the sake of domestic convenience of some kind.” He asked Le Gallienne
to come at six so they could have a private “hour’s chat” before the other
guests arrived. He had sent Le Gallienne a copy of Romantic Ballads and
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wanted to talk with him about the new Romantic movement its preface
forecast. He sensed from reading Le Gallienne’s poems that he might be
a willing recruit for the new Romanticism and recognized his potential
as a major actor in London’s literary life. Sharp’s interest in Le Gallienne
and the attention he received when he moved to London were due in no
small measure to the young man’s carriage and physiognomy — indeed,
his physical beauty.

Fig. 8 Richard Le Gallienne (1866-1947). Photograph by Arthur Ellis (1894).
Wikimedia, https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Richard_Le_
Gallienne,_by_Alfred_Ellis jpg, Public Domain.

Twenty years after Sharp’s death, in his Romantic Nineties (1926), Le
Gallienne painted a vivid picture of one of his dearest friends:

When I reached London [from his native Liverpool], Sharp was
already known as the biographer of Rossetti, the editor of an excellent
anthology of sonnets, a popularizer of poetry. As editor of the famous
“Canterbury” series, model of many such to follow, [and] something of
a poet himself. [...] It was his personality that mattered most. He was
probably the handsomest man in London, a large flamboyant “sun-god”
sort of creature, with splendid, vital, curling gold hair and a pointed
golden beard, the bluest of Northern eyes, and the complexion of a
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girl. Laughing energy radiated from his robust frame, and he was all
exuberance, enthusiasm, and infectious happiness, a veritable young
Dionysus. [...] No one could know him without falling under the spell of
his generous magnetic nature, and I was proud to count him among my
dearest friends (111).

This description confirms that of Ernest Rhys in Everyman Remembers
and differs radically from that in Sharp’s 1887 letter to Hall Caine. In
1900 Le Gallienne dedicated his Travels in England to Sharp with affection
and a brief but compelling piece of doggerel:

Will, you have travelled far and wide
On many a foreign country-side,

Tell me if you have fairer found

Than honeysuckled English ground;
Or did you, all the journey through,
Find such a friend, dear Will — as you?

In August 1888, the Sharps went to Scotland and stayed two and a half
months visiting family and friends. In a mid-October birthday letter to
Theodore Watts, Sharp said there had been only four “wholly wet days”
during their visit. They had been on the west or east coast most of the time,
but were also “for some weeks at a glorious spot in Strathspey, a lovely
moorland farm a thousand feet above the sea, among the Grampians, in
Morayshire” just northwest of Aberdeen. While in Scotland he finished
his second book for Walter Scott’s Great Writers Series, a study of the
German poet Heinrich Heine (1897-1865). He was seldom ill during
his annual visits to Scotland, and his letters were invariably cheerful.
Even that to Caine from Fife in September describing bouts of illness
concluded, “I have been in a strong mental and spiritual ferment lately,
and I think I shall speedily write something I have long had in my mind.”
The fresh air and familiar surroundings, augmented by relief from the
pressures and tensions of London, were restorative.

When he returned to London in the fall, Sharp asked Andrew Chatto
if his firm would like to publish a novel he was writing called Sampriel. He
compared it to his Romantic Ballads and Poems of Phantasy as exemplifying
the “new romantic movement.” Just as the poems represented a new
flowering of Romanticism, the novel was “destined to revolutionize
contemporary fiction.” Chatto accepted the offer and published it in
1889 as Children of Tomorrow. The love affair at the center of the romance
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encompassed many of the ideas he encountered in writing the Shelley
monograph for Walter Scott: Elizabeth tied the novel to the advanced
views of love and marriage among their circle of friends:

A minority of dreamers and thinkers look beyond the strictly guarded,
fettered conditions of married life, to a time, when man and woman,
equally shall know that to stultify or slay the spiritual inner life of
another human being, through the radical misunderstanding between
alien temperaments inevitably tied to one another, is one of the greatest
crimes against humanity. That the author [Sharp] knew how visionary
for the immediate future were these ideas which we at that time so
eagerly discussed with a little group of intimate sympathetic friends is
shown by the prefatory lines in the book.

Forlorn the way, yet with strange gleams of gladness;

Sad beyond words the voices far behind,

Yet we, perplex with our diviner madness,

Must heed them not — the goal is still to find:

What though beset by pain and fear and sorrow,

We must not fail, we Children of To-morrow (Memoir, 146-147).

In the book one character says of another whose name, H. P. Siwdamill,
is an anagram of William Sharp:

He sees, as do so many of us, that the old conventionalities, the old
moralities even, are in process of rapid evolution, if not dissolution, and
he perceives that now, as always heretofore, the future is foreshadowed
in the present, the Tomorrow is foretold in certain vivid moments of
Today (75).

This sentence appears on the book’s title page attributed to none other
than H. P. Siwdamill: “We, who live more intensely and suffer more
acutely than others, are the Children of To-morrow, for in us the new
forces of the future are already astir or even dominant.” Sharp neatly
inserted his advanced views of marriage into the novel; Siwdamill’s
opinions are his.

The renewed good health Sharp enjoyed during the summer in
Scotland lasted through the fall, enabling him to continue the writing
and editing that produced a reasonable income. Although these
two years — 1887 and 1888 — were marked by bouts of ill health,
they also included periods of work that brought improved financial
circumstances and acceptance in London’s literary establishment, but
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neither Romantic Ballads and Poems of Phantasy nor Children of Tomorrow
brought the accolades and acolytes Sharp sought. The new Romanticism
proclaimed in the books was undercut by the quality of the products.
Oscar Wilde made that point bitingly in reviewing Romantic Ballads:
the “Introduction” announcing the new Romanticism was the “most
interesting part of the volume,” but it heralded “a dawn that rose long
ago,” and the poems were “quite inadequate.” The lack luster response
to the two volumes convinced Sharp his work as an editor and critic
hampered his effort to gain approval for his poetry and fiction. That
belief led to his decision in 1890 to break from editing and launch a new
life that culminated four years later in Fiona Macleod through whom
he relaunched his “new Romanticism” pseudonymously under the
umbrella of the Celtic revival.






Chapter Five
1889

The high point of 1889 for Sharp was his first visit, in late summer, to
Canada and the United States. His interest in North America increased
as he edited in early 1889 a collection of American sonnets for Scott’s
Canterbury Poets, and he came to view the States as a market for his
work. In January, he offered the Century Publishing Company in New
York the American rights to Children of Tomorrow, which was scheduled
for British publication by Chatto & Windus in April. Also in January,
he proposed two articles for publication in Philadelphia’s Lippincott’s
Magazine. In the spring, he thanked Thomas Wentworth Higginson, the
American man of letters and friend of Emily Dickinson, for a book of his
poetry and said he would try to mention it favorably in print. He told
Higginson, who planned to be in London shortly, that he would hold a
copy of American Sonnets to present in person. In July, he sent copies to
Frank Dempster Sherman and Clinton Scollard, both represented in the
anthology. The enclosed letters praised their poems and expressed his
hope to meet them in the fall when he planned “to pay a short visit to E.
C. Stedman and one or two other friends in New York.”

A New York banker and a poet, anthologist, and critic, Stedman
was the most powerful literary figure in the United States. He exerted
substantial influence over publishers and editors in New York, which
had supplanted Boston as the literary center of the country. Sharp
could not have chosen a better advocate in the American publishing
world. His contacts with Stedman began in 1887 when, in an article on
the younger British poets in the October issue of the Century Magazine,
Stedman, relying on the Australian poems in Sharp’s The Human
Inheritance, placed him among the “Colonial” poets. Sharp knew the
Century article was to become a supplementary chapter on young
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British poets in the thirteenth (Jubilee) edition of Stedman’s Victorian
Poets, a groundbreaking study first published in 1875. When Sharp saw
the Century article, he asked Stedman to correct the error: “Since you are
so kindly going to do me the honour of mention in your forthcoming
supplementary work, I should not like to be misrepresented.” He was
a Scotsman, not a “Colonial.” Stedman replied warmly: “Something in
your work made me suspect that, despite your Australian tone, etc., you
did not hail (as we Yankees say) from the Colonies. So, you will find in
my new vol. of Victorian Poets that I do not place you with the Colonial
poets, but just preceding them, and I have a reference to your Rossetti
volume” (Memoir, 129).

Fig. 9 An1897 photograph of Edmund Clarence Stedman (1833-1908),an American
poet, critic, essayist, banker, and scientist. Wikimedia, https://commons.
wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Edmund_Clarence_Stedman_cph.3a44372.jpg,

Public Domain.

This exchange “led to a life-long friendship” with Stedman who had “so
genial a nature that, on becoming personally acquainted in New York
two years later, the older poet declared he had adopted the younger
man from across the seas as his ‘English son’” (Memoir, 129). Elizabeth’s
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offhand comment contains an important insight. Sharp’s father, who
disapproved of his son’s interest in literature and his desire to become
a writer, died when Sharp was twenty-one. From that point forward,
he sought out older literary men, worked to gain their friendship and
approval, and depended on them for advancement, not an unusual
pattern for young people making their way in the world. The list of
such men in Sharp’s life — Dante Gabriel Rossetti, John Addington
Symonds, Walter Pater, George Meredith, to name only a few of the most
prominent — is unusually long, and the son/father trope pervades his
correspondence with them. Of all these, his relationship with Stedman
was the most consequential and long-lasting. After their initial meeting
in 1889, when Sharp stayed with Stedman and his wife Laura in New
York, Sharp’s letters became increasingly familiar until Stedman began
to function as both a father confessor and a trusted comrade. The first of
the surviving Sharp letters, which is in the Pattee Library at Pennsylvania
State University, is dated July 27, 1889, shortly before Sharp left for North
America. Excepting the short quotation from an 1887 letter Elizabeth
Sharp included in her Memoir, earlier correspondence between the two
men has not surfaced. Sharp surely corresponded with Stedman in 1888
as he prepared his anthology of American Sonnets. His dedication of
that volume to Stedman — “the Foremost American Critic” — was an
expression of gratitude for Stedman’s help in choosing the poets and
poems for the volume.

In a letter dated February 16, 1889, Sharp told Theodore Watts he
was staying for a fortnight or more with his friend Sir George Brisbane
Scott Douglas (1856-1935), a Scottish Baronet and a poet and editor who
lived in Springwood House, the family seat near Kelso in the Scottish
Border Region. He was working hard and enjoying the “beautiful old
place — near the junction of the Teviot and the Tweed, both of which
flow through D.’s property. The Teviot is but 200 yards from my
window, and some 300 yards away is the picturesque mound-set ruin
of the ancient Roxburghe Castle. Last night I fell asleep to the hooting
of the owls blended with the brawling undertone of the Teviot.” The
main purpose of the letter was to inform Watts, poetry editor of The
Athenaeum, that the second edition of his Romantic Ballads and Poems
of Phantasy containing “many important alterations” and a new poem
would be published the following week. As described in the previous
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chapter, when the first edition appeared the previous May, he sent Watts
a copy and spelled out what he would like to see in a review of the book
while telling Watts he did not expect him — given their friendship — to
write the review. Now he told Watts he was “a little hurt” that Norman
MacColl, the editor of the Athenaeum, had not printed a review. He had
also been disturbed by some negative remarks Watts reportedly made,
but he had chalked that up to “misapprehension” and refused to let it
interfere with their friendship. Now he asked Watts, if not inconvenient
or disagreeable, to send MacColl a paragraph simply announcing the
second edition with alterations and additions. The appearance of such
a paragraph in the prestigious Athenaeum would help the book’s sales.
Sharp began his February 16 letter to Watts by asking what he
thought of Hall Caine’s new play. “From what I hear privately (from
my wife, Cotton, and others) I gather that it is a very third-rate affair
though with some strong melodramatic situations.” Caine’s “Good Old
Times” which had recently opened in London’s Princess Theatre was
drawing enthusiastic crowds and generating a good deal of money.
Sharp and his host George Douglas had little regard for Wilson Barrett,
who produced the play and acted in it. They thought Caine should be
turning his attention to more serious and consequential fiction and
drama. On March 4, back in London, Sharp expressed their concern in a
letter to Caine. He was delighted to hear of the play’s financial success,
but he thought Caine should spend his time with more serious writing:

though I honestly admit that you, with your high abilities, should be
working at more enduring stuff than ordinary melodrama. We need a
true dramatic writer, and you have it in you to be the man — but! I have
your reputation so truly to heart that what you yourself say is good news
to me. Still, it is always something to have achieved so great a financial
success in these difficult days — though the financial aspect, with a man
like you, ought to be —and in your case is — of secondary import...
Douglas [Sir George] believes in you — but dislikes what he calls Wilson
Barrettish melodrama: and he expressed an earnest hope the other day
that your next play would be, in truth, a big thing. I'm delighted to hear
what you say about your prospective novel and play....

In mid-month, he would try to get down to Bexley, then a village
where Caine was living and now a Borough of Greater London, to talk
about that and other matters. He hoped Caine, should he be in town
the following Saturday, would find his way out to Wescam, the Sharp’s
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home in South Hampstead, for a party: “Some seventy to eighty literary
and artistic friends have been asked — and probably somewhere about
40 or 50 will come.” Those numbers demonstrate the extent to which he
and Elizabeth had immersed themselves in London’s literary society.

Concern about Caine’s work took a back seat in mid-month
when Sharp decided to stand for election to the Chair of Literature
at University College, London. The Chair was vacant following the
retirement of Henry Morley (1822-1894), one of the first Professors of
English Literature and a dynamic lecturer who had occupied the chair
since 1865. Sharp requested and received supporting letters from Caine,
Edward Dowden, and Richard Garnett, and, according to Elizabeth, his
candidacy was also supported by Robert Browning, George Meredith,
Walter Pater, Theodore Watts, Alfred Austin, Professor Minto, Sir
George Douglas, Aubrey de Vere, and Mrs. Augusta Webster. That he
sought this post despite having spent only two years studying literature
at Glasgow University reflects the self-confidence he gained through his
reading, editing, and reviewing. The list of his supporters reflects the
extent to which his work and his forceful personality had penetrated
and gained the respect of fellow authors. Despite the support of these
literary luminaries and the prestige and security the post would bring,
Sharp withdrew from consideration when, again according to Elizabeth,
his doctor advised his heart might not withstand the strain. Whatever
the reason, he was relieved when left “in possession of his freedom.” For
all his gregariousness, Sharp became agitated whenever he was asked
to give a formal lecture or even speak informally before an audience.
Realizing this deficiency and concerned about the condition of his heart,
his doctors continued to advise against lecturing. From this distance the
inappropriateness of Sharp’s application is abundantly clear. Even his
supporters must have recognized his inability to replicate the energetic
lecturing and vast knowledge of the retiring Professor of English at
University College.

On May 5, the Sharps left London to review the Salon in Paris. On
the 9, Sharp wrote to thank Richard Le Gallienne for his second book of
poetry, Volumes in Folio, which he declared he would read with interest
when he returned to London in a week or so. In the letter accompanying
the volume, which was forwarded to Paris, Le Gallienne said he was
planning to accompany the actor Wilson Barrett, for whom he served as
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secretary, on his tour of America in October. Setting aside his opinion of
Barrett, Sharp told Le Gallienne he would also be there in October and
suggested they meet. As it turned out, an attack of asthma prevented
Le Gallienne from traveling. On the 10%, Elizabeth sent a short review
of the sculpture exhibited in the Salon to James Mavor who printed it
without attribution following her husband’s unsigned review of the
Salon’s paintings in the June number of the Scottish Art Review. The
Sharps left Paris on May 11 to spend a week or so in the countryside.
When they returned to London, Sharp asked Mavor when he needed the
manuscript for Pt. I of H. P. Siwdarmill’s “Emilia Viviana” which Mavor
had agreed to publish in the July number of the review. In a postscript,
he asked Mavor to be sure and preserve the secret of his identity. He
had used H. P. Siwédarmill for an epigraph and for a character in Children
of Tomorrow which was published on May 10 while the Sharps were in
Paris. The pseudonym demonstrates his predilection — well before he
created Fiona Macleod — for disguising his identity. There is no sign of
“Emilia Viviana” in the Review which means Sharp failed to produce it
or Mavor decided not to print it.

In a mid-July letter to Louise Chandler Moulton, Sharp said he was
pleased she had found something attractive in Children of Tomorrow,
which had been “badly received by the press.” He was

vain enough to believe that with all its faults & demerits it is not
altogether a book of “today.” I have written it as an artist — and someday,
if not now, it will gain its measure of recognition. At the same time, it is
only a tentative effort, or a herald rather, of a new movement. I see the
Athenaeum of today passes it by with “damning indifference” — and,
on the other hand, Public Opinion has a long & sympathetic (tho’ fault-
finding) review beginning “a remarkable book by a remarkable man.”

Mavor printed a carefully worded notice in the June issue of the Scottish
Art Review. He recognized the novel’s effort to portray in prose fiction
the manifesto of the new Romantic School, whose advent Sharp had
forecast in his dedicatory introduction to Romantic Ballads. For that
reason, the novel was interesting in itself and “of no ordinary interest
in the history of current literature.” In portraying the complications of
two married couples falling in love with each other’s spouses, Sharp had
constructed a “powerful drama of passion and destiny.” For the details
and “for information regarding the sect called Children of Tomorrow,”
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Mavor referred “readers to the book itself.” Despite his reservations,
Mavor found a way to accommodate Sharp’s request for a notice while
preserving their friendship.

As described in the previous chapter, the “book itself” was quite
remarkable for its time. It went further than Mona Caird in critiquing
the restraints of marriage. The ‘Children of Tomorrow’ would be
free to realize their potential and preserve their sanity by developing
“romantic” relationships outside the bonds of marriage. Sharp would
soon find cause to join those children, but the novel predicted a future
of free love that neither reviewers nor readers could sanction. Despite
their response, Sharp believed the novel would be recognized in time as
a herald of things to come. The strict bonds of marriage surely relaxed as
the twentieth century unfolded, but the density and excesses of Sharp’s
Children of Tomorrow and the dark improbabilities of its action render it
even less readable today than when it appeared.

Sharp’s plans for North America crystallized during the summer.
Mona Caird asked Elizabeth to accompany her to Austria for “the Sun-
cure at Valdes in the Carpathian mountains.” After they left in mid-July
(Memoir, 149-150). William went down to Box Hill to spend a few days
with George Meredith. In a July 27 letter, he told Stedman he had been
staying with Meredith in Surrey. He had been ill but had “regained [his]
power to sleep.” It would be good “to get away, and to see no proofs,
letters, or MSS for ten days at least.” Of the American trip, Elizabeth
wrote, “going by himself seemed to promise chances of complete
recovery of health; the unexplored and the unknown beckoned to
him with promise of excitement and adventure” (Memoir, 150). Sharp
chronicled his North American trip, as he had his 1884 Italian trip, in a
series of letters to Elizabeth, and there is no mention of ill-health. The
trip had its intended effect.

Word of Sharp’s reputation had made its way across the Atlantic. He
was warmly welcomed, first in Canada and then in the United States.
Stedman’s sponsorship paved the way, but Canadian and American
editors and writers were familiar with Sharp’s Rossetti book, his two
books of poetry, his editing and writing for the Walter Scott firm, and
his articles in British journals. Their desire to strengthen contacts with
London’s literary establishment — augmented by Sharp’s handsome
appearance and Scottish charm — resulted in his treatment as a celebrity
by prominent literary figures in Canada, Boston, and New York.
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The course of his visit can be traced in the portions of letters Elizabeth
printed in the Memoir. Charles G. D. Roberts — a well-known poet and
a Professor of English Literature at King’s College in Windsor, Nova
Scotia — met him when he arrived in Halifax. In a letter to Stedman on
August 17, he said he was leaving at once on a trip to Prince Edward
Island and elsewhere with Roberts, Bliss Carman — Roberts’ brother-in-
law and an aspiring poet and editor — and James Longley, the Attorney
General of Canada. He expected to be back in Windsor on August 25 or
26, and he would reach New York in early October where he planned
to stay with the Stedmans. After returning from what turned out to be
an extensive excursion with Roberts, he described it enthusiastically for
Elizabeth:

Prof. Roberts and I, accompanied for the first 100 miles by Mr. Longley,
started for Pictou, which we reached after 5 hours most interesting
journey. The Attorney General has kindly asked me to go on a three days’
trip with him (some 10 days hence) through the famous Cape Breton
district, with the lovely Bras D’Or lakes: and later on, he has arranged for
a three days’ moose-hunt among the forests of Southern Acadia, where
we shall camp out in tents, and be rowed by Indian guides.... I went with
Charles Roberts and Bliss Carman through Evangeline’s country. En
route I traveled on the engine of the train and enjoyed the experience.
Grand Pré delighted me immensely — vast meadows, with lumbering
wains and the simple old Acadian life. The orchards were in their
glory — and the apples delicious! At one farmhouse we put up, how
you would have enjoyed our lunch of sweet milk, hot cakes, great bowls
of huckleberries and cream, tea, apples, etc.! We then went through the
forest belt and came upon the great ocean inlet known as the ‘Basin of
Minas,” and leagues away the vast bulk of Blomidon shelving bough-like
into the Sea....

This trip with Roberts was the first of many adventures during his
remaining four weeks in Canada. After returning to Halifax, he stayed
with the family of Attorney General Longley who took him on the two
excursions described above and introduced him to many of the “leading
people.”

On September 12, his birthday, he told Elizabeth he was now alone for
the first time. There was nothing definite about him in the newspapers
“save that I “abruptly left St. John” (the capital of New Brunswick) and
that I am to arrive in Quebec tomorrow.” He was glad to leave New
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Brunswick with its “oven-like heat,” endless forests of living and dead
trees, and forest fires that nearly scorched him. After reaching the St.
Lawrence River he “made a side excursion up the Saguenay River for
100 miles to Ha! Ha! Bay” and then resumed his trip up the St. Lawrence
to Quebec where he was the guest of George Stewart, editor of the Daily
Chronicle. On September 16 he traveled further up the St. Lawrence to
Montreal and wrote to ask Grant Allen’s father, Joel Asaph Allen, if he
could visit him on September 21 in Alwington, an area of Kingston,
Ontario and the name of Allen’s house. He did not make it to Alwington
as he wrote again to Stedman on the 17* to say he was leaving Montreal
for Boston on the 22" and hoped to reach New York on the 24th where
he would spend 12 or 14 days before sailing home on October 6 or 8.
Stedman expressed some annoyance at Sharp’s “bewildering changes of
plans” as he wanted to settle his plans for the fall. Sharp apologized in a
letter of September 22 and asked Stedman when he wanted him and for
how long. He had other friends in New York and may have to advance
his date for sailing home.

After leaving Montreal on the 22, a Friday, he traveled “through the
States of Vermont, Connecticut, and Massachusetts” to Boston where
he spent the weekend with Arthur Sherburne Hardy (1847-1930), a
well-known engineer, novelist, poet, and a Professor of Mathematics
at Dartmouth College. Boston was “a beautiful place — an exceedingly
fine city with lovely environs” (Memoir, 153). Hardy introduced Sharp
to members of the Harvard faculty and took him to Belmont to visit the
novelist W.D. Howellswhomhehad metinItalyin 1883. Hearrived in New
York on Monday, September 25, where the Stedmans’ house became his
base for ten days. In the city, he met — among others — Richard Watson
Gilder, editor of the Century Magazine; Henry Chandler Bowen, editor of
the Independent; and Richard Henry Stoddard, whom he christened the
“father” of recent American letters. He was elected an honorary member
of the “two most exclusive clubs” in New York — the Century and the
Players —and he attended a special meeting of the Author’s Club
where he was “guest of the evening.” He spent the weekend of the 29
with Henry Mills Alden, editor of Harper’s Magazine, in Metuchen, New
Jersey, a visit that cemented his friendship with Alden and his family.
Before sailing from New York on October 4, he left instructions with a
florist to deliver on Stedman’s birthday (October 6) both a bouquet and
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a letter, which was the first of many annual birthday letters to Stedman.
During the seven weeks of his Canadian and American trip Sharp was
entertained, feted, and, through the good offices of Stedman, introduced
to editors of the principal literary magazines.

In an October 1 letter, Sharp told Elizabeth about a couple he met
in New York: Thomas Allibone Janvier —a journalist and native of
New Orleans — and his wife Catherine Ann Janvier, a member of the
prominent Drinker family of Philadelphia and an aunt of the twentieth-
century novelist Catherine Drinker Bowen. “They are true Bohemians
and most delightful,” Sharp wrote, “He is a writer and she an artist...
. We dined together at a Cuban Cafe last night. He gave me his vol.
of stories called “Colour Studies” and she a little sketch of a Mexican
haunted house —both addressed to “William Sharp. Recuerdo di
Amistad y carimo.” Soon the Janviers began stopping in London on
their way to and from southern France where they spent winters. The
Sharps, in turn, visited them often in Southern France. Catherine and
William developed a special bond. She would be the first person other
than family to recognize the writings of Fiona Macleod as the work of
William Sharp.

Sharp landed in Liverpool in mid-October and went on to Germany
at the end of the month to accompany Elizabeth home. Buoyed by his
reception in Canada and the United States, he set to work with renewed
vigor. Following Robert Browning’s death in Venice on December 12, he
wrote a long elegiac poem that appeared in the February 1890 number of
the Art Review, and he began a biographical/critical study for the Great
Writers Series. He also began a series of prose “Imaginary Journals”
modeled after Browning’s dramatic monologues in poetry. One of the
projected stories was to be called “The Crime of Andrea dal Castagno”
which Sharp described as “A fragment from the Journal of this murderer
painter and successful hypocrite, written not long before his death.” He
described his plans for the “Imaginary Journals” in a December 18 letter
to Richard Watson Gilder, who decided against publishing them. When
he heard Sharp had begun a book on Browning, Oscar Wilde, recalling
the Rossetti book, remarked, “When a great man dies, Sharp and Caine
go in with the undertaker.”



Chapter Six
1890

After spending Christmas with the painter Keeley Halswelle and his
wife Helena near Petersfield in Hampshire, the Sharps entertained
friends for dinner at their South Hampstead home on New Year’s Day.
A good deal of alcohol was consumed, or so he told Ford Madox Brown
in a letter thanking him for his New Year’s card, a proof of his Samson
and Delilah etching. In the first two months of 1890, Sharp recorded his
activities in a diary, parts of which his wife preserved in the Memoir.
In early January, he was working on the Browning monograph and
beginning a novel, “The Ordeal of Basil Hope,” which he never finished.
He was also writing articles for the Scottish Leader and “London Letters”
for the Glasgow Herald. In mid-January, to escape the distractions of
London, he went to Hastings where he worked steadily on the Browning
biography and enjoyed long walks with the poet Coventry Patmore. After
returning to London in February, he continued work on the Browning
manuscript and “Basil Hope.” In mid-March, he congratulated Bliss
Carman, the Canadian poet he met the previous summer in Canada, on
his appointment as an editorial writer for the New York Independent. The
letter was written in Edinburgh where he was visiting his mother and
resting his eyes and head after intense work on the Browning book. In
an April 7 letter to Frank Marzials, general editor of Walter Scott’s Great
Writers Series, he said he had nearly finished reviewing and revising
proofs of the Browning book and would return them in the morning.
The half-dozen advanced copies which were printed several days later
must not have contained Sharp’s corrections as he sent an “Errata and
Addenda” slip to potential reviewers. On April 16, he told J. Stanley
Little his life of Browning was “going splendidly — already about
10,000 copies disposed of.”
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While working on the Browning biography, Sharp also wrote the
Browningesque prose piece “Fragments from the Lost Journal of Piero
di Cosimo” which appeared in two parts in the January and April
issues of the Art Review, the short-lived successor to the Scottish Art
Review. Both journals were edited by Sharp’s friend James Mavor and
published by Walter Scott. He also selected the poems and wrote the
introduction for Great Odes: English and American, a Canterbury volume
that appeared in April. He wrote a play, “The Northern Night,” that
was included in an 1894 collection of short dramas called Vistas. He
produced an article on D’Annunzio for the Fortnightly Review and an
article on American literature for the National Review. In early May, he
went to Paris to review the Salons for the Glasgow Herald. He wrote a
“Critical Memoir” for an English translation of Sainte-Beuve’s Essays on
Men and Women which Walter Scott published in September in David
Stott’s “Masterpieces of Foreign Authors” series. He was also reading
extensively in contemporary French, Belgian, and Italian literature. His
interests ranged widely, and his relatively good health in 1889 and the
first half of 1890 enabled him to focus on writing projects that produced
income.

In May, he sent Bliss Carman a poem, “The Coves of Crail,” which
stands out for its stark imagery and what it portends. It was included
in the second (1889) edition of Sharp’s third book of poems, Romantic
Ballads and Poems of Phantasy, but that book was not published in the
United States which freed Carman to publish it in the July issue of the
New York Independent.

The Coves of Crail

The moon-white waters wash and leap,
The dark tide floods the Coves of Crail;
Sound, sound he lies in dreamless sleep
Nor hears the sea-wind wail.

The pale gold of his oozy locks,

Doth hither drift and wave;

His thin hands plash against the rocks,
His white lips nothing crave.

Afar away she laughs and sings —

A song he loved, a wild sea-strain —
Of how the mermen weave their rings
Upon the reef-set main.
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Sound, sound he lies in dreamless sleep,
Nor hears the sea-wind wail,

Tho” with the tide his white hands creep
Amid the Coves of Crail.

Crail is both a small village on the rocky east coast of Scotland, and the
name of the harbor the village overlooks. The handsome man in the
poem who now moves only with the waves was lured to the sea by the
song of a mermaid and drowned in his attempt to reach her. The poem’s
subject, tone, and form anticipate the poetry Sharp would attribute
to Fiona Macleod. He heard many versions of its story from men and
women he encountered in the Hebrides. It reflects the dangers of life on
the sea for fishermen and other sailors as well as the danger of trying
to cross the boundary between the world we know and the spirit world
we would like to know. A common theme in fairy tales of all languages,
it became a frequent motif in the writings Sharp published as Fiona
Macleod.

Sharp’s burst of writing and editing in the winter and spring of 1890
finally produced enough money for a break from editing, reviewing,
and the pressures of life in London. In a January 23, 1889 letter, he told
Hall Caine he hoped to be settled in Rome the next winter: “I am tired of
living in this abominable climate, and of so much pot-boiling. I want to
retire for a year and devote myself to original work.” On February 22 he
wrote to Richard Watson Gilder:

Next October I am going to leave England for six months at any rate, and
perhaps for 18, and return to my well-loved Italy. I am sick of pot-boiling
and wish to get on with purely original work. The Drawback is — heavy
pecuniary loss. However, I feel I must do it, now or never.

On June 17, he announced his decision to “begin literary life anew” in a
long letter to Stedman:

As for us, we are both at heart Bohemians — and are well-content if we
can have good shelter, enough to eat, books, music, friends, sunshine,
and free nature — all of which we can have with the scantiest of purses.
Perhaps I shd be less light-hearted in the matter if I thought that our
coming Bohemian life might involve my wife in hard poverty when my
hour comes — but fortunately her ‘future’ is well assured.

The Sharps divested themselves of some of their writing and editing
obligations, stored their furniture, and vacated their South Hampstead
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house on June 24. They would travel while Sharp devoted himself
to serious literary work. Their financial circumstances precluded a
complete break. Sharp transferred to Elizabeth the post of London art
critic for the Glasgow Herald and resigned his lucrative though time-
consuming position with the Young Folks” Paper, but he retained his
Canterbury Poets editorship. After leaving Wescam, the Sharps spent
a week in the Caird’s Northbrook House in Micheldever, Hampshire,
which he described in a June 17 letter to Stedman as “a friend’s place
7 miles across the downs north of Winchester.” When they returned to
London, they stayed with the Cairds in their large South Hampstead
house and decamped to Scotland at the end of the month.

In the summer of 1887 or 1888 the Sharps spent a weekend in Surrey
with Sir Walter and Lady Hughes, friends of Elizabeth’s mother. While
there they met Walter Severn, a well-known painter who was familiar
with Sharp’s book on Rossetti. He asked Sharp if he would like to
undertake a biography of his father, Joseph Severn, also a painter, who
accompanied John Keats to Rome and cared for him there as tuberculosis
took his life. Sharp agreed to undertake the project, and Severn gave
him a large quantity of unpublished manuscripts written by and related
to his father. Sharp began working intermittently on this project in the
Spring of 1890. On July 15, he wrote to William Wetmore Story asking
if he had known Severn, who spent the winter months in Rome and
eventually served as British Ambassador to Italy. Elizabeth reproduced
a portion of Story’s reply:

I knew Mr. Severn in Rome and frequently met and saw him, but I can
recall nothing which would be of value to you. He was, as you may know,
a most pleasant man — and in the minds of all is associated with the
memory of Keats by whose side he lies in the Protestant Cemetery in
Rome. When the bodies were removed, as they were several years ago,
and laid side by side, there was a little funeral ceremony, and I made an
address on the occasion in honor and commemoration of the two friends
(Memoir, 169).

An American lawyer, sculptor, poet, and novelist, Story (1819-1895)
moved to Rome in 1850. His apartment became a gathering place for
British and American artists and writers, among them Elizabeth and
Robert Browning, Nathaniel Hawthorne, and Henry James (who
wrote his biography). His monumental sculptures, mostly of Biblical
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and Classical figures, are displayed in museums in the United States
and Britain. Sharp met Story when he was in Rome in 1883. His July
15 letter had the secondary purpose of reestablishing contact so Story
might welcome him into his social network when he reached Rome in
December.

In early August, the Sharps learned Eric Sutherland Robertson had
returned briefly to London from Lahore where he held the chair of
literature and logic in the University. Robertson and Sharp were good
friends before he left for Lahore in 1887. A graduate of Edinburgh
University, he edited the Great Writers Series for the Walter Scott firm,
and he served as Sharp’s best man when he and Elizabeth married in
1884. Before leaving for Lahore, he arranged for Sharp to succeed him
as editor of the “Literary Chair” in the Young Folk’s Paper, a position
that provided a regular income and increased Sharp’s visibility in the
London literary scene. Sharp wrote to Robertson on August 15: “I have
often missed you for, as you know, I was strongly drawn to you from the
first, and look upon you as one of my very few “deep” friends. My most
intimate friend since you left is Theodore Roussel, the French painter,
who now lives in London.”

Fig. 10 A self portrait of Theodore Roussel (1847-1926) a French painter, who
moved to London in 1878 and two years later married the widow Frances Amelia
Smithson Bull (1844-1909). A close friend of James McNeill, he was William

Sharp’s “most intimate friend” in 1890. Wikipedia: https://commons.wikimedia.
org/wiki/File:Theodore_Roussel_(autorretrato)_(1).jpg
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In case Robertson could meet them in Scotland, Sharp gave him their
Scottish itinerary. On the next day they were leaving for the West
Highlands — Tarbert on Loch Fyne in Argyll —where they would
spend three weeks. From September 8 to 12, Sharp would be in Glasgow
while Elizabeth was visiting a friend, Mary Georgina Wade Wilson,
in South Bantaskine. From the 12* to the 17* both Sharps would be
in North Queensferry, a village across the Firth just northwest of
Edinburgh. They planned to go north to Aberdeen for a few days on
the 17*, and on the 22 they would be back in Edinburgh staying with
Sharp’s mother. They followed that itinerary and returned to London at
the end of September where they stayed with Elizabeth’s mother at 72
Inverness Terrace in Bayswater. Robertson did not make it to Scotland,
but they met in London. In a letter of October 1, Sharp told Theodore
Watts that Elizabeth intended to invite him for afternoon tea on October
4 with Eric Robertson and George Meredith.

The letter to Watts conveyed Dr. Donald Macleod’s willingness
to speak with him about the possible serial publication of Watts’
novel — Alwyn — in Good Words. While Sharp was in Tarbert in late
August and early September, he spent a good deal of time with Macleod,
an eminent Presbyterian clergyman, a respected theologian, and a
talented and prominent minister who served in Park Church, Glasgow
from 1869 until 1901. He also edited from 1872 until 1907 the evangelical
journal Good Words. Under his editorship, the journal began to branch out
from it purely religious base to include non-religious essays and works
of fiction. Macleod was also a repository of Celtic myth and the source
of many of the Fiona tales. Sharp indirectly acknowledged his debt by
adopting Macleod’s surname to provide a measure of authenticity and
prestige for Fiona. During this visit, Elizabeth recalled, Macleod sang to
Sharp “with joyous abandonment a Neapolitan song” and asked him to
send him from Italy an article for Good Words. Sharp’s “Reminiscences
of the Marble Quarries of Carrara,” which appeared in Good Words late
in 1890, must have derived from a visit to the quarries during Sharp’s
first trip to Italy in 1883 since the Sharps did not reach Tuscany on their
way to Rome until December 1890, too late for that month’s Good Words.

On October 11, Sharp told Stedman he and Elizabeth were leaving the
next day for Germany where they planned to stay through November.
He asked Stedman for a “line of introduction” to Blanche Willis Howard,
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an American novelist who had recently married Dr. Julius von Teuffel,
the court physician of Wiirttemberg. The Sharps went first to Antwerp,
stopped in Bonn, and went on to Heidelberg where, he told James Mavor,
they were “very comfortably settled in a romantic old house adjoining
the Castle grounds — and with interesting literary associations. Goethe
himself wrote one of his poems in the balcony of the quaint, picturesque
room I occupy.” According to Elizabeth, her husband was disappointed
with the Rhine, and he expressed some surprising anti-German, pro-
French sentiments in a letter to an unknown friend: “The real charm
of the Rhine, beyond the fascination that all rivers and riverine scenery
have for most people, is that of literary and historical romance. The
Rhine is in this respect the Nile of Europe.” He thought it should be the
boundary between Germany and France.

Germany has much to gain from a true communion with its more
charming neighbor. The world would jog on just the same if Germany
were annihilated by France, Russia, and Italy: but the disappearance of
brilliant, vivacious, intellectual France would be almost as serious a loss to
intellectual Europe, as would be to the people at large the disappearance
of the Moon.

Sharp wrote again to Stedman on November 4 to thank him for the
introduction to Blanch Willis Howard. He had forwarded it and asked
to see her in the following week. In sending the introduction, Stedman
asked Sharp if he had a hidden motive in wishing to meet her, and thus
began the repartee that continued for many years regarding possible
extramarital affairs. Sharp replied he was indeed going to Stuttgart alone,
but only because Elizabeth was otherwise occupied in Heidelberg. He
did plan “to cut about a bit” on his own, visiting “Karlsruhe, Mannheim,
the Neckar, and so forth” and he was going alone to Frankfurt at the
end of the week to hear Wagner’s “Rienzi.” There followed another
complaint about Germany: “Mon Ami, it is only too easy to be virtuous
here. The women — ah, ‘let us proceed!””

The Sharps left Heidelberg on November 25 and reached Tuscany,
“flooded in sunshine and glowing colour,” in the second week of
December. After a few days with Elizabeth’s aunt in Florence, they went
on to Rome and settled in rooms on Via delle Quattro Fontane, near the
summit of the Quirinal Hill. Shortly after arriving, Sharp conveyed his
opinion of Germany to Catherine Janvier:
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Well, we were glad to leave Germany. Broadly, it is a joyless place for
Bohemians. It is all beer, coarse jokes, coarse living, and domestic
tyranny on the man’s part, subjection on the woman’s — on the one side:
pedantic learning, scientific pedagogism, and mental ennui; on the other:
with, of course, a fine leavening somewhere of the salt of life.

He described their six weeks in Heidelberg as “wet,” but admitted it
was “only fair to say we were not there at the best season.” Stuttgart
was his favorite German city. “Wonderfully animated and pleasing for a
German town,” it had a charming double attraction both as a medieval
city and as a modern capital.” He now had a friend there in Blanche
Willis Howard, who was rejoicing in the title “Frau Hof-Arzt von
Teuffel.” Her husband, Doctor von Teuffel, was “one of the few Germans
who seem to regard women as equals.” Sharp’s visit to the von Teuffels
had a curious result: an epistolary novel called A Fellow and his Wife in
which Howard wrote the letters of a male aristocrat who stayed home
in Germany while Sharp wrote the letters of his wife who had taken
off for an extended stay in Rome. This tour de force became the first
instance of Sharp adopting and sustaining with remarkable consistency
the persona of a woman.

He described for Catherine Janvier his writing plans, but Rome soon
eclipsed them. The many “schemes he planned mentally,” Elizabeth
wrote, “were never realized.... A new impulse came, new work grew out
of the impressions of that Roman winter which swept out of his mind
all other cartooned work.” Under the spell of the warmth and beauty of
Rome and its surroundings, Sharp in his mid-thirties fell in love with
a beautiful woman ten years his junior, a woman he knew in London
who took on a compelling new radiance in Rome where she changed the
course of Sharp’s life and the trajectory of his work.
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When the Sharps reached Rome in early December of 1890, they settled
in for the winter. Elizabeth recalled those months as “one long delight”
for her husband; they “amply fulfilled even his optimistic anticipation.
He reveled in the sunshine and the beauty; he was in perfect health; his
imagination was quickened and worked with great activity” (Memoir,
173). In mid-December Edith Wingate Rinder came from London to
spend three weeks with Mona Caird who was wintering in Rome “for her
health.” A beautiful and intelligent young woman of twenty-six, Edith
had married Mona’s first cousin, Frank Rinder, less than a year earlier,
on February 17, 1890. Edith and Frank were childhood sweethearts who
had grown up as landed gentry on neighboring farms in the north of
England. Educated at home and locally, Edith spent a year studying in
Germany and worked for a time as a governess in Lincolnshire after
returning home. Frank was also educated in Lincolnshire before his
parents sent him to Fettes College, an established boarding school in
Edinburgh. During his first year — 1883-1884 — he became ill with
cerebral meningitis which left him somewhat crippled for the rest of
his life. Back in Lincolnshire, Edith and Frank felt isolated. Deprived
of culture, without prospects, and unable to overcome their parents’
opposition to their marrying, they set their sights on London and
Frank’s first cousin Mona Caird.

Alice Mona Alison was the daughter of John Alison of Midlothian,
Scotland, who invented the vertical boiler. As a girl she lived with her
family in a substantial house on Bayswater Road in London, close to
Elizabeth Sharp’s family home in Inverness Terrace, and the two girls
became life-long friends. In 1887 Mona married James Alexander
Henryson-Caird (1847-1921) of Cassenary, Creeton, Kirkendbrighten.
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A member of Parliament and a determined agrarian, he spent most of
his time on his farm in Scotland and his country house in Micheldever,
a village in Hampshire. His wife, on the other hand, spent most of her
time in their large South Hampstead house where she entertained
many of the day’s luminaries. An early advocate of freedom from the
stultifying restraints of high Victorianism, Mona, in 1888 invited her
cousin Frank Rinder and Edith Wingate to London and welcomed them
into her household. Two years later, against the wishes of their parents,
she facilitated their marriage, which took place not at a church, as was
customary, but at a London Registry Office.

Wescam, the Sharp’s South Hampton house, was only a few blocks
from the Caird’s house, and there was frequent entertaining back and
forth. The Sharps were well-acquainted with the Rinders, but we do not
know if William and Edith were attracted to each other before Edith
arrived in Rome. By December 1890, Edith and Frank had been living
with each other for at least three years, and the glow had worn off their
relationship. Sharp’s relationship with Elizabeth, which also began as
a youthful friendship, had devolved into that of a mother overseeing
her frequently ill child whom she called “my poet.” In any case, the
friendship between the handsome William Sharp, free of pressing
obligations and revitalized at the age of thirty-five, and the strikingly
beautiful Edith Rinder, who was twenty-six, blossomed under the warm
Italian sun. Edith would become the mysterious unnamed friend Sharp
frequently alluded to in letters and conversations and the principal
catalyst for the Fiona Macleod phase of his literary career. In an 1896
letter to his wife, Sharp said he owed to Edith his “development as
‘Fiona Macleod’ though, in a sense of course, that began long before
I knew her, and indeed while I was still a child.” “Without her,” Sharp
continued, “there would have been no ‘Fiona Macleod’.” After quoting
from this letter (Memoir, 222), Elizabeth continued, with remarkable
generosity,

Because of her beauty, her strong sense of life and the joy of life; because
of her keen intuitions and mental alertness, her personality stood for him
as a symbol of the heroic women of Greek and Celtic days, a symbol
that, as he expressed it, unlocked new doors in his mind and put him “in
touch with ancestral memories” of his race.
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When the first Fiona Macleod book, Pharais: A Romance of the Isles, was
published in 1894, it was dedicated to “E. W. R.” — Edith Wingate
Rinder.

Sharp and Edith took long walks together in the Roman Campagna
in late December and early January. The beauty of the countryside and
the joy of his newfound love moved Sharp to compose in February a
sequence of exuberant poems that were privately printed in March 1891
as Sospiri di Roma which translates as sighs or whispers of Rome. Of that
volume and Edith Rinder’s role in its genesis, Elizabeth wrote

The “Sospiri di Roma” was the turning point. Those unrhymed poems of
irregular meter are filled not only with the passionate delight in life, with
the sheer joy of existence, but also with the ecstatic worship of beauty
that possessed him during those spring months we spent in Rome when
he had cut himself adrift for the time from the usual routine of our life,
and touched a high point of health and exuberant spirits. There, at last,
he found the desired incentive towards a true expression of himself, in
the stimulus and sympathetic understanding of the friend to whom he
dedicated the first of the books published under his pseudonym. This
friendship began in Rome and lasted throughout the remainder of his
life (Memoir, 222).

Elizabeth included in the Memoir excerpts from Sharp’s diary that detail
his activities and his writing during January and February. On January
3, he and Edith traveled by train to the village of Albano south of Rome
and walked from there to Genzano where they looked down into Lake
Nemi, which was “lovely in its grey-blue stillness, with all the sunlit but
yet somber winterliness around. Nemi, itself, lay apparently silent and
lifeless, ‘a city of dream,” on a height across the lake.” He continued,
“One could imagine that Nemi and Genzano had once been the same
town, and had been riven asunder by a volcano. The lake-filled crater
now divides these two little hill-set towns.”

This excursion stands out among others Sharp described because he
used it to define his relationship with Edith Rinder and his creation of
Fiona Macleod. On February 8, after Edith had returned to London, he
wrote a poem about the experience:



64 William Sharp and “Fiona Macleod”

The Swimmer of Nemi
(The Lake of Nemi: September)

White through the azure,

The purple blueness,

Of Nemi’s waters

The swimmer goeth.

Ivory-white, or wan white as roses

Yellowed and tanned by the suns of the Orient,

His strong limbs sever the violet hollows;

A shimmer of white fantastic motions

Wavering deep through the lake as he swimmeth.
Like gorse in the sunlight the gold of his yellow hair,
Yellow with sunshine and bright as with dew-drops,
Spray of the waters flung back as he tosseth

His head i’ the sunlight in the midst of his laughter;
Red o’er his body, blossom-white ‘mid the blueness,
And trailing behind him in glory of scarlet,

A branch of red-berried ash of the mountains.
White as a moonbeam

Drifting athwart

The purple twilight,

The swimmer goeth —

Joyously laughing,

With o’er his shoulders,

Agleam in the sunshine

The trailing branch

With the scarlet berries.

Green are the leaves, and scarlet the berries,

White are the limbs of the swimmer beyond them
Blue the deep heart in the haze of September,

The high Alban hills in their silence and beauty,
Purple the depths of the windless heaven

Curv’d like a flower o’er the waters of Nemi.

In his diary, Sharp followed the poem’s title with “(Red and White) 42
lines” though it was shortened to thirty-one lines when it appeared in
Sospiri di Roma. The free verse of this poem and others in the volume is
a deliberate departure from the rigid formalism of “Victorian” poetry.
Rather than describing a place in detail, the poems use color and
partial glances to create an impression of a place. From Rossetti and
other Pre-Raphaelites, Sharp inherited an interest in the relationship
between painting and poetry. In Rome, he created with words what the
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French impressionists were creating in painting. That effort reemerged
in the poetry he wrote as Fiona Macleod, especially in the prose poems,
or what Sharp preferred to call “prose rhythms,” in “The Silence of
Amor” section of From the Hills of Dream (1896) which Thomas Mosher
published separately, with a “Foreword” in 1902.

More can be said about the Nemi poem. Sharp may have seen paintings
of the lake by John Robert Cozens (1777) and George Inness (1857);
he surely knew J. M. W. Turner’s many depictions of the lake and its
surroundings. He must also have known the lake was associated with
the Roman Goddess Diana Nemorensis (“Diana of the Wood”) who was
the goddess of wild animals and the hunt. She derived from the Greek
goddess Artemis who was also goddess of the hunt, the wilderness,
and wild animals. The sister of Apollo, Artemis was also a goddess of
the moon and fertility. Sharp must also have been aware of the myth
central to James Fraser’s ground-breaking Golden Bough, which appeared
in 1890. Therein the King of the Woods — Rex Nemorensis — guards
the temple of Diana Nemorensis, Diana of the Wood, with a golden
bough that symbolizes his power. Annually, reflecting the progress of
the seasons and the harvest, a man plucks a bough from the golden
tree, swims Lake Nemi, kills the King, assumes his powers, and guards
Diana’s temple. In his poem, Sharp idealizes himself as the handsome
and powerful swimmer who carries the red-berried ash bough, a symbol
of dynamic life, to lay at the feet of Diana’s reincarnation as the beautiful
Edith Rinder.

Fig. 11 John Robert Cozens, Lake Nemi (1777). © Tate, https://www.tate.org.uk/
art/artworks/cozens-lake-nemi-t00982, CC-BY-NC-ND 3.0.
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Fig. 12 Joseph Mallord William Turner, Lake Nemi (c. 1827-1828). Turner visited
Lake Nemi in 1819 and painted this sketch from memory in Rome in 1828.
© Tate, https://www.tate.org.uk/art/artworks/turner-lake-nemi-n03027,

CC-BY-NC-ND 3.0.

Fig. 13 Lake Nemi, Engraved by Middiman and Pye in 1819 after a sketch by Joseph
Mallord William Turner. Transferred from the British Museum to Tate
Britain in 1988, CC-BY-NC-ND (3.0 Unported), https://www.tate.org.uk/
art/artworks/turner-lake-of-nemi-engraved-by-middiman-and-pye-t06023

Sharp’s fascination with Lake Nemi, its renewal myth, and the
day — January 3, 1891 — he visited Nemi with Edith Rinder did not
end with the poem. Years later he cast the day in a different guise, but
with the same significance. He transformed the poem’s handsome
male swimmer into a beautiful woman. Ernest Rhys, in his Everyman
Remembers, recalled Sharp telling him that
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His first meeting with Fiona was on the banks of Lake Nemi when she
was enjoying a sun-bath in what she deemed was virgin solitude, after
swimming the lake. “That moment began,” he declared, “my spiritual
regeneration. I was a New Man, a mystic, where before I had been only a
mechanic-in-art. Carried away by my passion, my pen wrote as if dipped
in fire, and when I sat down to write prose, a spirit-hand would seize the
pen and guide it into inspired verse. We found we had many common
friends: we traveled on thro’ Italy and went to Rome, and there I wrote
my haunting Sospiri di Roma.”

Rhys took Sharp’s words to mean there was “an objective Fiona
Macleod,” and “the passion she inspired gave Sharp a new deliverance, a
new impetus.” Though Rhys did not know who she was, he was correct.
A real woman figured crucially in Sharp’s creation of Fiona Macleod.
The male swimmer in Sharp’s Nemi poem, “Ivory-white, or wan white
as roses | Yellowed and tanned by the suns of the Orient,” was initially
an idealized self-portrait. Years later, he had become Fiona “enjoying a
sun-bath in what she deemed was virgin solitude, after swimming the
lake.” The lengthy diary account of his first day-long walk with Edith
Rinder and the importance he placed on their visit to Nemi suggest that
may have been the day their relationship deepened. It was she, not the
imaginary Fiona, who was responsible for his “spiritual regeneration,”
for his becoming a “New Man, a mystic,” where before he “had been
only a mechanic-in-art.” She was responsible for the burst of creativity
that produced the poems of Sospiri di Roma and later for the emergence
of Fiona Macleod

On February 8, Sharp wrote “A Winter Evening” which describes his
walk through a heavy snowstorm on January 17. His diary entry for the
17" begins “Winter with a vengeance. Rome might be St. Petersburg.” In
the late afternoon, he had gone alone for a walk on the Pincio Terrace in
the whirling snow.

Returning by the Pincian Gate, about 5:45 there was a strange sight.
Perfectly still in the sombre Via di Mura, with high walls to the right,
but the upper pines and cypresses swaying in a sudden rush of wind:
to the left a drifting snow-storm: to the right wintry moonshine: vivid
sweeping pulsations of lightening from the Compagna, and long low
muttering growls of thunder. (The red light from a window in the wall)
(Memoir, 176-177).
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When he formed this experience into a poem on February 8, the same
day he wrote “The Swimmer of Nemi,” he focused on that red light:

A Winter Evening
(An hour after Nightfall, on Saturday, January 17, 1891)
[ToE.W.R.],

Here all the snow-drift lies thick and untrodden,
Cold, white, and desolate save where the red light
Gleams from a window in yonder high turret

And the poem ends:

Here in the dim, gloomy Via dell’'Mura,

Nought but the peace of the snow-drift unruffled,
Whitely obscure, save where from the window

High in the walls of the Medici Gardens

Glows a red shining, fierily bloodred.

What lies in the heart of thee, Night, thus so ominous?
What is they secret, strange joy or strange sorrow?

Why he chose this poem to dedicate to Edith we cannot know, but it is
tempting to speculate. Walking home, he observed the contrast between
the sweeping winds above and the relative peace below as the lightning
and thunder approached the city, the rush of wind and snow on one
side and wintry moonshine on the other. He was walking alone, and
the dedication to Edith suggests the poem was meant to describe the
experience for her. If so, he may intended the red light high in the dark
wall to represent Edith —a steady, though now remote, beacon of
warmth and contentment for the poet who, Edith having returned to
London, was alone and buffeted between periods of moonlit joy and
stormy depression.

In mid-January, the Sharps became more active in the literary and
artistic life of Rome, attending lectures and visiting art studios. Sharp’s
diary shows he was sampling a remarkable array of writers: Elie Reclus,
Pierre Loti, George Meredith, Robert Browning, Charles Swinburne,
Coventry Patmore, Antonio Fogazzaro, Gabriele D’Annunzio, Henrik
Ibsen, Edgar Allan Poe, Honoré de Balzac , and Charles Augustin
Sainte-Beuve. He wrote articles for the New York Independent and the
British National Review and a poem for Belford’s Magazine. He met Elihu
Vedder who wanted to know what the British press had written about
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his illustrations for Omar Khayam. On January 10, Sharp thanked Bliss
Carman, literary editor of the New York Independent, for sending the issue
of December 25 that printed his poem, “Paris Nocturne,” an unrhymed
impressionistic poem that anticipated those he was writing in Italy.

On January 30, Sharp turned in earnest to the poems that would
become Sospiri di Roma. By February 2, he had written fourteen and
remarked in his diary, “Such bursts of uncontrollable poetic impulse as
came to me today, and the last three days, only come rarely in each year.”
The next day, February 3, he sent several poems to Bliss Carman and
asked him to consider publishing them or send them to other American
editors for consideration. If accepted they should appear before the
volume of poems he planned to publish in March. On February 10
and 11, Sharp sat for a drawing by Charles Holroyd that became the
etched portrait Sharp used to face the title page of Sospiri di Roma. In
late February, Charles Ross, a Norwegian painter, asked Sharp to sit for
him and produced a pastel portrait that Elizabeth reproduced in the
Memoir (180). The many surviving portraits of Sharp suggest painters
and photographers considered him a handsome and imposing figure.

Fig. 14 Sir Charles Holroyd’s etching of William Sharp, which Sharp reproduced
for insertion opposite the title page of Sospiri di Roma, the book of poems
he wrote in Rome in January/February 1891 and published privately
in Tivoli in March 1891, https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/

Sospiri_di_Roma/jTODAQAAMAA]J?hl=en&gbpv=1
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Fig. 15 A pastel painting of William Sharp by the Norwegian painter Charles M.
Ross. Sharp sat for this portrait in Rome in early March 1891. This is a
photograph of the copy Elizabeth Sharp reproduced in her Memoir, taken

by William Halloran (2021).

Sharp arranged to have the poems printed by the Societa Laziale’s press
in Tivoli and continued writing and revising until mid-March when
Elizabeth left for Florence to spend more time with her aunt. Sharp went
to Tivoli for a few days to put the poems in final shape and oversee their
type setting. Julian Corbett, a prominent British naval historian who had
just published a biography of Sir Francis Drake, accompanied him, and
the two men spent mornings working and afternoons exploring Tivoli
and the surrounding hills. During a visit to the castle of San Poli dei
Cavalieri, they met a “comely woman” who gave them some wine. She
also told a tale that found its way, along with the town and surrounding
scenery, into Sharp’s “The Rape of the Sabines,” a convoluted story that
appeared the following year in the first and only issue of Sharp’s Pagan
Review.

Towards the end of the month Sharp joined Elizabeth in Pisa, and
from there they went to Arles in the south of France. On March 30,
Sharp sent Catherine Janvier a letter from Provence in which he told her
his Sospiri di Roma was being printed that very day


https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_Kingdom
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Naval_history
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to the sound of the Cascades of the Anio at Tivoli, in the Sabines — one
of which turns the machinery of the Sociéta Laziale’s printing-works. I
do hope the book will appeal to you, as there is so much of myself in
it. No doubt it will be too frankly impressionistic to suit some people,
and its unconventionality in form as well as in matter will be a cause of
offense here and there. You shall have one of the earliest copies (Memoir,
182-183).

About seventy-five copies were printed and sent to Sharp who sent them
to his friends and to newspapers and periodicals where they were most
likely to be well received. He told Catherine Janvier that Marseilles was
unattractive compared to Rome. He and Elizabeth preferred Arles, but it
paled in comparison to the hill towns of the Apennine and the Sabines:

When I think of happy days at the Lake of Nemi, high up in the Albans,
of Albano, and L’Ariccia, and Castel Gandolfo — of Tivoli, and the
lonely Montecelli, and S. Polo dei Cavalieri, and Castel Madamo and
Anticoli Corrado, etc., among the Sabines — of the ever new, mysterious,
fascinating Campagna, from the Maremma on the North to the Pontine
Marches, my heart is full of longing.... You will find something of
my passion for it, and of that still deeper longing and passion for the
Beautiful, in my “Sospiri di Roma,” which ought to reach you before the
end of April, or at any rate early in May.

Sharp was in Scotland on May 1 when he wrote again to Catherine
Janvier, this time about the critical response to Sospiri di Roma:

It is no good to any one or to me to say that I am a Pagan — thatI am “an
artist beyond doubt, but one without heed to the cravings of the human
heart: a worshipper of the Beautiful, but, without religion, without an
ethical message, with nothing but a vain cry for the return, or it may be the
advent, of an impossible ideal.” Equally absurd to complain that in these
“impressions” I give no direct “blood and bones” for the mind to gnaw
at and worry over. Cannot they see that all I attempt to do is to fashion
anew something of the lovely vision I have seen, and that I would as
soon commit forgery (as I told someone recently) as add an unnecessary
line, or “play” to this or that taste, this or that critical opinion. The chief
paper here in Scotland shakes its head over “the nude sensuousness
of ‘“The Swimmer of Nemi’, ‘The Naked Rider’, ‘The Bather’, ‘Foir di
Memoria’, “The Wild Mare’ (whose ‘fiery and almost savage realism!’
it depreciates — tho’ this is the poem which [George] Meredith says is
‘bound to live”) and evidently thinks artists and poets who see beautiful
things and try to fashion them anew beautifully, should be stamped out,
or at any rate left severely alone (Memoir, 185-186).
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Sharp objected to being called a “Pagan” if it connoted only unrestrained
sensuality and the absence of ethical messages and religious beliefs, but
the more he thought about the term, the more he warmed to it. The
unclothed statues he saw in and about Rome were certainly pre-Christian
and therefore Pagan. His descriptions of them in the Sospiri poems reflect
his renewed energy, sexual and artistic, his reawakened appreciation of
the beauty of the naked human form, and his incorporation of sensuality
into a wholistic view of human life. Those were the very qualities that
bothered the unnamed reviewer in Scotland’s chief paper, the Edinburgh
Scotsman (April 20, 1891, 3). Soon, as if to flaunt the reviewer, he would
appropriate the term and write under various pseudonyms the essays,
stories, and poems in his Pagan Review.

It is no wonder the conservative papers and journals that received
copies of the book were put off by its “nude sensuousness.” The male
swimmer in the Nemi poem is one of several white nudes — men
and women and even a white mare pursued and mounted by a dark
stallion — that populate the volume. Shortly after his previous volume
of poems — Romantic Ballads and Poems of Phantasy — appeared in 1888,
Sharp wrote to a “friend:”

I'am tortured by the passionate desire to create beauty, to sing something
of the “impossible songs” I have heard, to utter something of the rhythm
of life that has touched me. The next volume of romantic poems will be
daringly of the moment, vital with the life and passion of today.

Three years later he fulfilled that promise in a month-long burst of
creativity in Rome. He saw himself as part of a wider effort to break
through the constraints of late Victorianism, but the assault on poetic
forms and sexual norms that resulted from his “passionate desire to
create beauty” in Sospiri di Roma met resistance or avoidance among all
but a few close friends who shared his goals. George Meredith was one
of those friends. In a letter to Sharp, he praised the volume with some
reservations: “Impressionistic work where the heart is hot surpasses all
but highest verse.... It can be of that heat only at intervals. In “The Wild
Mare’ you have hit the mark.” That was the poem the reviewer in the
Scotsman criticized for its “fiery and almost savage realism.”

The Sharps stayed in Provence until the end of April. In early May
Sharp went to London and intended to go back to France where they



Chapter Seven: 1891 73

would spend the summer in the forest of Fontainebleau. While he was
away, Elizabeth became ill with an “insidious form of low fever” and
returned to England for treatment. Along with medication, she needed
rest so they went to Eastbourne on the Sussex coast for two weeks where
she could have the fresh sea air, and he could work undisturbed on
the Severn book. After several weeks Sharp went to see his mother in
Edinburgh while Elizabeth, restored to health, stayed with her mother
in London. In mid-July they met in York and went to Whitby on the
Yorkshire coast for six weeks. On August 21, back in London, Sharp asked
the editor of Blackwood’s Magazine if he might be interested in publishing
a story curiously entitled “The Second Shadow: Being the Narrative of
Jose Maria Santos y Bazan, Spanish Physician in Rome.” Blackwood’s
declined, but Bliss Carman published it on August 25, 1892 in the New
York Independent. From May until mid-August, Sharp spent most of his
working hours on his biography of Joseph Severn. Having finished the
last revisions on August 28, he and Elizabeth left for Stuttgart where
Sharp and Blanche Willis Howard would execute their collaboration.

For a title, the two writers adapted a line from Shakespeare’s
Othello — “A fellowe almost damned in a faire wife.” The main characters
of A Fellowe and His Wife would be a German Count and his beautiful
young Countess who goes to Rome to become a sculptor. Sharp drew
upon his experience in Rome to write the letters of the “faire wife”
while Howard drew upon hers in the German court to write the Count’s
replies. In Rome, the wife falls under the spell of a famous sculptor who
seduces and then betrays her. Though it takes a great deal of heightened
prose, especially on the wife’s part, the husband finally goes to Rome,
confronts the sculptor, forgives his wife, and takes her back to Germany.
Sharp’s decision to play the part of the Countess was logical enough
given his recent immersion in Rome. His easy adoption of the role
and his obvious pleasure in molding the female character through her
writing foreshadowed his decision to adopt a female authorial voice and
pseudonym for his first Fiona Macleod romance in 1894. Published in
both America and Britain in 1892, A Fellowe and His Wife contained a
good deal of Sharp’s enchantment with the beauty and culture of Rome
and Howard’s with the German aristocracy she recently joined.
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Sharp was energized by the warm fall weather in southern Germany
and by his relationship with Howard, who enjoyed being called the Frau
Hof-Arzt von Teuffel. In a letter to Catherine Janvier on September 3, he
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Fig. 16 BlancheWillisHoward,inF.E.Willard, AWomanofthe Century: Fourteen Hundred-
Seventy Biographical Sketches Accompanied by Portraits of Leading American
Women in All Walks of Life (Buffalo, N. Y.: Moulton, 1893), 735. Wikipedia,
https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:BLANCHE_WILLIS_
HOWARD_VON_TEUFFEL._A_woman_of_the_century_(page_745_

crop).jpg, Public Domain.

said he was “electrified in mind and body:”

The sun flood intoxicated me. But the beauty of the world is always
bracing — all beauty is. I seemed to inhale it — to drink it in — to absorb
it at every pore — to become it — to become the heart and soul within it.
And then in the midst of it all came my old savage longing for a vagrant
life: for freedom from the bondage we have involved ourselves in. I
suppose I was a gypsy once — and before that ‘a wild man o’ the woods.

He also wrote excitedly to Bliss Carman on September 3:

How strangely one drifts about in this world. Not many days ago I was
on the Yorkshire moors or along the seacoast by Whitby: a few days ago I
was in Holland, and rejoicing in the animated life of that pleasant ‘water-
land’: last Sunday I was strolling by the Rhine or listening to the music
in Cologne Cathedral. And now we are temporarily settled down in this
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beautiful Vine-land — in Stuttgart, the loveliest of all German capitals. It
is glorious here just now. The heat is very great, but I delight in it. These
deep blue skies, these vine clad hills all aglimmer with green-gold, this
hot joyous life of the South enthralls me — while this glorious flooding
sunshine seems to get into the heart and the brain.

He concluded the letter to Catherine Janvier on that high note:

Ihave had a very varied, and, to use a much-abused word, a very romantic
life in its external as well as in its internal aspects. Life is so unutterably
precious that I cannot but rejoice daily that I am alive: and yet I have no
fear of or even regret at the thought of death. There are many things far
worse than death. When it comes, it comes. But meanwhile we are alive.
The Death of the power to live is the only death to be dreaded.

With the Severn biography finally behind him, Sharp experienced in
Germany in September and October 1891 a joy that came powerfully,
seldom. Soon after arriving in Stuttgart, he confided in his diary, “What
a year this has been for me: the richest and most wonderful I have
known. Were I as superstitious as Polycrates I should surely sacrifice
some precious thing lest the vengeful gods should say, “Thou hast lived

17

too fully: Come

In his diary on September 6, Sharp called Howard a “charming
woman.” He “liked her better than ever” and had to remind himself he
was there to collaborate with her on a novel. Conscious of his propensity
to fall in love with attractive women, he wrote, “I must be on guard
against my too susceptible self.” In his late September annual birthday
letter to E. C. Stedman, he wrote more expansively:

I am here for a literary purpose — though please keep this news to
yourself meanwhile —i.e., collaborating with our charming friend
Blanche Willis Howard (von Teuffel) in a novel. It is on perfectly fresh
and striking lines, and will I think attract attention. We are more than
half through with it already. She is a most interesting woman and is of
that vigorous blond race of women whom Titian and the Palmas loved
to paint, and whom we can see now in perfection not in Venico but at
Chioggia, further down the Adriatic. But if I fall too deeply in love, it will
be your fault — for it was you who introduced me to her!I told her about
your birthday, and I think she is going to send you a line of greeting.
We see each other for several hours daily, or nightly, and — well,
literary life has its compensations! But our affectionate camaraderie is
as Platonic as — say, as yours would be in a like instance: so don’t drag



76 William Sharp and “Fiona Macleod”

from its mouldy tomb that cynic smile which lies awaiting the possible
resurrection of the Old Adam! Your ears must sometimes tingle as your
inner sense overhears our praises of you as man and writer.

He proceeded to tell Stedman he planned to visit America in early 1892
and give a series of public lectures in Boston, Philadelphia, Baltimore,
Cincinnati, Chicago, Buffalo, Albany, & perhaps elsewhere. He listed
fourteen topics ranging from the Pre-Raphaelites to “Poets and Poetry
Today” and asked Stedman for advice and assistance in making the
arrangements. More immediately, he and Elizabeth left Germany in
mid-October and returned to England via Amsterdam on October 20.

The extreme high Sharp experienced in Germany collapsed into
physical illness and a deep depression in London. Elizabeth wrote,
“The brilliant summer was followed by a damp and foggy autumn.
My husband’s depression increased with the varying of the year.” On
November 9 he spent all day at his London club — the Grosvenor — and
wrote as follows in a note to Elizabeth who was spending the day with
her mother.

I have been here all day and have enjoyed the bodily rest, the inner
quietude, and, latterly, a certain mental uplifting. But at first I was
deep down in the blues. Anything like the appalling gloom between
two and three-thirty! I could scarcely read or do anything but watch it
with a kind of fascinated horror. It is going down to the grave indeed
to be submerged in that hideous pall. As soon as I can make enough
by fiction or the drama to depend thereon, we’ll leave this atmosphere
of fog and this environment of deadening, crushing, paralysing death-
in-life respectability. Circumstances make London thus for us: for me at
least — for of course we carry our true atmosphere in ourselves — and
places and towns are, in a general sense, mere accidents (Memoir, 192).

In a December letter to Catherine Janvier he asked, “Do you not long
for the warm days — for the beautiful living pulsing South? This fierce
cold and gloom is mentally benumbing.” He looked forward to seeing
her in New York in three weeks and reading for her one of the pieces of
“intense dramatic prose” he had written in Germany.

While dealing with his depression and proceeding with his
“Dramatic Interludes,” Sharp had to return to his Severn biography. The
publisher — Sampson Lowe, Marston & Company — decided to issue
the work as one volume rather than two. He was forced to condense
the first volume and eliminate most of the second which chronicled



Chapter Seven: 1891 77

Severn’s life after Keats died, including the twenty years he spent as
British Counsel in Rome. He fashioned an article, “Joseph Severn and
His Correspondents,” to make use of some of the material he was
forced to eliminate from the biography. Horace Scudder published it in
the December 1891 issue of the Atlantic Monthly. In early December he
wrote to Scudder:

If practicable, within the next fortnight or 3 weeks I shall send you the
promised “Unpublished Incidents in the Life of Joseph Severn” (or such
title as you prefer). I am glad there is a chance of these reminiscences
appearing in a conspicuous place — for it appears that many people
both in America and here are mainly anticipating the record of Severn’s
consular life (partly, no doubt, after Ruskin’s splendid eulogium of him in
Praeterita) — which is, so far as the book is concerned, regrettable.

Scudder published that article as “Severn’s Roman Journals” in the May
1892 issue of the Atlantic.

On December 8 Sharp informed Bliss Carman he had booked
passage on the Teutonic which would sail from Liverpool on January
6 and arrive in New York on January 12 or 13. He had been forced to
postpone all lecturing.

I am going out partly to attend to some private literary business, best
seen to on the spot; partly to arrange for the bringing out in America of
a play of mine which is to be produced here; and partly to get a glimpse
of the many valued friends and acquaintances I have in N.Y. and Boston.
I shall be in N.Y. for three weeks at any rate. Perhaps later on, say in
your issue for the first week in January, you will be able to oblige me by
inserting in the Independent a para to the above effect: as this would save
me letting a lot of people know, and enable me to economize my limited
time.

According to Elizabeth, Sharp’s doctor had “strictly prohibited” him
from giving lectures in the United States. Once in New York, he used
that excuse to decline a request from a Harvard faculty member to
lecture there “upon a subject of contemporary literature.” His doctor
may have warned Sharp to avoid stress, but the fact that no lectures
were prepared followed a pattern of planning and then canceling. That
pattern, I believe, was rooted in a deep insecurity about the depth of his
knowledge which caused his weak heart to race uncontrollably before
and during any presentation to a potentially critical audience.






Chapter Fight
January—June 1892

Sharp left for America on January 6" aboard the Teutonic and arrived in
New York a week later where he stayed initially with the Stedmans at 173
West 78 Street. Through his friendship with the Stedmans and others he
met during his first visit to New York in 1889, he had immediate access
to the literary and publishing elite of the city. Chief among them was
Richard Henry Stoddard, a poet and man of letters who with Stedman
presided over the literary life of the city. Stedman also arranged for
Sharp to meet J. M. Stoddart who edited the prestigious Lippincott’s
Monthly Magazine in Philadelphia. When Sharp wondered if it might
be possible to meet Walt Whitman, who lived in Camden, New Jersey
across the Delaware River from Philadelphia, Stedman’s son Arthur,
who knew Whitman, offered to write a letter of introduction. Whitman
was a revered figure in the literary circles Sharp frequented in London,
and the possibility of meeting him was enormously attractive. After
arriving on Wednesday, January 13* Sharp went by train to Philadelphia
on the fifteenth and the next morning he called on Stoddart to discuss
articles he might write for publication in Lippincott’s. When Sharp said
he hoped to meet Whitman, Stoddart immediately contacted Horace
Traubel who clerked in a nearby bank.

A handsome man of thirty-four who was himself a poet, Traubel
was Whitman'’s principal caretaker and would be his literary executor
and biographer. He is best known for transcribing and compiling nine
volumes of daily conversations entitled With Walt Whitman in Camden.
His main concern in 1892 was keeping Whitman in good health and
good spirits. Unable to get his letter of introduction to Sharp before he
left New York, Stedman sent it to a Philadelphia bookseller for Sharp
to retrieve. Traubel said a letter of introduction was unnecessary and
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offered to take Sharp to Camden that afternoon to meet Whitman who
was bedridden, but able to receive guests. Sharp described the visit in
a letter to his wife. Whitman was lying in “his narrow bed, with his
white beard, white locks, and ashy-gray face in vague relief, in the
afternoon light, against the white pillows and coverlet.” They discussed
the London literary scene, and Sharp assured the ailing poet he was
revered by many British writers. In his parting words, Whitman gave
Sharp a mission:

William Sharp when you go back to England, tell those friends of whom
you have been speaking, and all others whom you may know and I donot,
that words fail me to express my deep gratitude to them for sympathy
and aid truly enough beyond acknowledgment. Good-bye to you and to
them — the last greetings of a tired old poet.

Two months after Sharp’s visit, Whitman died.

Fig. 17 Photograph of Walt Whitman and his nurse Fritzenger (1890). Wikimedia,
https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Whitman,_Walt_(1819-1892)_
and_his_male_nurse_Fritzenger.JPG, Public Domain.
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Fig. 18 Photograph of Horace Traubel (c. 1912). Wikimedia, https://commons.
wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Portrait_of_Horace_Traubel jpg, Public Domain.

After returning to New York, Sharp continued meeting with publishers
and friends. On Friday, he crossed the Hudson River with Henry Mills
Alden, editor of Harper’s Magazine, and spent the weekend with Alden’s
family in Metuchen, New Jersey. On Monday, he returned to the city
with Alden and boarded a train to Boston to meet Horace Scudder,
editor of the Atlantic Monthly, and visit Louise Chandler Moulton who
was frequently in London and shared Sharp’s affection for the Marston
family. He had considered extending his stay in America to talk with
more editors and publishers, but shortly after arriving in Boston he
received word of his younger brother Edward’s unexpected death and
decided to sail for home as planned the following Wednesday, February
3. He returned to New York on Thursday and spent the night with
Arthur Stedman. On Friday he moved to E. C. Stedman’s house, and on
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Saturday evening had dinner with Mrs. Thomas Harland, the mother of
Henry Harland, an American writer and a good friend who was living
in London. During the weekend he met again with Alden and, in a letter
thanking Scudder for his hospitality, reported Mrs. Alden’s health was
deteriorating. Scudder and Alden met as undergraduates at Williams
College and remained life-long friends. On Tuesday he moved to a mid-
town hotel and boarded the Majestic early the next morning.

The eighteen-day visit in the United States was pleasant and
productive. Sharp solidified his friendships with the editors of Harper’s
Magazine, the Atlantic Monthly, and the New York Independent and met
the editor of Lippincott’s Monthly Magazine. He gained a better idea of the
kind of articles and poems they would publish and discussed various
writing projects. Like so many British writers Sharp wanted to take
advantage of the growing American market. He received an offer from
a leading American theatrical manager to buy the rights to the play he
was writing based on A Fellowe and His Wife. Through Arthur Stedman,
he negotiated successfully with Charles Webster and Company for the
American publication of Romantic Ballads and Sospiri di Roma in a single
volume that appeared in the latter part of 1892 as Flower o’ the Vine. Sharp
wanted his friend Bliss Carman, a fellow poet, to write the introduction
to the volume, but Stedman preferred another friend of Sharp’s, Thomas
Janvier, a short story writer, not a poet, but better known than Carman.
Sharp relented and informed Stedman that Janvier would write the
introduction if properly compensated. A deal was struck, and Janvier
produced a glowing introduction for which Sharp was grateful.

After a rough mid-winter crossing, the Majestic arrived in Liverpool
on February 10. Sharp spent a few days recuperating in London before
going north on February 14 to comfort his mother. In Edinburgh, he
explained in a letter to Arthur Stedman why he was not enthusiastic
about giving his next book, which he now called “Dramatic Vistas,” to
Charles Webster as a follow-up publication to Flower o’ the Vine. Acting
as an agent for Webster and Company, Arthur had written to say Sharp’s
reluctance in this regard was “shabby.” Sharp said he did not wish to
issue these “new things in a new dramatic form” in an ordinary way,
but pseudonymously in a small privately printed edition. He believed
his reputation as an editor and enemies he made as a reviewer were
responsible for the lukewarm reception of his Romantic Ballads and
Sospiri di Roma.
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I have my own reasons for wishing to issue them in this way in the first
instance. They are new in method and manner, and are, I believe, the
best work of the kind I can do. Work of this kind is so dear to me that
I am relatively indifferent to its financial success: and, in addition, I am
particularly curious to see how these “Dramatic Vistas” will be received,
without any of the bias for or against involved in the attachment of my
name to them.

The Webster firm might publish a trade edition of the book as by Sharp,
but only after he issued a small private edition for friends and reviewers
under the pseudonym H. P. Siwdarmill, his anagram for William Sharp.
When he was in Germany working with Blanch Willis Howard on A
Fellowe and His Wife in October 1891, he purchased Maurice Maeterlinck’s
La Princess Maleine and Les Aveugles, read straight through them, and, in
his diary, called their author a “writer of singular genius.” According to
the diary, he produced over the next two days, under the influence of
Maeterlinck, five “Dramatic Interludes” which he intended to publish
pseudonymously. In late February 1892, the five interludes had grown
to eight entitled Dramatic Vistas. When the book finally appeared in 1894,
Sharp claimed authorship and dropped Dramatic, leaving just Vistas.

Back in London from Edinburgh by February 19, Sharp thanked
Thomas Janvier for a copy of his recently published The Uncle of an Angel
and Other Stories and said he was planning to settle down in London for
a period of intense writing. He had finished “Dramatic Vistas,” two or
three of which he read to Catherine Janvier in New York. In a letter of
February 23, he told Laura Stedman he had rented rooms at 11 Bedford
Gardens, near Campden Hill in Kensington which had a studio where
Elizabeth, who had many friends in the area, was doing some painting.
They took the rooms for only a brief period because they planned to
rent “a cottage or small house somewhere in the country — probably
at a place a few miles north of Cookham Dene and the Woods of
Waldegrave.” They would remove all their books and furniture from
storage, and “either live in it for weeks at a time, or for a day or two as
the humour takes us.” The house would provide a retreat where Sharp
could focus on “more serious and lasting work,” but it would have to be
near London so both Sharps could continue writing and reviewing for
the periodicals and papers.

Sharp’s Life and Letters of Joseph Severn finally appeared in late
February or early March, and in March, A Fellowe and His Wife was
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published by Osgood, Mcllvaine & Company in London and Houghton
and Mifflin & Company in Boston. It was issued simultaneously in
Germany in the Tauchnitz Collection of British Authors. In early March
Sharp visited Thomas Hardy in Dorset and produced an article on
Hardy that appeared in the July Forum. On March 9, he wrote a letter
to a new friend, ]. Stanley Little, an art critic who lived with his brother
George Leon Little, a painter, in Bucks Green, a small village in Sussex.
He asked Little if he knew of any cottages or small houses (two sitting
rooms, four bedrooms, and near a station) available for a modest rental.
He would come down and see anything that might be suitable.

By mid-April, the Sharps had given up their rented rooms
in Kensington. The return address on his April 13 letter to E. C.
Stedman — 16 Winchester Road | Swiss Cottage — was the home of
Edith and Frank Rinder. He told Stedman he was about to go to France
for some weeks and continued: “The ‘Old Adam’ calls me, and alas I am
weak.” Elizabeth, he said, had gone with friends to the Isle of Wight for
a week or so and would join him in Paris “three weeks hence.” He added
this passage: “My love to Mrs. Stedman — but do not let her know
that I am a backslider, as she already has but an indifferent opinion
of my much-tried virtue. I really am going to reform — but ‘owing to
unavoidable circumstances” must not begin all at once or too hurriedly!”
It is hard to read such a passage without speculating that Elizabeth and
William, in all their moving about and absences from each other, were
attempting to adjust to the presence of Edith Rinder in their lives, trying
to find spaces and places for Edith and William to be together. Some of
his letters from France imply Edith was with him for at least part of his
first two weeks there. His desire to be alone for periods of time with
Edith, which Elizabeth seems to have accepted, may have been a factor
in the plans for a house in Sussex.

Before he left for Paris Sharp returned the proofs of the “Sospiri
di Roma” section of Flower o” the Vine to Charles Webster along with
the manuscript of a new poem entitled “Epilogue | Il Bosco Sacro | To

./ In the letter accompanying the proofs, he said he would

not “let Sospiri appear again without the ‘Epilogue’ — which, to my
mind, is one of the most essential things in the book.” It is a love poem
in which the speaker, Sharp, is alone in a sacred grove [II Bosco Sacro] on
the Campagna where
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The Dusk, as a dream;
Steals slowly, slowly,
With shadowy feet
Under the branches
Here, in the woodland,
Hushfully seeking

the Night, her lover.

As dusk slowly turns into darkness there is silence, “Rest, utter rest |
Utter peace.” Then, suddenly, the speaker hears “thrilling | Long-
drawn vibrations! | Passionate preludes | Of passionate song!” But the
“wild music” and the “sweet song” are only a memory that soon fades.
The speaker recalls a day of rapture in the sacred grove:

Here, where we gather'd
The snow-pure blossoms,
The Flowers of Dream:
Here, when the sunlight
On that glad day
Flooded the mosses
With golden wine

And deep in the forest,
Joy passed us, laughing,
Laughing low,

While ever behind her
Rose lovely, delicate.
Beautiful, beautiful,

The fadeless blossoms,
The Flowers of Dream.

He asks his beating, yearning heart to be sill as now there is only silence.

Here, where the moonlight,
Lies like white foam on
The dark tides of night.
Here is one only,

Longing forever,

Longing, longing

With passion and pain.

He cries out to his “beloved,” but there is no answer, only silence. Still,
he retains the memory of the rapture, the glad voice of his passion sings
there “Out of the heart of | The fragrant darkness.” His “soul’s desire” is
“never| Lost though afar, | My Joy, my Dreams.” The poem ends:
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Too deep the rapture
Of this sweet sorrow,
Of this glad pain:

O heart, still thy beating
O bird, thy song!

The Dusk, as a dream; The dedicatee following the title was left blank,
but the poem was intended for Edith Rinder who, after she returned to
London, was “afar,” but “never lost.” All the poems in the volume were
written after Edith left Rome, but they were inspired by his recollections
of their time together on the Campagna and reflect Sharp’s joy in the
love they shared and his sorrow after her departure. He insisted the
poem be included as an epilogue to the Sospiri poems because it neatly
summarizes the central theme of the entire volume.

Sharp’s insistence on adding the “Epilogue” while omitting
the “Preface” to the 1888 Romantic Ballads and Poems of Phantasy is
significant. The “Preface” announced the dawn of a new Romanticism
in which imagination would take precedence over formal perfection in
poetry. The poems in that volume initiated the dawning age, but his
next volume would reflect its full glory. “I am tortured by the passionate
desire to create beauty, to sing something of the “impossible songs’ I have
heard, to utter something of the rhythm of life that has most touched
me.” The next poems “will be daringly of the moment, vital with the life
and passion of today, yet not a whit less romantic.” Three years passed
before he was able to realize that objective in a burst of creativity. The
“Epilogue” added to the sospiri section of Flower o’ the Vine typifies the
sensuousness that infused those poems but was absent in the “romantic
ballads” of the 1888 volume. Influenced by the nude statuary in and
around Rome and by the frank sexuality he experienced or imagined
during his walks on the Roman Campagna, the “beauty” he sought in
the sospiri poems included that of the human body framed by the beauty
of the natural world. The two sections of Flower o the Vine reflect what
Sharp viewed as a progression from the elusive romanticism announced
as a “new movement” in the 1888 “Preface” to the sensuality of the
“Epilogue”: “daringly of the moment and vital with life and passion.”
The very title of the volume, Flower o’ the Vine, evokes Bacchus, who
frequents the sospiri poems in various guises. By mid-1892, Sharp had
found a name for the transformation he experienced in Rome in 1891.
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The sospiri poems were an initial expression of the Paganism he would
soon proclaim more directly in his Pagan Review.

On April 23, Sharp thanked Thomas Janvier for his over-generous
introduction to Flower o’ the Vine, which he read in proofs from the
Webster firm:

I thank you most heartily for what you say there, which seems to me,
moreover, if I may say so, at once generous, fittingly reserved, and likely
to win attention. You yourself occupy such a high place in Letters oversea
that such a recommendation of my verse cannot but result to my weal.

He told Janvier he was trying to keep down his “too cosmopolitan
acquaintanceship” in Paris and assured him that “after the second of
May” he was “going to reform and remain reformed.” In the meantime,
“after a week or so of the somewhat feverish Bohemianism of literary
and artistic Paris, we shall be happy at our ‘gypsy’ encampment in the
Forest of Fontainebleau.” The “we” implies Edith Rinder was with him
both in Paris and at the “encampment.” If so, she must have returned
home by May 2 when Elizabeth, having succeeded her husband as the
paper’s London art critic, arrived to review the Salons for the Glasgow
Herald. Sharp described for Janvier the beauty of Paris in the spring,
mentioned a chance meeting with Paul Verlaine, and listed some of the
writers and artists he was meeting:

Iwentround to Leon Vanier’s, where there were many of les Jeunes — Jean
Moréas, Maurice Barrés, Cazalis, Renard, Eugene Holland, and others
(including your namesake, Janvier). To-night I ought to go to the weekly
gathering of a large number of les Jeunes at the Café du Soleil d’Or, that
favourite meeting place now of les decadents, les ymbolists, and les
everything else.

He concluded by listing his plans for the rest of the year:

(1) Lill joins me in Paris about 10 days hence and remains to see the two
Salons, etc.

(2) From the middle of May till the middle (14") of July we shall be in
London.

(3) Then Lill goes with friends to Germany, to Bayreuth (for Wagnerian
joys) and I go afoot and aboat among the lochs and isles and hills of the
western Scottish Highlands.

(4) We meet again in Stirling or Edinburgh, early in August — and then,
having purchased or hired a serviceable if not a prancing steed, we go off
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for three weeks vagabondage. The steed is for Lill and our small baggage
and a little tent. We’ll sometimes sleep out: sometimes at inns, or in the
fern in Highlander’s cottages. Thereafter I shall again go off by myself to
the extreme west “where joy and melancholy are one, and where youth
and age are twins” as the Gaelic poet says.

(5) The rest of September visiting in Scotland.

(6) Part of October in London then (O Glad Tidings).

(7) Off for 6 months to the South: first to the Greek side of Sicily: then
to Rome (about Xmas) for the Spring. Finally: a Poor-House in London.

Few of these plans materialized because J. Stanley Little found a house
available for leasing in Bucks Green, a small hamlet in Sussex. The
Sharps planned to visit it in the first weekend of June, but Elizabeth, on
June 3, developed an extremely high fever, a relapse of the malaria she
contracted in France in the spring. Sharp went alone to Bucks Green on
June 7, liked the house, and signed a three-year lease. When Elizabeth
recovered, she visited the house and described it in the Memoir (200) as

a little eight-roomed cottage, near Rudgwick, with a little porch, an
orchard and garden, and small lawn with a chestnut tree in its midst... .
[1t] stood at the edge of a little hamlet called Bucks Green, and across the
road from our garden gate stood the one shop flanked by a magnificent
poplar tree, that made a landmark however far we might wander. It was
a perpetual delight to us.

In a history of Bucks Green, Roger Nash of the Rudgwick Preservation
Society identified the house leased by the Sharps as the Toll House
which

was built in the curtilage of the smithy, first called Arun Villas, then
The Laurels, then Phenice Croft, before its present post-war name
[Toll House]. The name Phenice Croft (a place in Crete, referred to
in the Bible) was given by William Sharp about 1892, who lived there
somewhat secretly, for 2 years. He was a much-travelled Scottish writer
of a troubled disposition who invented his pseudonym ‘Fiona McCloud’
whilst writing a book titled Pharais in Bucks Green. He was a friend of
another literati, Stanley Little, who lived in Rudgwick rather longer, and
at the time was lodging at Bucks Green Place. Both, I think, were drawn
to the area by its Shelley connections.
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Fig. 19 Early twentieth-century photograph of the house across the road
from the Sharp’s Phenice Croft in Bucks Green, Rudgwick Sussex. ©
Rudgwick Preservation Society. Courtesy of Roger Nash, Chair, Rudgwick

Preservation Society, https://www.rudgwick-rps.org.uk

Fig. 20 Mid-twentieth-century photograph of Bucks Green, Rudgwick, Sussex.
Phenice Croft, now the Toll House, is across the road from the building, now
white, which housed the shop. © The Francis Frith Collection, https://www.

francisfrith.com/bucks-green/bucks-green-the-village-c1965_b587001

According to Nash,

In 1890 James Stanley Little and his brother George Leon Little lived in
Bucks Green at The Kraal, a house in Lynwick St, now called The Old
School House. In 1891, J Stanley Little lived at Bucks Green Place with
William Kensett, a dairy farmer who was a near neighbor of the Sharps.
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The Sharps would not have become residents of Bucks Green if Stanley
Little had not found them a house they liked.

For the remainder of June Sharp corresponded regularly with Little
about the house. On the twenty-second, he asked Little to tell a man
named Napper that “Mr. Sharp says he has nothing to do with any extra
labour unauthorised by him, and that this engaging extra assistance
without consulting him first, is a thing he will not tolerate again.” He
also passed on specific instructions from Elizabeth:

She would like (if nothing has yet been done) if the paint of the stairway,
landing, and doors belonging thereto be done in a dark red (Pompeian
red) — of one colour only, instead of the two shades already approved to
match the paper. The doors in the Hotel at Littlehampton are responsible
for this change of view. Again, if the drawing room has not been gone
on with, we would now like if the painting of the skirting, doors, and
mantel piece be uniformly of the pale tint of yellow, instead of the pale
and yellow, as first arranged — but the inside of the doorless cupboard
to be entirely of the deeper shade of yellow.

Sharp expected to “enter the house with the furniture about the 13™
or 14% of July — just when E. goes away for a fortnight to Germany.”
At the close of June 1892, the Sharps were set for a new phase of their
lives in a house in rural Sussex called “The Laurels.” They rechristened
it first “Kingscroft” in recognition of a former resident named King and
then settled on “Phenice Croft” which combined the Greek name for
the Phoenix, a unique bird that burned itself on a funeral pyre and rose
from the ashes with renewed youth to live through another cycle, and
the Scottish name for a rural cottage (croft). The stage was set for their
“renewal,” a period of concentrated writing in which Sharp produced
first the Pagan Review and the early writings of Fiona Macleod.

When my wife and I drove south from London and found Phenice
Croft in 1965, it was called the Toll House and occupied by a gracious
couple who welcomed us into the house and introduced us to guests
they were entertaining on the rear patio. They were interested in what
we were able to tell them about the Sharps and their occupancy of the
house in 1890s. Only recently, thanks to Roger Nash, have we learned
what a distinguished occupancy the former Phenice Croft enjoyed
in the 1960s. Our hosts that day were Admiral Sir Randolph Stewart
Gresham Nicholson and his wife Cecilia. Nicholson commanded ships
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that survived several encounters with the enemy in the first and second
World Wars. Promoted to Admiral in 1943, he became Deputy to the
Commander-in Chief of the Eastern Fleet in 1944. Following the war,
he was appointed Admiral Commander of Her Majesty’s Dockyard in
Devonport. Upon his retirement in 1950, he was granted a knighthood
(KCB), and between 1953 and 1958 he served as Lieutenant Governor
of Jersey. The Nicholsons acquired the Toll House in 1950 and
refurbished it in a style befitting a distinguished Admiral. After a life of
accomplishments, Nicholson died in 1975 at the age of eighty-two, and
his wife died in 1980. Since they vacated the house, its residents have
been uninterested in its history and less gracious in welcoming those
who are.






Chapter Nine
July—December 1892

On July 8, Sharp apologized to Julia Ward Howe’s daughter, Maud
Howe Elliott, for being unable to entertain her since he had no residence
in London. His wife, moreover, was leaving in a few days for the Wagner
festival in Bayreuth, and he was “going into Sussex to superintend the
arrival of our furniture at a country place I have taken there.” Elizabeth
left for Germany on July 11, and the next day Sharp went down to Bucks
Green, Sussex, where he stayed with Stanley Little until the furniture
arrived. When Elizabeth returned from Bayreuth in the third week of
July she joined her husband, and they settled into the old stone house
that would be their home for two years.

On July 10 Sharp wrote a letter that includes his response to Little’s
request that he give the main address at an early August celebration
Little was organizing to commemorate the centennial of Percy Bysshe
Shelley’s birth. The letter contains details about the state of his health
and his opinions about several contemporary writers.

And now about the Shelley address. For several reasons it would be a
pleasure as well as an honour — but the truth is that I dare not venture
just now on anything of the kind, for physiological reasons. My doctor
has just warned me of this vein-trouble that I have not yet satisfactorily
got under. The least thing may bring it back — and this must not be, as
it might easily become dangerous (“clotting”). One requisite is — not to
stand. Walking does not now hurt me if in moderation: but even a short
stand involves pain and discomfiture. And though I may be all right
again by the end of the month I really must not risk the danger involved
in the fatigue of standing to address.

In 1892, when he was thirty-seven, Sharp developed symptoms of
diabetes; and his heart, weakened by rheumatic fever in 1884, was not
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moving blood through his veins with sufficient strength. Standing
without moving risked the possibility of serious blood clots in his legs.
He told Little he could write an address for him or someone else to
read, but it would be far better to have a prominent Shelleyan give the
address. He thought the best choice would be Stopford Brooke, next
Edward Dowden (two Irishmen), next Roden Noel, next John Nichol
(two Scotsmen), next Sir George Douglas, or why not Little himself who
was organizing the event. Richard Garnett, Sharp warned, was “not a
good speaker and has not the right manner,” and surely not H. Buxton
Forman who was “a jellyfish” and “a Philistine of the Philistines in
manner and address.”

Shelley was born in Horsham, Sussex on August 4, 1792, and the
commemoratory event took place there on August 4, 1892. It was
described in an article in the August 11 issue of the West Sussex Gazette
which may have been written by Stanley Little. The venue was the
stately home of Mr. Hurst of Horsham Park “with its beautiful gardens
laughing in the sunlight of a lovely summer day” and affording “to
visitors no untrue glimpse of the surroundings amid which Shelley as
the son of an English squire was brought up.” Many literary luminaries
attended; and “The hall was crowded; all classes were represented, and
Horsham, the county, and London, divided the audience fairly amongst
them.” Following Sharp’s advice and with his help, Little engaged as the
principal speaker Professor John Nichol with whom Sharp studied at
Glasgow University. The September issue of The Artist reported “What
Nichol said about Shelley, at Horsham, was the very thing that needs tobe
said.” He “completely carried his audience.” The organizers, principally
Little, were “brilliantly successful in their arrangements.” With Sharp as
his adviser, Little gathered a committee and many illustrious sponsors to
raise money for a Shelley Museum in Horsham, and their efforts survive
today as a substantial collection of books, manuscripts, portraits, and
sculptures in the Shelley Gallery of the Horsham Museum.

Sharp’s July 10 letter to Little asked him to tell the Bucks Green
postman the house formerly called the Laurels was now Phenice Croft.
All mail addressed to the Sharps and all mail addressed to Mr. W. H.
Brooks at Bucks Green, Rudgwick was to be placed in a post bag to be
picked up by a boy in the forenoons. Sharp had settled on the Pagan
Review as the name of the quarterly he would produce at Phenice Croft,
and it would be edited by W. H. Brooks, a pseudonym for Sharp and
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Fig. 21 Park House, Horsham, Sussex. Photograph by Whn64 (2013), Wikimedia,
https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Horsham_-_horsham_park.
jpg, CC BY-SA 3.0.

a nod to his maternal grandfather, William Brooks, the Swedish Vice-
Counsel in Glasgow and the last person in all of Scotland to edit — or
to read — a Pagan Review. Sharp would write the entire content of the
first issue under various pseudonyms. He began working on the content
when he and Elizabeth were staying in the Cairds” house in Northbrook,
Micheldever in early June. His diary entry for June 2 begins: “In the
early forenoon, after some pleasant dawdling, began to write the Italian
story, “The Rape of the Sabines,” which I shall print in the first instance
in my projected White Review as by James Marazion.” The color white
had figured prominently in the poems of Sospiri di Roma, white marble
statues, white flowers, white statues, and white human bodies, but as
the content of the review evolved “pagan” supplemented “white” in the
magazine’s title. In an April 23 letter from Paris Sharp addressed the
Janviers as “fellow Pagans.” He was drawn to the “feverish Bohemianism
of literary and artistic Paris,”and it may have been in Paris that he settled
on the term “Paganism” to define his encounter with the remnants of
the Roman past in Italy and his desire to join the decadents in breaching
the restraints of high Victorianism.

Dennis Denisoff and Loraine Kooistra in Yellow Nineties Online
describe the “Foreword” to the Pagan Review as having “the urgency of
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a manifesto [...] declaring on behalf of the ‘younger generation’ that the
magazine’s contributors challenged both the religion and the ideals of
their forefathers.”

The editor’s apparent preference for authors with French names,
the foreword’s discussion of art for art’s sake, and the publication’s
references to Charles Baudelaire, Theophile Gautier, Oscar Wilde [...]
signal Sharp’s wish to have his readers associate the magazine with
aestheticism. By 1892, the Aesthetic Movement had already had a lengthy
run of popularity and was shifting into its final, decadent phase [...] To
this phase of the Aesthetic Movement, the Pagan Review offers a notable
contribution.

“Its emphasis,” they continue, is “on the dissident, mythic, and obscure.
Its tendency toward overwrought descriptions and archaic dialogue
are reminiscent of decadent authors and artists, [...] and its mystical
depictions of alternative gods and spiritualities aligns it with paganism
in a more earnest and disconcerting way than many other British
contributions to the decadent movement.”

Having announced in the preface to Romantic Ballads in 1888 the
advent of a new Romanticism, Sharp added to that initiative in 1891 the
sensuality and escape from rhyme in Sospiri di Roma. By the summer of
1892, he had settled on “New Paganism” as the name of the movement
he was trying to launch and for which the Pagan Review served as a
manifesto. Its “first number,” dated August 15, 1892, contained:

A lengthy unsigned “Foreward.”
Two poems: “The Coming of Love” by W. S. Fanshaw
“An Untold Story” by Lionel Wingrave
Three stories: “The Pagans: A Memory” by Willand Dreeme
“The Rape of the Sabines” by James Marazion
“The Oread: A Fragment,” by Charles Verlaine
A Fragment of a Lyrical Drama: “Dionysos in India” by Wm.
Windover
A “dramatic interlude”: “The Black Madonna” by W. S. Fanshaw
A review by “S” of Stuart Merrill’s Pastels in Prose (Harper &
Brothers, New York, 1890).

All that was followed by a series of comments by the editor (signed W.
H. B.) on recently published works of literature by well-known writers,
many Sharp’s friends, including Swinburne, Hardy, Meredith, Hall
Caine, and Stuart Merrill. And finally, an advertisement that the next
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issue of the Review would include an article titled “The New Paganism”
by H. P. Siwdarmill, the anagram of William Sharp, he invented the
previous fall in Germany for the author of the “Dramatic Interludes.” In
the Pagan Review one such interlude, “The Black Madonna,” is attributed
to W. S. Fanshawe. When the dramatic interludes were published in
1894 as Vistas, their author was William Sharp. The back cover of the
Pagan Review contained an advertisement which combined the two
titles: Vistas: Dramatic Interludes by W. S. Fanshawe which would soon
be printed privately. Each of these items merits discussion for what they
reveal about Sharp’s state of mind, what he hoped to accomplish as a
writer, and his method of composition. Two stand out because they are
directly traceable to his April/May experience in Paris.

First, the review of Stuart Merrill’s Pastels in Prose which contains
Merrill’s translations of “prose poems” by contemporary French
writers. The review associates the Pagan Review with the symbolist
poets and the decadence infusing literature in Paris and London. It also
reflects Sharp’s genuine interest in alternatives to rhymed and cadenced
poetry. The prose poem differs, he wrote in the review, from a “quoted
specimen of poetic prose.” It must be brief and complete in itself, the
equivalent of a pastel in the art of painting. The pastel artist must be
“what is somewhat too vaguely called an impressionist” whose aim is
“suggestion, not imitation.” The prose poem is “a consciously-conceived
and definitely-executed poetic form.” Sharp concluded the review by
quoting from William Dean Howells’s description of the form in his
introduction to Merrill’s book: “The very life of the form is its aerial
delicacy: its soul is that perfume of thought, of emotion, which these
masters here have never suffered to become an argument. They must be
appreciated with sympathy by whoever would get all their lovely grace,
their charm that comes and goes like the light in beautiful eyes.” Sharp
experimented with this form in the writings of Fiona Macleod.

Second, “The Pagans: A Memory” by Willand Dreeme, which is
identified as “Book One” and, at the end, “To be Continued.” As with the
poems of Sospiri di Roma, the story recounts Sharp’s personal experience
overlaid by dreams and imaginings. Unlike the sospiri, a pseudonym
removes the possibility of identifying the true source of the experiences.
The appendage to the title (“A Memory”) and the name of the author
(Willand Dreeme) invite the reader to wonder if the content is Willand'’s



98 William Sharp and “Fiona Macleod”

memory or his dream. It is impossible to divorce the real author of the
story, William Sharp, from its supposed author, Willand Dreeme, and
equally impossible to separate its real author and supposed author from
the story’s narrator and main character, Wilfred Traquair, who is called
Will. As might be expected, Sharp’s relatives and close friends called him
Will The title signals the story as the most pagan of the contributions to
the Pagan Review, and the three quotations of its preface — from George
Eeckhoud’s Kermesses, from “The Song of Solomon,” and from Oscar
Wilde — associate it with the Belgium/French/English decadence.

Sharp wrote the story on June 3 and 4, less than a month after
returning from France. The story’s narrator, Wilfred Traquair, recalls
walking with Clair, his beloved, in a warm Italian landscape among the
trees “‘under the deep blue wind-swept sky” where they “first realized
each had won from the other a lifetime of joy.” His recollection is Sharp’s
recollection of his walks with Edith Rinder on the Roman Campagna
fifteen months earlier.

The snow lay deep by the hedges, and we had to slip through many a drift
before we reached the lonely woodland height whither we were bound.
But was there ever snow so livingly white, so lit with golden glow? Was
ever summer sky more gloriously blue? Was ever spring music sweeter
than that exquisite midwinter hush, than that deep suspension of breath
before the flood of our joy?

Eventually Clair returned to Paris and the narrator, Will Traquair,
to the London he “hated so much, there to write things about which
I cared not a straw, while my heart was full of you, and my eyes saw
you everywhere, and my ears were haunted day and night by echoes of
your voice.” When he accumulated enough money to be independent
of London, he went to Paris to meet Clair. Shifting effortlessly between
directly addressing his beloved and third-person narration, he recalls
his joy in finding “we loved each other more than ever”:

Those hours at twilight, in the Luxembourg Gardens, when the thrush
would sing as, we were sure, never nightingale sang in forest-glade, or
Wood of Broceliande: those hours in the galleries, above all before our
beloved Venus in the Louvre; ah, beautiful hours, gone forever, and yet
immortal, because of the joy that they knew and whereby they live and
are even now fresh and young and sweet with their exquisite romance.
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They were even happier when they left Paris behind and went away
together, “as light-hearted as the April birds, as free as the wind itself.”

Letters Sharp wrote from Paris in April to E. C. Stedman, Thomas
Janvier, and J. Stanley Little, implied the woman he loved was with
him in Paris for the last two weeks of April after which he intended
to “reform.” Though details differ, this story about the two Pagans
parallels the experiences of Sharp and Edith: their meeting in Rome
in December 1890, their parting when she returned to London in early
January, and Sharp’s recent escape from London to Paris where the
April birds were singing. Sharp may have been recounting only what he
imagined it would have been like to have Edith with him in Paris, but
the innuendos are so telling, the parallels so obvious, and the writing
so impassioned it is hard to avoid concluding she was there. As in the
Sospiri poems after Edith left Rome, so in this story, Sharp’s intense
feelings begged for release. The adolescent tinge to the writing suggests
Sharp was recounting his first experience of falling passionately in
love. William and Elizabeth were first cousins who became engaged as
teenagers. Their relationship, while close, was from the start a meeting
of minds and a matter of convenience. It developed over time into a
deep friendship in which Elizabeth functioned as a protector, nurse, and
enabler overseeing the well-being of her “poet.” It was only after Sharp’s
experience with Edith in Rome that impassioned love affairs became a
prominent theme of his writings.

The body of “The Pagans: A Memory” contains a long and detailed
description of the beautiful Clair. She is a painter living with her brother,
also a painter, who is hyper-concerned about his reputation and status.
Clair’s skin was “pale as ivory, but “touched with a delicious brown,
the kiss of sunshine and fresh air.” It was “in keeping with the rich dark
of her hair and sweeping eyebrows and long lashes.” The description
mirrors a portrait of Edith Rinder known as the “Lady Green Sleeves,”
reflecting the green velvet dress she wore for the sitting and referencing
both the sixteenth century English folk song “A Newe Northen Dittye of
ye Ladye Greene Sleves” and Daniel Gabriel Rossetti’s painting of that
mythical woman of great beauty.

Clair’s brother disapproves of her relationship with Wilfred and
threatens to take away her inheritance, as is his right, if she persists, but
persist she does. She leaves her brother and goes off with Will, flouting
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Fig. 22 Photograph of Edith Wingate Rinder known as “My Lady Greensleeves”
reflecting the green velvet dress she wore for the sitting (c. 1894). The
pose mirrors many of the paintings of the Pre-Raphaelite Brotherhood,
especially those of Dante Gabriel Rossetti. Photographer unknown.

Courtesy of Fig the Rinder family.

Fig. 23 Daniel Gabriel Rossetti, My Lady Greensleeves (1872). Oil on panel, 33 x
27.3 cm. Harvard Art Museums, Fogg Museum. Wikimedia, https://
commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Dante_Gabriel_Rossetti_-_My_Lady_

Greensleeves_-_1943.203_-_Fogg_Museum.jpg, Public Domain.
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her brother’s standards of acceptable behavior and his beliefs about the
subservience of women to men. As they leave, the brother gives Wilfred
a letter addressed to a “Vagrant, of God-knows where” which reads:

That my sister has chosen to unite herself with a beggarly Scot [emphasis
added] is her pitiable misfortune: that she has done so without the
decent veil of marriage is her enormity and my disgrace. [...] neither
you nor the young woman need ever expect the slightest tolerance, much
less practical countenance from me. You are both at liberty to hold, and
carry out, the atrocious opinions (for I will not flatter you by calling them
convictions) upon marriage which you entertain or profess to entertain.
I, equally, am at liberty to abstain from contagion of such unpleasant
company, and to insist henceforth upon an unsurmountable barrier
between it and myself.

It is pleasantly ironic that Sharp’s extensive and bitter expression of the
conservative of marriage he opposed is directed against a “beggarly
Scot” named Will. The story ends: “Outcasts we were, but two more
joyous pagans never laughed in the sunlight, two happier waifs never
more fearlessly and blithely went forth into the green world.” Though
the story was “To be continued” it was not, but it would be told over
and over again with different characters in the stories Sharp would tell
as Fiona Macleod. The beginning sentences of “The Pagans” speaks of
Clair Auriol in the past tense. The wonderful relationship has ended
with no reason given. A true romantic, Sharp focused on the beginnings
of passionate relationships not their inevitably sad endings. This story
is the first of many renditions of the impossibility of permanence in his
relationship with Edith since neither could sever their marital ties, she
to Frank Rinder and he to Elizabeth Sharp.

Sharp sent copies of his Pagan Review to friends and editors of
periodicals where it might warrant notice. He sought subscribers at
twelve shillings a year, and he welcomed contributions of short stories
and poems that conformed to the purposes described in the first
number’s Foreword. On August 13 Sharp wrote to E. C. Stedman from
Selsey Bill on the Sussex Coast, where he and Elizabeth had gone to
escape the “extreme heat” of Bucks Green. He was sending a copy of the
Pagan Review, and he confessed he was responsible for all its contents. It
was to be the voice of “Neo-Paganism,” a “new movement in letters [ ...]
unlike any that has taken place in England before, in the Victorian Age
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at any rate: though indeed it is a movement that is at hand rather than

really forward.” Sharp was initiating yet another “movement.”
Stedman subscribed, but must have expressed reservations since

Sharp’s letter to him on September 28 contained the following passage:

I thank you for your lovely & friendly letter. I feel there is a good leaven of
truth, to say the least, in what you say about the “Pagan Review.” But set
your mind at rest: the poor thing is dead. There is a possible resurrection
for it next year as a quarterly, but this is still in nubibus. It has, however,
so far accomplished its aim of stimulus among the younger people, and
that is good. I return herewith your subscription, with sincerest thanks.
Have mislaid it. No time to hunt for it now. Hope to send it by next post.
By the way, keep your P/R. It is already being sought by collectors. I can
send you another if you wish.

Elizabeth said the Pagan Review was born of Sharp’s “mental attitude at
that moment, ... a sheer reveling in the beauty of objective life and nature,
while he rode the crest of the wave of health and exuberant spirits that
had come to him in Italy after his prolonged illness and convalescence”
(Memoir, 204-207). He soon realized he could not continue the Review as
it would be hard to repeat the tour de force, and he had other projects in
mind. Elizabeth agreed the one number had served its purpose “for by
means of it he had exhausted a transition phase that had passed to give
way to the expression of his more permanent self.” In other words, the
Review was a step toward the writings of Fiona Macleod.

Sharp returned all the subscriptions and submissions with the
following memorial card:

On the 15th of September, still-born The Pagan Review.

Regretted by none, save the affectionate parents and a few forlorn
friends, The Pagan Review has returned to the void whence it came. The
progenitors, more hopeful than reasonable, look for an unglorious but
robust resurrection at some more fortunate date. “For of such is the
Kingdom of Paganism.”

In a “solemn ceremony,” with Sharp’s sister Mary and Stanley Little as
“mourners,” they buried the Review in a corner of the garden at Phenice
Croft and marked the spot with a framed inscription.

Robert Murray Gilchrist, a writer Sharp corresponded with when
he edited the “Literary Chair” of Young Folk’s Papers, submitted a story
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for the Pagan Review called “The Noble Courtesan,” which Sharp read
with interest. Writing first as W. H. Brooks in early October, Sharp
said he thought it would be much improved “by less — or more
hidden — emphasis on the mysterious aspect of the woman’s nature. She
is too much the “principle of Evil,” the ‘modern Lilith.”” Then on October
22, he wrote again, this time as William Sharp, to thank Gilchrist for
his “friendly and cordial article” about the Pagan Review in The Library.
When the Review is revived next year as a quarterly, Sharp wrote, he
would look to Gilchrist “as one of the younger men of notable talent to
give a helping hand.” Born in Sheffield in 1867, Gilchrist was apprenticed
to a manufacturer of cutlery after attending grammar school. In 1888
he decided to become a writer, left the apprenticeship, and moved to
Highcliffe Farm, near the village of Eyam several miles southwest of
Sheffield in Derbyshire. He was soon joined there by George Alfred
Garfitt, who was also born and educated in Sheffield. Five years older
than Gilchrist, Garfitt may have been a fellow apprentice. In any case, he
became a manufacturer of cutlery, an amateur historian, and Gilchrist’s
life-long partner. Sharp concluded his letter to Gilchrist by asking him
to visit Phenice Croft when he next came south. “I can offer you a lovely
country fare, a bed, and a cordial welcome.” As it happened, Gilchrist
and Garfitt did not visit Phenice Croft until 1894, but Sharp visited them
in Eyam in September 1893. At this first meeting, the three men formed
a close friendship that lasted many years and impacted the course of
Sharp’s publications.

It is a matter of some interest that when John Lauritsen established
his Pagan Press in 1982 to publish “books of interest to the intelligent
gay man” the first book he published was Edward Carpenter’s Iolius,
An Anthology of Friendship which had been out of print for many years.
In 1891, when Carpenter was teaching in Sheffield, he met and formed
a relationship with George Merrill, a working-class man twenty-two
years his junior. In 1898 they began living together in rural Millthorpe,
Derbyshire only a few miles from Holmesfield, Derbyshire where
Gilchrist and Garfitt had moved into the family’s large manor house
they shared with Gilchrist’s mother and sisters. The two couples became
close friends. Both chose, quite sensibly, to live quiet lives miles away
from the uproar caused by the Oscar Wilde trial in London. Paganism,
a fascination with pre-Christian Roman and Greek civilizations, has
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a long history preceding and following Sharp’s “New Paganism.” By
necessity if not by choice, Sharp’s paganism was heterosexual, but he
had many homosexual friends, and he was comfortable with love and
desire no matter its form. He would be amused by the coincidental
linkage a century later of his “New Paganism” with the first product of
Lauritsen’s Pagan Press by a writer, Edward Carpenter, who, with his
same-sex partner, was a near neighbor and close friend of Sharp’s close
friend, Robert Murray Gilchrist, and his same-sex partner, in remote
Derbyshire.

In Sharp’s August 13 letter to Stedman, he objected to Stedman
classifying him as “an Australian poet” in the latest edition of his study
of Victorian poets and asked him to remedy that error in the volume’s
next edition. After describing the Pagan Review and asking Stedman
what he thought of it, Sharp continued:

By the time you get this — no, a week later — I shall be in Scotland, I
hope. My wife cannot go north this year. If all goes well — this ought
to be one of the happiest experiences of a happy life. I cannot be more
explicit: but perhaps you will understand. But even to be in the Western
Highlands alone is a joy. Then I am going to reform and work hard all
winter. I rather doubt if we’ll get away to Greece after all: funds are
villainously low for such exploits.

He implies he and Edith Rinder would be together in the Western
Highlands where the Rinders usually rented a house for the month of
September. The implication is strengthened by a passage in a letter to
Bliss Carman, also in August: “Think of me early in September (from
August 30™) in the loveliest of the West Highlands — & in one of the
happiest experiences of my life. I can’t be more explicit — but you will
understand! Thereafter I am going to reform — definitely.”

When Alfred, Lord Tennyson died in early October, some began
to question the need to appoint a successor Poet Laureate. Sharp
considered joining those who opposed the appointment of another
laureate, but on October 9 he told Stanley Little he had decided not
to take any initiative in the “abolishment scheme.” After attending
Tennyson’s funeral in Westminster Abbey on the twelfth, Sharp sent
a letter to the poet Alfred Austin saying he was pleased to have seen
him at the funeral. After describing his removal to “a small house in a
remote part of Sussex” where the rent was cheaper than in London, he
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turned to the Laureateship. “If you, as many think, are to be the heritor,
the laurel will go to one who will sustain the high honor with dignity
and beauty.” Austin did inherit the title, and he may have recalled this
letter in 1902 when Sharp was desperately in need of money. A Civil
List Pension was out of the question because Sharp refused to reveal
to members of Parliament his authorship of Fiona Macleod’s popular
writings. His friend Alexander Nelson Hood, who was the Duke of
Bronte, and Alfred Austin, the Poet Laureate, were the principals in the
effort to obtain the pension. They were supported by George Meredith,
Thomas Hardy, and Theodore Watts-Dunton. Finally, Sharp agreed
to Austin and Hood telling Arthur Balfour, the recently elected Prime
Minister, in strict confidence Sharp was the author of the writings of
Fiona Macleod, whereupon Balfour found the money for a grant that
provided needed relief.

Concluding his August 13 letter to Stedman, Sharp doubted he and
Elizabeth would be able to go to Greece during the winter as funds
were “villainously low for such exploits.” He hoped to continue with
his creative work in the fall, but Elizabeth’s health intervened. She
had not fully recovered from the malaria she contacted in Italy in the
spring of 1891. In her words (Memoir, 208), “The prolonged rains in the
hot autumn, the dampness of the clay soil on which lay the hamlet of
Bucks Green, made me very ill again with intermittent low fever.” It was
imperative, her doctor said, for her to spend at least part of the winter in
a dry climate. Since they lacked the funds for traveling south, Sharp put
aside his “dream work” and wrote between October and December two
boys’ adventure stories. “The Red Rider: A Romance of the Garibaldian
Campaign in the Two Sicilies,” appeared serially in the Weekly Budget
in late 1892, and “The Last of the Vikings: Being the Adventures in the
East and West of Sigurd, the Boy King of Norway” was accepted by Old
and Young and published in 1893. Both appeared subsequently in book
form from James Henderson and Sons, Ltd. These efforts and others
by both Sharps enabled them to go south for the first two months of
1893. In early December Sharp told Stanley Little they were planning
to go to Florence via Switzerland and the Gothard Pass and then on to
Sicily and North Africa. He urged Little to accompany them as far as
Florence or Rome. Little needed a break from work, and he would find
wonderful paintings to view and assess. By mid-December, they had
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decided to go to the Mediterranean by ship “as it is at once considerably
less expensive, & more restorative for E.”

In a letter to Arthur Stedman at the end of November, Sharp said
he had just “finished reviewing for the Academy the book of the season
in literary circles here — the late Wm. Bell Scott’s Autobiography.” A
Pre-Raphaelite poet and painter, Scott left a large body of reminiscences
when he died in 1890, and the Scottish critic and novelist William Minto
set about editing them. His Autobiographical Notes of the Life of William
Bell Scott and Notices of his Artistic and Poetic Circle of Friends 1830 to
1882, lllustrated by Etchings by Himself and Reproductions of Sketches by
Himself and Friends was published in 1892 in two substantial volumes by
James R. Osgood, Mcllvaine & Co. in London and by Harper Brothers
in New York. Though “full of misstatements and ill-intentioned half-
statements,” Sharp wrote to Stedman, it was a fascinating book because
of its letters and anecdotes. Algernon Charles Swinburne, he continued,
had a different opinion. When dining at his house in Putney a few days
ago, Sharp found Swinburne “excited over ‘The Monster” [Scott] to

1"

whom he has paid so many affectionate tributes in verse!” He was going
to “slate the book unmercifully (and very foolishly) in the December
Fortnightly.” Titled “The New Terror,” Swinburne’s review appeared
in the December issue of The Fortnightly Review, and Sharp’s in the
December issue of The Academy.

In mid-November, Sharp’s opinion of the Autobiographical Notes was
less balanced. Theodore Watts [not yet Dunton] asked Sharp to review
the book. Perhaps influenced by Swinburne’s anger, Sharp had nothing
good to say about the book in a November 14 letter to Watts. He recoiled
at Scott’s treatment of Watts: he “persistently pooh-poohed your good
& gracious service to” Rossetti and portrayed himself as Rossetti’s only
true “nurse & friend”. He continued:

As to the lies current that you, and others including myself, assisted
rather than deplored D. G. R/s chloral habit, & made out that he was
much worse than he was, will gain some colour by the implication in the
second allusion to yourself. I think you know how I love and reverence
Gabriel Rossetti’s memory. I am not blind, of course, & I know his faults
& weaknesses — but he was a great genius, & as man he won my love,
& shall have it till I die. I have glanced thro’ the D. G. R. passages since I
wrote to you last, & with deepest pain.
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Next, Sharp complained about Scott’s “insultingly cruel epithet to
Ruskin” and expressed his amazement that Minto, the editor, had “let
pass uncorrected (if he could not suppress, as he ought to have done) so
much that ought not to have seen the light.” He was outraged by

the remarks about Swinburne — one of the greatest poets of our century.
The more one knows & rereads his work, & critically & comparatively,
the more one admires it & his high attitude throughout. He was my idol
in old days, & now again I realise how great a poet he is. And just as
the public mind is slowly veering towards that high acceptation of him
which is his due — out comes this foolish & spiteful nonsense, which will
spread abroad to his detriment! Well, W. B. S. can’t hurt A. C. Swinburne,
nor a thousand W. B. S.’s.

Sharp said he would send his review for Watts and Swinburne to read
and suggest revisions.

Several days later, in a November 18 letter to Watts, Sharp said he
was having trouble writing the review and had decided to start over
from scratch.

Now that I have finished the book & gone carefully into it, I not only
more than ever regret Swinburne’s article but think we have all
underestimated the good in the book. There is a great deal of interesting
matter, particularly in the letters introduced: and I do not see how the
book is to be killed, or that it should be killed. [...] Once pruned of its
misstatements and otherwise carefully revised, it would be extremely
entertaining and to future students of the period profoundly interesting
& even valuable. One must be fair all round. It is a damnably difficult
thing to do in this instance: but I'll have one more shot anyway!

Since a deadline for the December Academy was approaching, Sharp said
he would stay up all night writing if necessary. The next morning he
sent Watts a portion of the article with a note: “It has been an infernally
difficult review to write. I began, after a third trial, in this more moderate
& advisable fashion.” He asked Watts to “rectify” him if necessary and
added “Please do not cut out or alter in any way my MS, but jot any
suggestions in pencil on a separate slip.”

He finished the article in time for it to appear in the December 3
Academy and wrote again to Watts on December 7 to thank him for his

generous appreciation, though I'm bound to say I don't see anything
particular in the review, except tact — for it was infernally difficult to be
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just to what is good in the book and yet to blow the counterblast. From
what I hear, it has been a good deal noted in the very quarters I wanted
it to be — namely among those who bear neither you nor me any good
will: and it is admitted that my frank outspokenness knocks the ground
from under “Scott’s” feet as regards D. G. R., your relations to him and
so forth.

He knew there will be one or two American critics “who will hold up
W. B. S. as a trustworthy authority to show how poor a fellow D. G. R.
was, how deserted by his worthiest friends, and how you were only “a
minor newcomer,” & so forth.” He planned to go out of his way to have
his review reproduced in one or two influential American journals to
set the record straight. Despite the difficulty of writing the review, he
thought he had reached the right balance, and the review appears to
have been well-received.

On November 18 Sharp wrote to Kineton Parkes to propose for the
December issue of the Library Review a review of a” remarkable book”
by E. C. Stedman — The Nature and Elements of Poetry — which was
a revised reprint of his “much-noted essays on Imagination, Truth,
Beauty, Melancholia, etc. which have been appearing in The Century.”
The next day he wrote again to Parkes to say he was too busy to write
an adequate review as he wanted to do more than a mere notice. He
could, though, send Parkes an article on Scott’s “’Reminiscences’” with
its wealth of addenda concerning the poet-painters and painter-poets
of the Pre-Raphaelites.” On November 28 he wrote to the editor of
Blackwood'’s Magazine in Edinburgh to say he would be able to submit an
article about William Bell Scott’s relations with other painters and poets
in the Rossetti circle by the end of the week. Writing again on December
5, he said he was too busy with commissioned articles and other literary
work to finish the Scott article for the January number. The promises and
retractions indicate the extent to which he was overextending himself
trying to acquire funds for the impending trip.

He did, however, accomplish a good deal of writing in the first half
of 1892, and there were a sizeable number of publications. His Life and
Letters of Joseph Severn appeared in February, and A Fellowe and His
Wife appeared in the spring in England, America, and Germany. He
published articles on Philip Marston and Maeterlinck in The Academy
and on Thomas Hardy in The Forum. Flower o’ the Vine containing poems



Chapter Nine: July—December 1892 109

from his Romantic Ballads and Sospiri di Roma was published in the
United States. “Second Shadow: Being the narrative of Jose Maria Santos
y Bazan, Spanish Physician in Rome” was published in the Independent
in New York, and an article titled, “Severn’s Roman Journals” appeared
in Boston’s Atlantic Monthly. He completed and submitted Vistas, the
Maeterlinckean short dramas or interludes he started writing in Germany
in the fall of 1891, to Elkin Mathews in England and Charles Webster in
America. They decided not to publish it, but the volume would find a
publisher in 1894. In mid-1892 the Sharps had settled into Phenice Croft
where they hoped to experience a Phoenix-like rebirth, but the need to
generate money forced a delay in their plans for creative work.






Chapter Ten
1893

The Sharps boarded a ship bound for North Africa on January 7, 1893
and arrived a week later in Algiers. On January 16, Sharp sent a card to
Arthur Stedman and asked him to share it with his father:

We have enjoyed our first week in North Africa immensely. Even apart
from the Moorish and oriental life, everything is charming to the eyes
after London fogs — the greenness, the palms, the orange and lemon
trees, the roses and brilliant creepers, the blue of the sea and the deeper
blue of the sky.

The next day they headed west, mostly by train, and in a letter to Stanley
Little dated January 22 Sharp said they were in Blida at the base of the
Atlas Mountains. They were headed to Tlemcen and planned to push
on “across the frontier of Morocco to the city of Oujda” if the tribes
were not up. The landscape was “strange & beautiful: miles of orange
and tangerine trees in full fruit a terre, and on high the grand heights
and fantastic peaks of the Atlas range.” They made it into Morocco for
a few days before returning to Algiers and heading south across the
mountains and into the desert.

On February 2, they were in Biskra, the City of Palms, where Sharp
wrote to an unidentified friend a lengthy letter Elizabeth reproduced
in the Memoir (208-212). The letter’s familiar tone and level of detail
suggests the friend was Edith Rinder. “Here we are in the Sahara at
last! I find it quite hopeless to attempt to give you any adequate idea of
the beauty and strangeness and the extraordinary fascination of it all.”
He proceeded, nonetheless, to a vivid description of their arrival the
previous night. The sun was setting, and the hills became a deep purple:

For the rest, all was orange-gold, yellow-gold, green-gold, with, high
over the desert, a vast effulgence of a marvelous roseate flush. Then came
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the moment of scarlet and rose, saffron, and deepening gold, and purple.
In the distance, underneath the dropping sparkle of the Evening Star, we
could discern the first palms of the oasis of Biskra. There was nothing
more to experience till arrival, we thought: but just then we saw the full
moon rise out of the Eastern gloom. And what a moon it was! Never did
I see such a splendour of living gold. It seemed incredibly large, and
whatever it illumined became strange and beautiful beyond words.

Given the precision and beauty of this description, it is not surprising
Sharp turned eventually to travel writing or that editors — British and
American — welcomed his articles.

From Biskra the Sharps pressed further into the desert to the oasis
of Sidi-Okba (“with its 5,000 swarming Arab population”) where
they spent a few days before traveling north to Constantine. There on
February 12, he wrote again to “a friend” to say he had plunged into
the “Barbaric East.” Like so many nineteenth-century travelers from
northern Europe, Sharp was fascinated by the availability of drugs
and sex on the streets of North African cities. On the night of February
11, he wandered through the narrow, crowded streets of Constantine
observing

the strange haunts of the dancing girls: the terrible street of the caged
women — like wild beasts exposed for sale: and the crowded dens of
the hashish-eaters, with the smoke and din of barbaric lutes, tam-tams,
and nameless instruments, and the strange wild haunting chanting of the
ecstatics and fanatics.

I went at last where I saw not a single European: and though at some
risk, I met with no active unpleasantness, save in one Haschisch place
where, by a sudden impulse, some forty or fifty Moors suddenly swung
round, as the shriek of an Arab fanatic, and with outstretched hands and
arms cursed the Gaiour-kelb (dog of an infidel!): and here I had to act
quickly and resolutely.

Thereafter one of my reckless fits came on, and I plunged right into
the midst of the whole extraordinary vision — for a kind of visionary
Inferno it seemed. From Haschisch-den to Haschisch-den I wandered,
from strange vaulted rooms of the gorgeously jeweled and splendidly
dressed prostitutes to the alcoves where lay or sat or moved to and fro,
behind iron bars, the caged beauties whom none could reach save by
gold, and even then at risk; from there to the dark low rooms or open
pillared places where semi-nude dancing girls moved to and fro to a wild
barbaric music... .
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I wandered to and fro in that bewildering Moorish maze, till at last,
I could stand no more impressions. So I found my way to the western
ramparts, and looked out upon the marvelous nocturnal landscape of
mountain and valley — and thought of all that Constantine had been
(Memoir, 213).

Seeking an authentic taste of Arab culture, a late-nineteenth-century
Scot wandered into the exotic night life of a North African city and,
so the passage implies, sampled the hashish. It may have been his first
use of the drug, which, despite his wife’s disapproval, he used later to
obtain rituals for W. B. Yeats’ Celtic Mystical Order.

Fig. 24 The Great Bridge in Constantine Algeria 1899.jpg Silverbanks Pictures
Image Archive, Photographer unknown. Wikimedia Commons, https://
www.flickr.com/photos/159714170@N02 /48311372867 /

From Constantine, the Sharps went north and east to Tunis where
William visited the ruins of ancient Carthage, the “London of 2000 years
ago,” and described it in a third letter to a friend:

The sea breaks at my feet, blue as a turquoise here, but, beyond, a sheet
of marvelous pale green, exquisite beyond words. To the right are the
inland waters where the Carthaginian galleys found haven: above, to
the right, was the temple of Baal: right above, the temple of Tanit, the
famous Astarte, otherwise “The Abomination of the Sidonians.” Where
the Carthaginians lived in magnificent luxury, a little out the city itself,
is now the Arab town of Sidi-ban-Said — like a huge magnolia-bloom
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on the sun swept hill-side. There is nothing of the life of to-day visible,
save a white-robed Bedouin herding goats and camels, and, on the sea, a
few felucca-rigged fisher boats making for distant Tunis by the Strait of
Goleta. But there is life and movement in the play of the wind among the
grasses and lentisks, in the hum of insects, in the whisper of the warm
earth, in the glow of the burning sunshine that floods downward from
a sky of glorious blue. Carthage — I can hardly believe it (Memoir, 214).
After a few days in and around Tunis, the Sharps crossed to Sicily and made

their first of many visits to Taormina, the town set high above the Bay of
Naxos on the island’s eastern shore.

Fig. 25 Ruins of the Baths of Antonius Pius, Carthage, Algeria. Photograph by
BishkekRocks (2004), Wikimedia, https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/
File:Karthago_Antoninus-Pius-Thermen.JPG, Public Domain.

A recently discovered undated and unpublished manuscript poem in
Sharp’s handwriting (blue ink on a folded piece of onion skin paper)
must have written during or soon after the North African trip. It is
another result of his “plunge into the Barbaric East.”

The Sheik
(A Portrait from Life)

With heavy Turban o’er his brows
And white robe folded close to him,
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Ismail, the Sheik, with aspect grim
Looks towards the desert’s burning rim.

Before his tent the camels drowse
In the fierce heat: within. A shade
Is cast by curtains, rich with braid
Of gold, with jewels inlaid.

All round the sloping canvas walls
Bright cloths are placed; gay Syrian hues
Of crimson, green, and purple-blues
With which stray sunbeams interfuse.

Adown their midst a striped skin falls,
Against whose fur sharp weapons lean
Ablaze with steely light, and keen

As any deadly Damascene.

Beside the Sheik a table stands

With fragrant coffee, spices rare,
Dates that have known the desert-air
The wild fig and the prickly pear.

Beyond him stretch the burning sands:
Behind him pale Iskandra lies,

Nude, and with drowsy half-closed eyes
Still dreaming of Circassian skies.

A lithe brown boy close to his feet
Upon a reed a soft low tune

Doth make, and sings an Arab rune
Of love beneath the Desert-moon.

Still grows the blazing, burning heat:

Yet ever toward the sand-wastes rim

Looks forth, with gaze no glare makes dim,
Ismail, the Sheik, with aspect grim.

El Ah'br’a. William Sharp
Morocco

The Sheik’s name, Ismail, is a variant of Ishmael, Abraham’s and
Hagar’s son in the Book of Genesis. Shah Ismail I (1487-1524) ruled a vast
Persian Empire from 1501 until his death. Iskandra, the nude boy in the
background dreaming of his Circassian home, is a variant of Alexander
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and calls to mind Alexander the Great (356-323 BC), the Macedonian
who ruled another vast empire, and his supposed homosexual
relationship with his companion Hephaestion. Sheik Ismail is pleased to
have the “lithe brown boy close to his feet” singing “an Arab rune of love
beneath the Desert-moon.” The poem asks if the Sheik captured or lured
for his pleasure the drowsy nude Iskandra lying half asleep dreaming
of his homeland on the eastern bank of the Black Sea, another allusion
to Alexander the Great and to the more recent subjugation of Circassia
and its absorption into the Ottoman Empire. The poem’s sensual and
suggestive overtones account for it not being published. That Sharp
wrote and carefully copied it signals his associating Arabic North Africa
with “pagan” sexual practices and demonstrates his interest in sexual
fluidity.

The Sharps returned to England at the end of February. On March 23
he told Charles Webster, in a letter proposing the publication of Vistas,
he was just back from North Africa and had not returned to his house in
the country. By March 29, both Sharps were in Phenice Croft wondering
why Stanley Little was staying in Kensington. “It is glorious weather,
& the Rudgwickian country, Bucks Green, and Phenice Croft are all
looking their best.” According to Elizabeth, it was “the finest English
Spring in a quarter century.” She listed some of the guests who visited
them: Richard Whiteing, Mona Caird, Alice Corkran, George Cotterell,
Richard and Edith Le Gallienne, Roden Noel, Percy White, Dr. Byres
Moir, Frank and Edith Rinder, Laurence Binyon, Agnes Farquharson
Sharp (Elizabeth’s mother), Robert Farquharson Sharp (Elizabeth’s
brother), and Mary Sharp (William's sister), whose handwriting would
soon become that of Fiona Macleod.

At Phenice Croft, Sharp began working on a series of articles about
North Africa: “French African Health Resorts” appeared in the December
1893 Nineteenth Century; “The New Winterland of French Africa” in the
January 1894 Nineteenth Century; “Tclemcen and Its Vicinage” in the
February 1894 Art Journal; “Cardinal Lavigerie’s Work in North Africa”
in the August 1894 Atlantic Monthly; and “Rome in Africa” in the
Harper’s Monthly of June 1895. His travel writing had begun in earnest.
He also began a new life of Rossetti which William Swan Sonnenschein
commissioned for his publishing firm. According to Elizabeth, Sharp
had become dissatisfied with his 1882 Rossetti book; he “considered
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his judgment to have been immature.” He wrote only a few sentences
of the new biography and a “Dedicatory Chapter” to Walter Pater. The
paragraphs Elizabeth reproduced in the Memoir (69-72) are all that
survive of that dedication. They praise Rossetti and Pater and Pater’s
essay on Rossetti. “Of all that has been written of Rossetti’s genius and
achievement in poetry nothing shows more essential insight, is of more
striking and enduring worth, than the essay by yourself included in
your stimulating and always delightful Appreciations.”

In an April 19 letter to his friend Henry Mills Alden, editor of Harper’s
Magazine, Sharp said he was busy “more maturely, more serenely, more
hopefully, if with more mental & spiritual stress than heretofore. I shall
write sometime & tell you more.” What, we may wonder, caused his
mental and spiritual stress? Elizabeth said her husband “was happy
once more to be resident in the country, although the surroundings
were not a type of scenery that appealed to him.” She then touched on
the stress:

At Phenice Croft his imagination was in a perpetual ferment.... Once
again he saw visions and dreamed dreams; the psychic subjective side of
his dual nature predominated. He was in an acutely creative condition;
and, moreover, he was passing from one phase of literary work to another,
deeper, more intimate, more permanent. (Memoir, 221-222).

His stress was due in part to what Elizabeth called his “psychic
experiments,” his efforts, some aided by drugs, to invoke visions.
Elizabeth went to Paris in early May to review the salons for the
Glasgow Herald. On the seventh Sharp wrote a card to Stanley Little
while waiting in Horsham station for the train that would take him to
the coast to board a ferry to the Isle of Wight. He had expected Little to
drop in the previous night. He had stayed up waiting until two in the
morning and finally went to the house where Little was staying, found
it dark, and returned to Phenice Croft. He could forgive Little only
because he was leaving to spend a week leading a “virtuous life” on the
Isle of Wight. On the tenth, he responded from “somewhere or other
near Freshwater” to Little’s letter of apology. He understood, of course,
that Little was preoccupied with his guests, one of whom must have
been a young woman. Sharp would not have gone looking for Little at
two in the morning if a “young charmer” had been sitting up with him
discussing “debatable subjects.” He expanded, “It is glorious here. By
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Jove, Life is well worth living!” He and Little will “have a chat over sins
and sinners” when he returns to Rudgwick. With Elizabeth in France,
Sharp may have arranged a week on the Isle of Wight with Edith Rinder.

In late June Sharp told Louise Chandler Moulton, who visited
London annually, he was working hard, “making the wherewithal for
‘daily bread’” but not omitting dreaming and the weaving of dreams.”
He was also enjoying life in rural Sussex during an “unparalleled Spring
& Summer! Here, in Sussex, we have had no rain (save 3 brief showers,
2 nocturnal) for 3 ¥ months, & an almost unbroken succession of blue
skies.” He wrote again to Moulton in mid-July to apologize for not
arranging to see her before she returned to America.

Alas, I have been so overwhelmed with work requiring the closest
continuous attention that I have postponed and postponed and
postponed. Besides this, I have purposely withdrawn from everything
this year —having realized that my paramount need at present is
isolation — or as much as can be had even at this distance from town.
Each finds at last what he needs in order to do his best work. I do not
know if I have found it yet: I doubt if I shall ever find it in England: but I
am nearer to what I want than I have yet been.

He hoped to be able to call on her before the end of the month, when he
and Elizabeth were going to Scotland for two months.

In a letter written the previous October, Sharp asked Robert Murray
Gilchrist to visit him in Bucks Green when he came to London from his
home in Derbyshire. Gilchrist did not accept Sharp’s invitation until the
Spring of 1894, but he invited Sharp to visit him in Derbyshire on his way
to and from Edinburgh. He also mentioned Frank Murray, a bookseller
in Derby, who had agreed to publish his novel, Frangipani, as the firstin a
projected Regent’s Library series. He suggested Murray might consider
a book by Sharp for the series whereupon Sharp, in early summer, asked
Murray if he would like to publish a romance he had in mind. Murray
responded favorably but said he could offer only ten pounds. In a July
letter, Sharp said the terms for the projected romance were insufficient,
but he would accept ten pounds for another book he had on hand. It
was his “most individual imaginative work — a series of psychological
problems or reveries wrought in a new form, nominally dramatic, [...]
a series of seven studies collectively entitled ‘Vistas”.” Having offered
that volume unsuccessfully to Elkin Mathews in London and Charles
Webster in America, he was anxious for someone to accept it.
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At the end of July, the Sharps went to Scotland where they spent
three weeks in St. Andrews, stayed for a time with Marian Glassford Bell
at Tirinie, near Aberfeldy in Perthshire, and then went to Corrie on the
Island of Arran for a fortnight. In mid-September, Elizabeth left to visit
friends, and William went to Arrochar and other places in the West. An
early-August letter to Little from St. Andrews described his writing: “my
‘Rossetti,” my new one-vol. novel, my vol. of short stories, & my French
studies, fully occupy my mind here — when I am not swimming or
walking, eating or sleeping or ‘dreaming’.” He described the new “one-
vol. Novel” as the most “consequential” work he had in progress. It had
no title, but it eventually became Fiona Macleod’s Pharais. He planned
to call the “vol. of short stories” Comedy of Woman. It became the volume
of short stories published in 1895 by Stone and Kimball in Chicago as
The Gipsy Christ and Other Tales and in 1896 by Archibald Constable in
London as Madge o” the Pool: The Gipsy Christ and Other Tales.

On August 18, 1893 he asked Gilchrist if it would be convenient to
spend a night with him in Derbyshire on his way back to London, on
September 24. He looked forward to meeting Gilchrist, and he wanted
to visit Frank Murray, the Derby bookseller, to discuss arrangements for
the publication of Vistas. On September 30, after two months in Scotland,
the Sharps left Edinburgh; Elizabeth went straight to London, and
Sharp — by a complicated series of branch trains — to Eyam, Gilchrist’s
village in Derbyshire. After spending two nights with Gilchrist, he
stopped in Derby to meet Frank Murray on his way to London. By
October 7 he was back in Phenice Croft where he thanked Gilchrist for
the lovely day they had on Sunday (October 1) walking on the moors.
He was sending Gilchrist a copy of the etched portrait Charles Holroyd
made of him in Rome and, for George Garfitt, Gilchrist’s partner, a copy
of the Pagan Review. The first meeting between Sharp and Gilchrist went
well, and Sharp told Gilchrist he found Frank Murray “a decent sort of
chap.” Betraying his class consciousness, he added, Murray “dropped
his h’s” occasionally, and in certain small matters was oblivious of what
some of us consider to be good breeding.” Nonetheless, he thought
Murray had “a genuine love of literature.”

In an August 12 letter to Catherine Janvier, he described “a scene
in a strange Celtic tale I am writing called Pharais, wherein the weird
charm and terror of a night of tragic significance is brought home to the
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reader... by a stretch of dew-wet moonflowers glimmering through the
murk of a dusk laden with sea mists.” He continued: “I was writing in
pencil in Pharais of death by the sea — and almost at my feet a drowned
corpse was washed in by the tide and the slackening urgency of the
previous night’s gale.” This is Sharp’s first mention of “Pharais” as
the title of the novel that would become the first publication by Fiona
Macleod. It was the “romance” he had in mind when he told Frank
Murray in mid-July that the terms he offered were unacceptable. He
wrote sometime in November to Richard Stoddart proposing for serial
publication in Lippincott’s Magazine a romance he called Nostalgia, which
never materialized, and “another story, Pharais,” which he described
as “written deeply in the Celtic spirit and from the Celtic standpoint”
(Memoir, 225). Neither proposal was accepted. A December diary
entry indicates he had done “the first part of a Celtic romance called
Pharais;” it was one of the things he needed to finish (Memoir, 216).
In his December 20 Christmas greetings to Murray Gilchrist, he wrote:
“Today I write ‘finis” to my Celtic Romance — long dreamed of — I wish
I could read some of it to you. It is out of my inmost heart and brain.”
That Celtic Romance was Pharais: A Romance of the Isles.

Where, we may wonder, did Sharp find that name and what did he
mean it to convey. He said pharais is a “slightly anglicized lection of the
Gaelic word Paras = Paradise, Heaven. ‘Pharais’ properly is the genitive
and dative case of Paras, as in the line from Muireadhach Albannach
which Sharp produced on the page following the title page, ‘Mithich
dombh triall gu tigh Pharais” — ‘It is time for me to go up unto the House

12

of Paradise.”” Muireadhach Albannach, spelled variously, was a Gaelic
poet later known as Murdoch of Scotland. A portion of the poem from
which Sharp quoted a line is found in the Dean of Lismore’s Book.

When he visited Murray’s Derby bookshop in September and saw
the high quality of the paper, boards, and designs he was using for his
Regent’s Library Series, Sharp decided Murray should publish Pharais
as well as Vistas despite his inability to pay more than ten pounds for
each. In describing Pharais as a work in progress to Catherine Janvier
in August and offering it as a story to Richard Stoddart in November,
they naturally assumed it was the work of William Sharp. His December
20 Christmas greeting to Murray Gilchrist claimed the Celtic Romance

as his own. The first recorded indication of his intention to publish it
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pseudonymously occurs in a late December letter to Frank Murray.
Sometime before that date Sharp told Murray he wanted the book
issued not only pseudonymously, not only by a woman, but specifically
by Fiona Macleod.

You will be interested to hear that last week I wrote “finis” to Pharais:
and have not only finished it but think it the strongest & most individual
thing I have done. For several reasons, however, I wish to adhere rigidly to
the ‘Fiona Macleod” authorship. I think the book will attract a good deal
of notice, on account of the remarkable Celtic renaissance which has set
in & will inevitably gather weight: it touches, too, new ground — and, I
think, in a new way. What is perhaps best of all is that it is written literally
out of my heart — and indeed, though the central incident has nothing to
do with me, most else is reminiscent.

It is, in fact, your agreement to accept my two most paramount
conditions — pseudonymity and publication by the end of March — that
weighed with me against a letter from the Editor of one of the leading
magazines in America, offering me high terms for a romance written not
‘to order’ but really con amore. However, for reasons into which I need
not enter at present, I prefer to lose at the moment so as to gain in every
way later.

Sharp enclosed with this letter the “opening section” of Pharais; his
copyist had the rest and was more than halfway through the book. There
is no evidence of an offer from an American publisher.

Sharp sent as a frontispiece for Vistas a rare etching by William Bell
Scott of a William Blake design for Milton’s Paradise Lost that portrays
Adam and Eve before the fall. Sharp thought the depiction of Adam
and Eve in each other’s arms with a serpent hovering above would
foreshadow the danger lurking above sexual pleasure depicted in the
book’s “vistas.” If Murray objected to the nudity, he might ask the artist
who produced the design for Gilchrist’'s Frangipani, the first book in
Murray’s Regent’s Library, to “do something satisfactory.” If neither
alternative was acceptable, Sharp’s friend Theodore Roussel might do
something. Murray did not object and used the Bell Scott etching for
the special edition of seventy-five numbered and signed copies. For the
frontispiece of the special edition of Pharais, Sharp could ask his friend
William Strang to do an etching. Murray decided to use a photograph
of a cold northern sea with its waves breaching the shore, a scene that
reflected the book’s atmosphere and content. In addition to the special
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editions on larger and on fine paper with white board covers and white
jackets, Murray printed using the same type setting smaller trade
editions of Vistas and Pharais with nicely designed green covers and
without frontispieces.

Sharp’s decision to publish Pharais pseudonymously is not surprising.
Experimenting with pseudonyms during the previous two years, he
came to like the mystery of disguise. More important, he believed creative
work published under his name would generate skepticism or outright
disdain due to his reputation as an editor and the enemies he made as a
reviewer. His decision to publish under a woman’s name was unusual,
but predictable. His 1881 poem “Motherhood” describing a tigress, a
primitive woman, and a contemporary woman giving birth was an early
sign of his empathy with women. In writing the wife’s letters in the 1892
epistolary novel, A Fellowe and His Wife, he had no trouble adopting the
persona of a woman. “During the writing of Pharais,” Elizabeth wrote,
“the author began to realize how much the feminine element dominated
in the book, that it grew out of the subjective, or feminine side of his
nature. He, therefore, decided to issue the book under the name of Fiona
Macleod” (Memoir, 226-227). The name she continued, “flashed ready-
made” into his mind. Sharp said “Macleod” was born naturally from his
friendship with Seamus Macleod, an older man from whom he learned
Celtic lore as a young boy during summer holidays in the Hebrides.
Fiona, on the other hand, was “very rare now. Most Highlanders would
tell you it was extinct — even as a diminutive of Fionaghal (Flora). But
itis not. It is an old Celtic name (meaning ‘a fair maid”) still occasionally
to be found.”

More than a recognition of his feminine qualities descended on
Sharp at Phenice Croft in the summer of 1893. Elizabeth wrote: “So far,
he had found no adequate method for the expression of his ‘second self’
though the way was led thereto by Sospiri di Roma and Vistas” (Memoir,
221-222).In 1877, when he was twenty-one, Sharp confided in a letter to
Elizabeth: “I feel another self within me now more than ever; it is as if I
were possessed by a spirit who must speak out” (Memoir, 25). At Phenice
Croft, he began to entertain seriously the possibility not only that he had
both masculine and feminine qualities, but that he was two people in
one, both a man and a woman. The emergence of her husband’s ‘second
self’ began, Elizabeth said, in Rome in the winter/spring of 1890-1891.
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There, at last, he had found the desired incentive towards a true
expression of himself, in the stimulus and sympathetic understanding
of the friend to whom he dedicated the first of the books published
under his pseudonym. This friendship began in Rome and lasted for the
remainder of his life.

This friend was E. W. R. —Edith Wingate Rinder —to whom he
dedicated Pharais. In that dedication he was writing as a woman
to another woman, and the disguise released him to speak with
sincerity about their relationship, which was one of deep affection and
commonality.

In the first sentences of the dedication, we hear the voice Sharp
adopted for Fiona. “In the Domham-Toir there are resting places where
all barriers of race, training, and circumstance fall away in the dust. At
one of those places of peace we met, a long while ago, and found that
we loved the same things, and in the same way.” Most love the West of
Scotland only “in the magic of sunshine and cloud,” but Fiona (Sharp)
and Edith love the land “when the rain and the black wind make a
gloom upon every loch and fill with the dusk of storm every strath,
and glen, and corrie. Not otherwise can one love it aright.” Like Fiona,
Edith worships at the fane of Keithoir, the Celtic god of the earth: “It is
because you and I are of the children of Keithoir that I wished to grace
my book with your name.” We believe “the Celtic Dream” is not doomed
to become “a memory merely.” A few writers, Fiona among them, will
revive Anima Celtica. They will lead readers to Pharais, “that Land of
Promise whose borders shine with the loveliness of all forfeited, or lost,
or banished dreams and realities of Beauty.” Again Sharp conflated
the word Pharais with Paradise. He associated Fiona’s objectives with
those of William Butler Yeats and the Irish Renaissance: “The sweetest-
voiced of the younger Irish singers of to-day [Yeats] has spoken of the
Celtic Twilight. A twilight it is; but, if night follow gloaming, so also
does dawn succeed night. Meanwhile, twilight voices are sweet, if faint
and far, and linger lovingly in the ear.” The final paragraph returns to
Edith by asserting a Paradise of Friendship wherein “we both have seen
beautiful visions and dreamed dreams. Take, then, out of my heart, this
book of vision and dream.” By having Fiona identify with her dedicate,
Edith Wingate Rinder, Sharp found a voice for his “second self” and a
means of expressing his love for the beautiful and accomplished E. W. R.
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In a letter of instructions to Elizabeth in the event of his death,
written before a trip to the United States in 1896, Sharp said he owed
his development as Fiona to Edith Rinder; “without her there would
have been no ‘Fiona Macleod.”” After reproducing this statement in the
Memoir (222) and without identifying Edith, Elizabeth commented with

remarkable candor and generosity:

Because of her beauty, her strong sense of life and the joy of life; because
of her keen intuitions and mental alertness, her personality stood for him
as a symbol of the heroic women of Greek and Celtic days, a symbol that,
as he expressed it, unlocked new doors in his mind and put him ‘in touch
with ancestral memories’ of his race. So, for a time, he stilled the critical,
intellectual mood of William Sharp to give play to the development of
this new found expression of subtler emotions, towards which he had
been moving with all the ardor of his nature.

Her husband’s two natures were frequently at odds. They required
different conditions, different environments, and different stimuli.
That requirement “produced a tremendous strain on his physical and
mental resources; and at one time between 1897-1898 threatened him
with a complete nervous collapse.” Gradually the two sides of his nature
developed into two distinct personalities “which were equally imperative
in their demands on him.” He preferred the dreaming creative feminine
existence, facilitated by the presence of Edith, in which he could produce
the writings of Fiona Macleod. “The exigencies of life, his dependence
on his pen for his livelihood... required of him a great amount of applied
study and work.” He came to associate Elizabeth — his first cousin,
ever-supportive wife, and breadwinning critic and editor — with the
mundane, practical side of his nature and Edith with the imaginative,
creative, visionary, indeed romantic side.

Phenice Croft was linked by Sharp and his wife with the birth of
Fiona Macleod and thus with Edith Rinder. Sharp “always looked back
with deep thankfulness” to the two years at Phenice Croft. Initially,
Elizabeth shared her husband’s enthusiasm. “The summer of 1893,” she
wrote, “was hot and sunny; and we delighted in our little garden with
its miniature lawns, its espalier fruit trees framing the vegetable garden,
and its juvenile but to me fascinating flowers beds.” Things began to
change in the fall. She became ill again with the lingering effects of
malaria. She attributed her continuing health problems to the moist air



Chapter Ten: 1893 125

and clay soil of Rudgwick, and she began spending more time with her
mother in London. During those periods of absence, Edith Rinder was
often a guest at Phenice Croft, and her presence may have been a factor
in Elizabeth’s change of heart. Her comments about Phenice Croft and
Rudgwick in the Memoir were as close as she came to suggesting her
relationship with her husband was strained.

There was another reason for her feelings about Phenice Croft.
There, she said, Sharp was “testing his new powers, living his new life,
and delighting in the opportunity for psychic experimentation”. For
such experimentation, Elizabeth wrote, “the place seemed to him to be
peculiarly suited.” To her, it seemed “uncanny” and “to have a haunted
atmosphere — created unquestionably by my husband that I found
difficult to live in unless the sun was shining” (Memoir, 223). Edith may
have been cooperating in the experiments, which were widespread at
the time. Indeed, Elizabeth went to mediums after her husband died
in 1905 and left a record of her communications with his spirit. In
1893, however, she recognized the disturbing impact of the “psychic
experiments” on her husband’s mental balance. As we shall see, a crisis
befell Sharp in the summer of 1894 which, coupled with Elizabeth’s ill
health and growing distaste for the place, caused them to leave Phenice
Croft and resettle in London.






Chapter Eleven
1894

In the fall of 1893 Elizabeth Sharp became increasingly uncomfortable
at Phenice Croft:

The damp, autumnal days in the little cottage on its clay soil, and the
fatigue of constantly going up and down to town in order to do the
work of the Art Critic for the Glasgow Herald — which I for some time
had undertaken — proved too severe a strain on me. And I found that
in the winter months I could not remain at Phenice Croft without being
seriously ill (Memoir, 233).

The Sharps rented a flat in January 1894 — number seven in Kensington
Court Gardens, then a new mansion block south of the Kensington
High Street — where Elizabeth would live through the winter while
her husband traveled back and forth from Phenice Croft. At the end
of the month, the Sharps tried to revive the “Sunday evening informal
gatherings” they held in the late eighties in South Hampstead. For the
first, on February 4, Sharp invited Grant Richards for dinner. Edith and
Frank Rinder would be there, and others — including the publisher
John Lane — would drop by later for a cup of coffee and to smoke a
cigarette. Back in Phenice Croft on the ninth and hoping for a positive
review, he sent Richard Le Gallienne an advance copy of Vistas, which
Frank Murray would publish on the fifteenth. On Saturday, the tenth
he was back in London writing to Stanley Little. Elizabeth was “better
on the whole.” He would be back in Phenice Croft the next day and in
London again at the Grosvenor Club the following Saturday. He hoped
Little would meet him there. Before the month was out, traveling to and
from London in the mid-winter gloom affected his health.

In an early December letter, Sharp told Murray Gilchrist he could not
visit him in Derbyshire in January, but he hoped Gilchrist would visit
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him in Bucks Green. In his Christmas greeting to Gilchrist, he wrote,
“You are to come here in the early Spring, remember!” Correspondence
and the pattern of events indicate Gilchrist accepted Sharp’s invitation
in mid-February. In a letter dated only “Wendy,” either February 14 or
21, he told Gilchrist he would be happy to welcome him and his partner
Garfitt at Phenice Croft the following Friday. This visit deserves attention
for what it reveals about the atmosphere Sharp created in Bucks Green
and the state of his mental and physical health.

More than a year later, on September 26, 1895, Sharp drew Gilchrist’s
attention to a section of Fiona Macleod’s The Sin Eater called “Tragic
Landscapes.” That section contains three “prose poems” which Sharp
described in his Pagan Review as impressionist word paintings, “a
consciously-conceived and definitely-executed poetic form.” In Sharp’s
letter to Gilchrist, who knew Fiona was Sharp, he described the first of
the three, called “The Tempest,” as a detailed word painting of a natural
setting in which an approaching storm threatens to sweep away the
natural world and all living inhabitants. The second “Tragic Landscape,”
called simply “Mist,” portrays the post-apocalyptic natural world:

A dense white mist lay upon the hills, clothing them from summit to
base in a dripping shroud. The damp, spongy peat everywhere sweated
forth its over-welling ooze. [ ...] There was neither day nor night, but only
the lifeless gloom of the endless weary rain: thin soaking, full of the chill
and silence of the grave.

Eventually, a shadow appears in the gloom, a slow-moving man who
“stood beside a tarn. And was looking into it, as the damned in hell look
into their souls.” A stag appears on an overhanging rock and vanquishes
his rival whereupon: “Night crept up from the glen and strath — the
veil of mist grew more and more obscure, more dark. [...] there was a
uniform pall of blackness. In the chill, soaking silence not a thing stirred,
not a sound was audible.”

The third “Tragic Landscape,” called “Summer-sleep” portrays a hot,
dry vista that is peaceful and drowsy with some signs of life:

The high-road sinuated like a snake along the steeper slope of the valley.
[...] The gloom of July was on the trees. The oaks dreamed of green
water. The limes were already displaying fugitive yellow banners. A
red flush dusked the green-gloom of the sycamores. [...] The sky was
of a vivid blue, up whose invisible azure ledges a few rounded clouds,
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dazzling white or grey as swans-down, climbed imperceptibly. [...] The
wild-bee and the wasp, the dragonfly and the gnat, wrought everywhere
a humming undertone.

The landscape is descending into a dreamy sleep:

Peace was upon the land and beauty. The languor of dream gave the
late summer a loveliness that was all its own, as of a fair woman asleep,
dreaming of the lover who has not long left her, and the touch of whose
lips is still upon her mouth and hair.

Through this personified natural world, which differs markedly from
that of “The Tempest” and “Mist,” three men are walking. Two were
“tall and fair; one dark, loosely built, and of a smaller and slighter build.”

In his September 1895 letter to Gilchrist, Sharp wrote: “You will
read the third piece, ‘Summer-sleep,” with mingled feelings, when you
know it is an exact transcript of Phenice Croft at Rudgwick and that
the three men are you, Garfitt, and myself.” The two tall, fair men are
Sharp and Gilchrist, and the shorter Garfitt. They approach “a small
hamlet of thatched, white-walled cottages” which is Bucks Green.
Sharp, the tallest wayfarer, points “to a small square house set among
orchard-trees, a stone’s throw from the hamlet,” which is Phenice Croft,
and says: “There is my home.” His “comrade,” Gilchrist, replies slowly,
“It is a beautiful place, and I envy you.” Garfitt agrees, and the owner
replies “I am glad you think so.” At that, the shadows of the three men
“leapt to one side, moved with fantastic steps, and seemed convulsed
with laughter.” Perhaps the grass on the side of the road understood
the speech of the shadows. If so, it would know Gilchrist said in his
heart: “There is something of awe, of terror, about that house; nay, the
whole land here is under a tragic gloom. I should die here, stifled. I am
glad I go on the morrow.” Then Garfitt said in his heart “It may all be
beautiful and peaceful, but something tragic hides behind this flooding
sunlight, behind these dark woodlands, down by the water-course
there, past the water-mill, up by that house among the orchard-trees.” If
the grass understood the shadows, “It would know that the tallest man
[Sharp] who lived in that square cottage by the pleasant hamlet, said in
his heart: ‘It may be that the gate of hell is hidden there among the grass,
or beneath the foundations of my house. Would God I were free! O my
God, madness and death!”” The three men know the placid landscape
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overlays a natural world that is “red in tooth and claw.” They also know
what only their shadows express: the placidity of human life overlays a
chaotic darkness of tragic impulses and fear of obliteration.

Following that shadowy experience of fear and horror, the final
paragraph restores the peacefulness of the land and of everyday life:

After another long silence, as the three wayfarers drew near, the dark
man murmured his pleasure at the comely hamlet, at the quiet land
lying warm in the afternoon glow. And his companion said that rest
and coolness would be welcome, and doubly so in so fair and peaceful
a home. And the tallest of the three, he who owned the house in the
orchard, laughed blithely. And all three moved onward with quickened
steps, through the hot, sweet, dusty afternoon, golden now with the
waning sun-glow.

After drawing Gilchrist’s attention to the third “Tragic Landscape,”
Sharp wrote, “I cannot explain aright: you must read into what you
read.” We recall Elizabeth Sharp wrote of their residence in Bucks Green:

The quiet and leisure at Phenice Croft, the peace, the “green life” around
were unspeakably welcome to my husband. Once again, he saw visions
and dreamed dreams; the psychic subjective side of his dual nature
predominated. He was in an acutely creative condition; and, moreover,
he was passing from one phase of literary work to another, deeper, more
intimate, more permanent. (Memoir, 221)

The transition was from the work of William Sharp to that of Fiona
Macleod, which Elizabeth, reflecting no doubt the opinion of her
husband, thought “deeper, more intimate, more permanent.” At Phenice
Croft, she continued,

he was testing his new powers, living his new life, and delighting in the
opportunity for psychic experimentation And for such experimentation,
the place seemed to him to be peculiarly suited. To me it seemed
“uncanny,” and to have a haunted atmosphere — created unquestionably
by him — that I found difficult to live in unless the sun was shining. This
uncanny effect was felt by more than one friend; by Mr. Murray Gilchrist,
for instance, whose impressions were described by his host in one of the
short “Tragic Landscapes” (Memoir, 223).

In his September 1895 letter to Gilchrist, Sharp wrote ominously, “The
most tragic & momentous epoch of my life followed that visit of yours to
Phenice Croft, & is, so far, indissolubly linked with that day I met you,
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and that time.” What, we must wonder, happened following the Gilchrist
visit that so affected Sharp? His letters, beginning in late February 1894,
suggest the probable answer.

On February 26, Sharp sent Edward Dowden a copy of Vistas and
asked him to “excuse so brief a note as I have been ill & am still debarred
from much use of the pen.” On March 1, in a letter thanking Stanley
Little for his positive notices of Vistas, Sharp wrote: “I should have
written to you before this, but I have not been well: & yesterday had to
telegraph to a friend. I am now, however, pulling round all right. Please
say nothing of this to Elizabeth. Tomorrow [Friday, March 2] I shall go
up to town, & come down with her on Saty, till Monday [March 3-5]. On
that weekend [March 9-11] some friends are coming for a fortnight, of
which I am glad.” On March 5 he wrote again to Little:

Did I tell you how unwell I have been? I have had to “cave in” completely.
I am now nearly better — but for some time to come must write only
for 2 or 3 hours daily at most: and, moreover, am not to be alone at all.
Elizabeth (who is steadily gaining ground) returns to town in a couple of
days: & then Mr. and Mrs. Rinder come here on “a working visit” to keep
me company for a fortnight. [...] I must not write more.

Elizabeth, herself unwell, but improving, was with him until at least
Wednesday, March 7, and the friends, Edith and Frank Rinder, came on
that weekend to stay for two weeks.

The psychic experimentations that gave Phenice Croft an “uncanny”
and “haunted atmosphere” led Sharp to the “gate of hell... hidden
there among the grass, or beneath the foundations” of his house and to
exclaiming “Would God I were free! O my God, madness and death!”
Shortly after Gilchrist and Garfitt visited Phenice Croft, Sharp suffered
a nervous collapse that produced a state of depression so serious that
his wife and Edith Rinder decided he should not be left alone. He was
advised to stop his psychic experimentations, drastically reduce his
imaginative work, and not write at all more than two or three hours a
day. It must have been this collapse Sharp described in his September
1895 letter to Gilchrist as “the most tragic & momentous epoch” of his
life. It recalls a letter he wrote to Hall Caine ten years earlier — on June
15, 1884 — in which he described a “sharp and sudden attack” that left
his hands so chilled and pained he could hardly hold a pen. The mental
collapse at Phenice Croft may well have been accompanied by a physical
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collapse that endangered his weakened heart. He concluded his March 5
letter to Little as follows: “This is an unusual break-down for me. But, for
one thing, I have been living the life of Imagination too fiercely of late.
I think you will be surprised when you learn what I have done.” These
sentences connect his breakdown with his writing as Fiona Macleod and
suggest that work, yet unknown to Little, was initiating a splitting of
self — masculine versus feminine — that contributed to his collapse.

In a March 27 letter to Gilchrist, Sharp apologized for being too
unwell to write sooner and announced he was leaving Bucks Green:

My wife’s health... has long been troubling me: and we have just decided
that (greatly to my disappointment) we must return to Hampstead to
live. Personally, I regret the return to town (or half town) more than I can
say: but the matter is one of paramount importance, so there is nothing
else to be done. We leave at midsummer.

Elizabeth’s illness in the fall and continuing into the winter, her dislike
of the atmosphere Sharp had created in Bucks Green, and her work as
London art reviewer for the Glasgow Herald had forced her to let the
Kensington flat. Her husband’s mental and physical breakdown was the
last straw. He could not be left alone. Fortunately, they found someone
to sublet the house, which they vacated on June 21. Sharp described his
actions of the previous night:

I took up a handful of grassy turf and kissed it three times, and then
threw it to the four quarters — so that the Beauty of the Earth might be
seen by me wherever I went and that no beauty I had seen or known
there should be forgotten. Then I kissed the chestnut tree on the side
lawn where I have seen or heard so much: from the springing of the
dream flowers to the surge of the sea in Pharais (Memoir, 236).

Elizabeth understood his reluctance to leave: “Phenice Croft had seen
the birth of Fiona Macleod; he had lived there with an intensity of inner
life beyond anything he had ever experienced” (Memoir 233).

After describing their decision to give up rural living in his March
27 letter to Gilchrist, Sharp demonstrated what many of his close
friends found remarkable, his ability to recover quickly no matter how
debilitating the illness:

As for me, one of my wander-fits has come upon me: the Spring-madness
has got into the blood: the sight of green hedgerows and budding leaves
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and the blue smoke rising here and there in the woodlands has wrought
some chemic furor in my brain. Before the week is out, I hope to be in
Normandy — and after a day or two by the sea at Dieppe, and then at
beautiful and romantic Rouen, to get to the green lanes and open places,
and tramp “towards the sun.” I'll send you a line from somewhere if you
care to hear.

He turned to Gilchrist’s relative isolation in Derbyshire:

I think you should see more of actual life: and not dwell so continually
in an atmosphere charged with your own imaginings. [...] part of the
year should be spent otherwise — say in a town like London, or Paris,
or in tramping through alien lands, France or Belgium, Scandinavia, or
Germany or Italy, or Spain: if not, in Scotland, or Ireland, or upon our
Isles, or remote counties. [...] Take your pen and paper, a satchel, and go
forth with a light heart. The gods will guide you to strange things, and
strange things to you. You ought to see more, to feel more, to know more,
at first hand. Be not afraid of excess. “The road of excess leads to the
palace of wisdom,” says Blake.

Gilchrist must have told Sharp he also suffered from depression:

To be alive and young and in health is a boon so inestimable that you
ought to fall on your knees among your moorland heather and thank
the gods. Dejection is a demon to be ruled. We cannot always resist his
tyranny, but we can always refuse to become bondagers to his usurpation.
Look upon him as an Afreet to be exorcised with a cross of red-hot iron.
He is a coward weakling, after all: take him by the tail and swing him
across the moor or down the valley. Swing up into your best. Be brave,
strong, self-reliant. Then you live.

In advising Gilchrist, who was ten years younger, to take the demon
of dejection “by the tail and swing him across the moor or down the
valley,” Sharp drew on his own experience.

Sharp did not escape to France before the week was out. On April
3 he wrote a long letter to Herbert Stone, a Harvard undergraduate
who, with his friend and classmate Hannibal Ingalls Kimball, had
established a publishing firm, Stone and Kimball, which would “accept
only manuscripts of literary merit and publish them in an artistic form.”
In August 1894, the firm relocated from Cambridge to Chicago where
Stone’s wealthy father, Melville Elijah Stone, edited the Chicago Daily
News. When Louise Chandler Moulton drew Sharp’s attention to the
enterprise, he saw an opening. He proposed to Stone a volume of seven
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short stories titled “The Rape of the Sabines,” after one of its stories he
had included in the Pagan Review. As it turned out, Stone and Kimball
published an American edition of Vistas late in 1894, and the volume of
short stories in 1895 under the less provocative title The Gypsy Christ and
Other Tales. Stone and Kimball also published the early works of Fiona
Macleod, which began to establish her reputation among America’s
literary elite. At the suggestion of Arthur Stedman, Sharp asked Stone
to negotiate for the plates and stock of his Flower o’ the Vine from Charles
Webster and Company as the firm was being liquidated. If Stone took
up the suggestion, the negotiations failed since there were no further
printings of that volume.

On April 8 Sharp told Arthur Stedman in a letter from Phenice Croft,
“I am better, though not right yet.” When he went to France is uncertain,
but on April 22 he sent a card to Murray Gilchrist from Paris that
promised a letter and declared “Here summer is come,” and concluded
“Some strange things happen in this world! Well — no more just now.”
Elizabeth joined him in Paris on April 30, and they both returned to
London on May 3. Recalling that Elizabeth and Edith Rinder decided
Sharp should not be left alone, Edith may have accompanied Sharp to
Normandy in mid-April and their time together in Dieppe and Rouen
may have been the “strange thing” Sharp would share with Gilchrist
when they next met.

The public aspect of the Fiona Macleod phase of Sharp’s literary
career began in May when Frank Murray published Pharais, a Romance
of the Isles from his Moray Press in Derby. In a May 4 letter, Sharp told
Stanley Little he had asked Murray to send him a pre-publication copy
of a Celtic romance written by a friend, a Miss Fiona Macleod. It was
a successor to his Vistas in Murray’s Regent’s Library Series, and he
was “specially interested not only in its author but in the book,” which
dealt with “the almost unknown life of the remoter isles of the Atlantic
seaboard.” Only three copies had been issued, one for him and two for
Miss Macleod. He hoped Little would like the book and write a notice
or review for the Academy or the Literary World. Prior to the formal
publication of Pharais, Sharp had decided to create a separate identity
for the female author and present her to the world as a real person.

As described in the previous chapter, Sharp told Catherine Ann
Janvier in August 1893 he was writing “a strange Celtic tale” he planned
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to call Pharais, a Celtic word for paradise. So, we know he began writing
passages in 1893 or even earlier for what became Fiona Macleod’s
Pharais. Shortly after the release of creativity he experienced in Rome
in 1891, he began looking for a means of capitalizing on his knowledge
of the Hebridean landscape and Celtic lore. Finally, he was able to tell
Murray Gilchrist in a letter of December 20, 1893, his “long dreamed of
Celtic Romance” was finished. A week later he told Frank Murray, the
Derby publisher, he wished “to adhere rigidly to the ‘Fiona Macleod’
authorship.” That decision meant Sharp’s main contribution to the
Celtic Renaissance would be attributed to a woman named Macleod.
Sometime between December 1893 and May 1894, Sharp realized he
would have to find a means for the fictitious author to communicate
with publishers and readers. His sister Mary, who lived with their
mother in Edinburgh, was an intelligent woman with time on her hands.
He enlisted her to copy his Fiona letters and mail them in Scotland.
Mary’s distinctive handwriting became an essential feature of the
deception. It was frequently cited as proof the writings were not the

Fig. 26 Portrait of Mary Beatrice Sharp, William Sharp’s youngest sister taken in
the Davis Studios in Edinburgh in 1906. Mary provided the handwriting
for Fiona Macleod’s extensive correspondence. Courtesy of the Department
of Rare Books and Special Collections, Dulles Reading Room, Firestone

Library, Princeton University.
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product of William Sharp, and it was principally through the letters that
he conveyed Fiona’s distinctive personality and established the fiction of
her separate identity. Discreet, efficient, and available, Mary was a vital
link in the two-step transmissions that contributed to the remarkable
success of Sharp’s covert literary career.

Fig. 27 Verso of Fig. 23 in Mary Sharp’s handwriting (the handwriting of Fiona
Macleod). The photograph is inscribed “To the Reverend R. Wilkins Rees.
Yours Sincerely, Mary B. Sharp. Fiona Macleod’s sister, who did all the
writing of the Fiona Macleod work and carried on the correspondence
connected with it.” Reverend R. Wilkins Rees was the author of ghost
stories, among them “Ghost-Layers and Ghost-Laying,” in The Church
Treasury of History, Custom, Folk-lore, Etc., ed. William Andrews (London:
William Andrews & Co., 1898), 241-274.) Courtesy of the Department
of Rare Books and Special Collections, Dulles Reading Room, Firestone
Library, Princeton University.
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Sharp bolstered the deception by sharing details about the reclusive
writer with friends, critics, and publishers. She was his cousin, married
to a peripatetic Scottish laird who owned a yacht that could whisk her
away to avoid detection. Sharp regarded her highly, provided advice
and assistance as needed, and respected her desire for privacy. He
sometimes floated the impression that he and Fiona were more than
close friends as they would go to remote locations together. In those
instances, he conflated Fiona with Edith Rinder. He often claimed he
was unaware of Fiona’s location so he could decline requests to meet
her. When avid readers did turn up at her Edinburgh return address,
she had just left to sail among the Hebrides. It was on those islands she
heard the tales and absorbed the atmosphere of her stories and poems.

The first known Fiona letter was written in mid-May to Grant Allen,
a well-known writer and Sharp’s friend:

C/o Mrs. B. etc.

Dear Sir,

I'have only now ascertained that you are in England. I was informed
you were in the South of France. Some short time ago I asked Mr. Frank
Murray of Derby to forward to you a copy of my just published romance
Pharais. I now write to ask if you will accept it as a slight token of homage
from the youngest and latest of Celtic writers to the most brilliant
champion of the Celtic genius now living. I do not, however, send it by
way of inveigling you to write about it, much as any word of yours would
mean to me both in service and honour: but primarily because of your
deep and vivid sympathy not only with nature but with the Celtic vision
of nature — and, also, let me add, because of the many delightful hours
I'have enjoyed with your writings.

Believe me, | Faithfully yours,

Fiona Macleod

This letter in William Sharp’s handwriting and preserved in New York’s
Pierpont Morgan Library was sent to Mary Sharp in Edinburgh for her
to copy and send to Allen.
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Fig. 28 Photograph of Grant Allen (1848-1899) by Elliott & Fry (c. 1899), Wikimedia,
https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Portrait_of_Grant_Allen.jpg,
Public Domain.

The letter elicited a positive reply from Allen: Pharais, he wrote to Fiona
“strikes me as a beautiful and poetical piece of work.” He tempered his
praise with a few words of criticism from an experienced writer to a
novice. Interlarding English with Gaelic words was a trifle distracting.
She should strive for a little more story and less pure poetry. “Perfection
in literature lies in avoiding excess in any direction.” He asked Fiona
for some details about her life and expressed hope she would visit him
and his wife who was much taken by Pharais (Memoir, 228-229). Allen
accepted the fiction Sharp was creating, but according to Elizabeth
“Questions as to the identity of the author were already ‘in the air””
(Memoir, 230). In a June Fiona letter to the publisher John Lane, Sharp
had Fiona raise the issue directly: “You asked me in your note who
told me to apply to you with The Mountain Lovers. It was my cousin,
Mr. William Sharp. I hear that some paper says he wrote Pharais: and 1
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sent a disclaimer at once to the Westminster Gazette.” Something in that
periodical touched on the possibility that Sharp was the author. Even
Grant Allen expressed some skepticism in a July 12 letter to Sharp:

As to Pharais, 1 will confess I read it with some doubt as to whether it
was not your own production; and after I had written my letter to Miss
Macleod, I took it to my wife and said “Now, if this is William Sharp,
what a laugh and a crow he will have over me! Le Gallienne, who is
stopping with us, was sure it was yours; but on second thoughts, I felt
certain, in spite of great likeness of style, there was a feminine touch in it
and sent my letter.

He continued:

All the same, however, I was not quite satisfied you were not taking us
in, especially as your book with Blanche Willis Howard had shown one
how womanly a tone you could adopt when it suited you; and I shan’t
feel absolutely at rest on the subject till I have seen the “beautiful lassie”
in person. If she turns out to be W. S. in disguise, I shall owe you a bad
one for it: for I felt my letter had just that nameless twinge of emotion one
uses towards a woman, and a beginner.

Allen would be glad to meet Sharp’s cousin in October, “supposing her
to exist,” when he hoped the Sharps would bring her to visit him in
Hindhead, his village in Surrey. It is interesting to note in the context
of this correspondence that Grant Allen wrote and published in 1897
a novel — The Type-Writer Girl —under the female pseudonym Olive
Pratt Rayner. Like Sharp, he must have thought a work so titled would
be taken more seriously if by a woman.

These letters illustrate the problems Sharp encountered from the
start maintaining the fiction of a real Fiona Macleod. A year later he was
still trying to assure Allen of Fiona’s existence. By that time their mutual
friend Richard Le Gallienne, who saw from the start the linkage between
Sharp’s writings and Fiona’s, was sure of the deception and said so in
print. That so alarmed Sharp he sent Le Gallienne a letter telling him
to “shut up.” When next they met face to face, he told Le Gallienne the
truth after obtaining a firm promise of confidentiality.

In early June Sharp sent from Fiona a copy of Pharais and positive
quotes from several reviews to John Lane. He hoped to entice Lane into
publishing The Mountain Lovers, the second Fiona romance. As Fiona,
Sharp wrote: the publisher John Lane
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Possibly you may care to make me an offer in advance for “The Mountain
Lovers.” It will be a book of about the same length as “Pharais,” probably
a little longer. The note that is dominant is the Return to Joy. The story
deals with the love of two young mountaineers, Alan Gilchrist and
Sorcha Cameron: but there is an interweaving of dramatic and tragic
episodes in the lives of those directly connected with the Mountain
Lovers. For the rest, there is, in a more marked degree than in “Pharais,”
a constant recurrence to the intimate relationship we have, or may have,
with Nature. It is here, I know, that I have “something to say”: but I will
not trouble you with details which in embryo, can be of no interest to
anyone until duly and finally set forth.

He sent Lane the opening chapter of the new romance and promised the
completed manuscript “by the end of August, or, possibly, a little earlier.”
He knew Lane was the principal in the firm, but Fiona, unfamiliar with
the London publishing scene, was not sure: “If I have been misinformed
as to your being the literary representative or chief partner in your firm,
I beg you to excuse the informality of my addressing myself to you
direct.” If Lane was unwilling to accept the book without seeing it, Fiona
asked him to return the opening pages so she could find “a publisher
on my own terms elsewhere.” She would soon be going abroad for two
or three months, so she hoped Lane would reply at his very earliest
convenience. Though a remote novice, Fiona could demonstrate some of
Sharp’s backbone in her dealings with Lane. The favorable reception of
Pharais suggested there was money to be made by the Fiona deception,
and Sharp set about acquiring it.

On July 7 Sharp, under his own name, admonished John Lane for
not responding to Fiona’s early June letter. He was too pressed with his
own work “to attend properly to other people’s affairs.” He had “quite
enough trouble” arranging the publication of Pharais with Murray.
He even had to read the proofs since “Miss [sic] Macleod when not
on one of her visits to Edinburgh or Glasgow lives in a very remote
spot.” He had promised to see The Mountain Lovers through the press,
but he could not “undertake all the preliminary ‘skirmishing” as well.”
He is critical of both Miss Macleod and Mr. Lane: “What with an
exasperatingly vagrant — if dear and lovely — cousin on the one hand,
and an exasperatingly dilatory publisher on the other, the fate of a kindly
intermediary who happens to be frantically busy is not a pleasant one!”
The distinction between Sharp and his cousin is clearly drawn, and Lane
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is put on notice. Sharp further baited the hook by saying he thought he
would arrange with Miss Macleod the publication of her next book, a
volume of “fantasies, short stories, and poems called ‘A Celtic Wreath’,”
with Macmillan in London and a Boston firm. The letter had its desired
effect. Sharp was able to write again to Lane within a couple of weeks,
this time as Fiona, to say she was glad Lane entertained her proposal
favorably and set forth the terms she would require if Lane went on to
publish the book. Whether or not he met all the terms, Lane published
The Mountain Lovers in 1895.

At the beginning of August, Sharp went to the west of Scotland to stay
with his mother and sisters who were on holiday in Kilcreggan on the
Firth of Clyde. In a letter to Elizabeth, he said he was learning legends
and customs from “a Celtic Islesman from Iona” who gave him “a copy
of an ancient MS. map of Iona with all its fields, divisions, bays, capes,
isles, etc.” While out with the Islesman in his “two-sailed Wherry,” a
storm sprang up which he quite enjoyed:

We flew before the squalls like a wild horse, and it was glorious with the
shriek of the wind, the heave and plunge of the boat, and the washing
of the water over the gunwales. Twice ‘the black wind” came down upon
us out of the hills, and we were nearly driven under water. He kept
chanting and calling a wild sea-rune, about a water-demon of the isles,
till T thought I saw it leaping from wave to wave after us.

In addition to that rune, he learned the rune of “the reading of the spirit”
and the rune of the “Knitting of the Knots.”

On August 15 he returned to Edinburgh where he wrote a long
letter to Herbert Stone regarding the American edition of Vistas which
Stone and Kimball planned to publish. The firm had initiated a small
trade magazine called the Chap-Book to advertise its publications. The
September 15 number would be devoted to William Sharp and Vistas. It
would contain a poem by Sharp (“To E. C. Stedman”), an “appreciation”
of Sharp’s poetry by his friend, the Canadian poet Bliss Carman, and
“The Birth of a Soul,” a new “dramatic interlude,” which would be
included in the American edition of Vistas. He enclosed a photograph
for the Chap-Book that had been taken in the spring by Frederick Hollyer.
Sharp remained a very handsome man, only slightly greying at the age
of thirty-nine. His frequent illnesses, physical and mental, had yet to
take their toll.
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Fig. 29 Photograph of William Sharp by Frederick Hollyer (1894). Reproduced
from Poems by William Sharp. Selected and arranged by Mrs. William Sharp
(London, William Heinemann, 1912). Wikimedia, https://commons.
wikimedia.org/wiki/File:William_Sharp_1894.jpg#/media/File:William_

Sharp_1894.jpg, Public Domain.

Sharp also included with his August 15 letter to Stone a dedication of
Vistas to Henry Alden. It described the contents of the book as “vistas into
the inner life of the human soul, psychic episodes,” and acknowledged
their debt to Maeterlinck, “the Belgian poet-dramatist” who had
“introduced a new and vital literary form.” During his visit to New York
in 1891, Sharp and Alden, editor of Harper’s Magazine, became friends,
and the dedication was “a tribute of affection and admiration” to one
he honored and esteemed. From Kilcreggan in early August, Sharp sent
Alden two articles for possible publication in Harper’s. He hoped for the
best because money was short: “What with illness & consequent 3 or 4
months’ idleness or next to idleness, my wife’s long illness, & serious
financial distress, we have gone thro,” & are still suffering from, a rather
bad time lately.” Alden responded positively, and both articles appeared
in Harper’s in 1895: “Rome in Africa” in June and “The Hebrid Isles”


https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:William_Sharp_1894.jpg#/media/File:William_Sharp_1894.jpg
https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:William_Sharp_1894.jpg#/media/File:William_Sharp_1894.jpg
https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:William_Sharp_1894.jpg#/media/File:William_Sharp_1894.jpg

Chapter Eleven: 1894 143

in December. The editors Sharp met during his two trips to New York
opened a new outlet for his writing and provided a welcome source of
income.

Fig. 30 Portrait of Henry Mills Alden (1836-1919), who edited Harper’s Magazine
for fifty years, in 1910. Unknown photographer. Wikimedia, https://
commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Henry_Mills_Alden_portrait_in_In_

After_Days_(1910).jpg, Public Domain

In mid-August, Elizabeth joined her husband in Scotland, and they
spent the next six weeks exploring and collecting materials in the
western isles. When they reached Oban, they sailed to the Isle of Mull,
crossed to its western shore, and boarded a small ferry to Iona. This
was Elizabeth’s first visit to the island, and she was deeply moved by
its beauty and its history. In the Fiona writings, Sharp turned often to
the story of St. Columba who established a religious colony on Iona in
the sixth century, built an abbey, and brought Christianity from Ireland
to Scotland. He captured the romanticism Iona induces in a September
Fiona letter to the Irish poet and novelist, Katharine Tynan-Hinkson.

I read your letter last night, at sunset, while I was lying on the Cruac-an-
Angeal, the hillock on the west where the angel appeared to St Columba.
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[...] It was a very beautiful sight to see the day wane across the ocean,
and then to move slowly homeward through the gloaming, and linger
awhile by the Street of the Dead near the ruined abbey of Columba. But
these Isles are so dear to me that I think everyone must feel alike!

Sharp wanted to establish a close friendship between the two ladies as
he hoped Fiona would become the foremost female writer in a Scottish
Celtic Renaissance as Mrs. Hinkson had become for the Irish Celtic
Renaissance. Iona was an ideal place to achieve that objective as it linked
Scottish and Irish history. The impressions Sharp gained during this and
subsequent visits provided the material for the Fiona Macleod essay
“lona” that formed part of The Divine Adventure in 1900. Fiona would
become part of the lore of Iona where her books are available even today
for purchase by tourists who descend on the island. After several more
weeks exploring the islands south of Oban and hearing more stories,
the Sharps returned at the end of September to their new residence in
Hampstead.

During the fall, Sharp worked on the stories and sketches Stone
and Kimball published in 1895 as The Gypsy Christ and Other Tales. To
maintain the separate identity of Fiona and that stream of income, he
continued to publish under both names. Elizabeth often blamed the
strain of dual authorship for his frequent illnesses, physical and mental,
but those illnesses plagued him in the 1880s, long before the advent of
Fiona. In October and November, he wrote several Sharp articles while
also working on Fiona’s The Mountain Lovers, the Fiona short stories he
began in August, and the poems that would appear in Fiona’s From the
Hills of Dream in 1896.

In mid-October, he wrote a conciliatory letter to Theodore Watts (from
1897 Watts-Dunton) hoping to repair a breach in their friendship. Before
the break occurred, Sharp sent Watts a birthday letter each year. This
letter, resuming that practice, contained a paragraph that demonstrates
the amiability frequently attributed to Sharp by his friends.

In the old days, before your feelings towards me changed somewhat, you
were not ill-pleased that (more Scotice, looking upon the remembrance
of a friend’s birthday as a scrupulous, almost a religious observance)
I used to drop you a line on each 12th Oct. Nor, I hope, will you be
ill-pleased now: for the remembrance & the good wish arise from an
affectionate regard, and, I need hardly say, high esteem. No doubt I have
given you cause of irritation: as, in turn, I was resentful because of things
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repeated to me, said of me by you. Right or wrong, I don’t think anything
is to be gained now by going over the ground of complaint either may
have or may imagine against the other. For myself, I bear you nothing
but good will: and hope you entertain something of the same feeling
towards myself. It is a pity that between friends of material difference in
age, differences and divergences are so apt to occur: but I like to believe
that in most instances these are not fundamental, but only, as it were, the
surface currents.

Born in 1832, Watts was twenty-three years Sharp’s senior, and this
letter had its intended effect as the two men resumed their friendship,
and Sharp regained occasional access to Algernon Swinburne, Watts’ s
housemate. This letter included a poignant passage:

This has been a sad year, in the loss of friends: J. Addington Symonds,
John M. Gray, Mrs. Augusta Webster, Roden Noel, Walter Pater. The
death of the last named is a deep loss to everyone who loves what is
beautiful and dignified and nobly helpful, in literature.

First Symonds and then Pater befriended the young and handsome
William Sharp in the early 1880s and helped pave the way for his
acceptance as an editor and writer. All five individuals were writers and
friends of Watts and Sharp.

In alate October letter Sharp informed Herbert Stone The Gypsy Christ
was complete. In mid-November he told Murray Gilchrist he was busy
writing articles “for Harpers, the Atlantic Monthly, Nineteenth Century,
and three or four other monthlies, and weekly art-articles, etc.” Of the
titular story of The Gypsy Christ, he wrote to Gilchrist:

The locale of this story is the moorland country where my dear friend
& comrade, Murray Gilchrist lives. I wonder what you will think of the
tragic atmosphere I seem to have gained from your remote moorlands.
There are descriptions and episodes which you will be able to read
between the lines.

It is unclear what Gilchrist might read between the lines. It is also
unclear what Sharp meant by telling Gilchrist he was “steadily gaining
ground. The prolonged mental strain I was under being gone, the chief
cause is removed.” The removed “chief cause” may have been financial
as the articles he was writing and the popularity of Fiona promised a
more secure future. It may have been the environment of Phenice Croft
which he had left. It may have been that arrangements had been worked
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out between the two Sharps and the two Rinders to enable Sharp and
Edith to maintain their relationship. In early December Sharp went
to Scotland —St. Andrews and Edinburgh — for the three weeks
preceding Christmas. Having agreed with Elizabeth that Sharp should
not be left alone, Edith may have joined him for all or part of his escape
from the fogs of London. After Christmas, his doctor advised a rest near
the sea, and the Sharps spent a week on the Isle of Wight. Thus ended
1894, a year in which Sharp launched Fiona Macleod upon the world
and produced, despite frequent illnesses, an abundance of writings,
hers and his own.



Chapter Twelve
January—June 1895

In January 1895 William Sharp wrote to a friend: “London, I do not like,
though I feel its magnetic charm, or sorcery. I suffer here. The gloom,
the streets, the obtrusion and intrusion of people, all conspire against
thought, dream, true living.” The city is “a vast reservoir of all the
evils of civilised life with a climate which makes me inclined to believe
that Dante came here instead of to Hades.” Elizabeth recognized the
problem, “the noise and confused magnetism of the great City weighed
disastrously” on her husband. “The strain of the two kinds of work he
was attempting to do, the immediate pressure of the imaginative work
[by which she meant the work of Fiona Macleod] became unbearable,
‘the call of the sea,” imperative” (Memoir, 242). Attempting to alleviate
the crisis, the Sharps went to Ventnor on the Isle of Wight on January 6.
Before they left, Sharp managed several letters. On January 1, he wrote
to the editor of a Scottish paper recommending the publication of an
article by Frank Rinder about the Scottish poet Robert Fergusson, who
died at the age of twenty-four in 1774. He described Rinder, who at
thirty-two was only seven years younger than Sharp, as an “able and
promising young writer.”

After attending the funeral of Christina Rossetti on January 2nd,
Sharp proposed an article about her to Horace Scudder at the Atlantic
Monthly. It would be similar to his article on Walter Pater which
appeared in the December 1894 issue of the magazine. Scudder accepted
the suggestion, and Sharp’s “Some Reminiscences of Christina Rossetti”
appeared in the July 1895 issue. He also proposed an article on “The
Celtic Renaissance,” a subject that was “becoming recognized as one
of profound interest and indeed of paramount significance.” He was
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“a specialist in old and contemporary Scots-Irish Celtic literature,” but
he would, of course, restrict himself to “the Celtic spirit: not to what is
written in Scottish Gaelic or Irish Gaelic.” The new “Celtic movement
in Ireland & Scotland, & in a less degree in Wales, is, in a word, of vital
importance.” Fiona would be the movement’s dominant literary voice
in Scotland, but William Sharp would also play a role. Scudder must
not have accepted Sharp’s proposal as no such article appeared in the
Atlantic.

Writing to Catherine Janvier on January 5, he said he resented “too
close identification” with the “so-called Celtic renaissance.” To survive,
his work “must be beautiful in itself.” Pharais, he wrote, came from the
core of his heart; it was the beginning of his true work. While writing
it, his pen was “dipped in the ichor” of his life. He could not say more
about Pharais without telling her about his whole life, but one day he
would confide “some of the strange old mysteries of earlier days I have
part learned, part divined, and other things of the spirit.” He could
write out of his heart as Fiona in a way he could not as William Sharp.

This rapt sense of oneness with nature, this cosmic ecstasy and elation,
this wayfaring along the extreme verges of the common world, all this
is so wrought up with the romance of life that I could not bring myself
to expression by my outer self, insistent and tyrannical as that need is
[...] My truest self, the self who is below all other selves, and my most
intimate life and joys and sufferings, thoughts, emotions, and dream:s,
must find expression, yet I cannot save in this hidden way.

In this, his most concise and forthright justification of the pseudonym,
there is no mention of supernatural beings or of a separate person,
but simply a recognition of two “selves.” His most basic self could be
expressed only by adopting a feminine pseudonym and projecting a
separate identity for his hidden feminine self. That the deeper self was
female raised a question that has plagued Sharp’s reputation since it
was revealed upon his death in 1905 that he was Fiona. Of the book’s
reception, Sharp told Mrs. Janvier “It had reached people more than
he dreamt of as likely” and “created a new movement” in Scotland.
In England, it was hailed as a “work of genius” by the likes of George
Meredith, Grant Allen, H. D. Traill, and Theodore Watts. It was “ignored
in some quarters, abused in others, and unheeded by ‘the general
reader,”” but Sharp was nonetheless “deeply glad with its reception.”
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The Sharps met Anna and Patrick Geddes in the fall of 1894, and the
couple figured prominently in their lives as 1895 unfolded. There arose
between Sharp and Geddes

a friendship with far-reaching results for “Fiona Macleod” [...] Both
were idealists, keen students of life and nature; cosmopolitan in outlook
and interest, they were also ardent Celts who believed in the necessity
of preserving the finer subtle qualities and the spiritual heritage of their
race against the encroaching predominance of materialistic ideas and
aims of the day (Memoir, 248-249).

The Geddes lived in Dundee, where he was Professor of Botany at
University College. They were also active in the intellectual and social
life of Edinburgh where, in 1887, Geddes established a summer school of
arts, letters, and science and Scotland’s first student hostel. The summer
school continued every August until 1899 and attracted students and
scholars from Great Britain and the Continent. In 1894 he transformed a
town mansion known as “Laird of Cockpen,” located near the Castle on
Edinburgh’s High Street, into the Outlook Tower, where he created the

Fig. 31 Sir Patrick Geddes (1854-1932). Photograph by Lafayette, 30 December
1931. © National Portrait Gallery, London. Some rights reserved.
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world’s first “sociological laboratory.” The building became the locus
of the Scottish version of the Celtic Revival, and Geddes became the
dominant figure in that revival. He fostered the movement as a means of
furthering his ambition to restore Edinburgh as a major European center
of learning. The Celtic Renaissance article Sharp offered Horace Scudder
for the Atlantic Monthly was one of a series of lectures Geddes asked
Sharp to deliver in August 1895 at the Summer School. The lectures,
as we will see, had an unfortunate result, but the invitation initiated
a friendship between the two men and opened the way for significant
contributions to the Celtic movement by Sharp as an editor and Fiona
Macleod as a writer.

From Ventnor on January 10, Sharp asked Anna Geddes if she was
surprised when her husband told her “W. S. and Fiona Macleod are
one in the same person.” Since the Fiona writings were his “Celtic”
credentials for taking part in the publishing firm Geddes was organizing,
he had confided in Geddes and given him permission to share the secret
with his wife. Sharp’s purpose in writing to Anna was to emphasize
the need for “absolute preservation of the secret.” Before she was
apprised of Fiona's identity, she received a letter from Fiona in the Fiona
handwriting. Now Sharp wrote in his own hand and signed the letter,
fittingly, “Fiona Macleod and William Sharp.” This is a unique instance
of the double signature in a letter and of the Fiona Macleod signature in
a letter written in Sharp’s hand. Signing both names and asserting W. S.
and F. M. were one in the same implied the presence of two personalities.
Sharp was trying to find a means of defining and describing his duality.
Elizabeth believed her husband’s frequent ailments were exacerbated by
the strain of appearing to the world as William Sharp while experiencing
insights and feelings that found an adequate means of expression only
through the female persona.

On January 15 Sharp wrote again to Geddes from Ventnor to say he
thought he should go to Edinburgh to discuss details of the publishing
firm and “Celtic matters.” They would accomplish more in a day than
in “months of correspondence.” The Sharps were returning to London
on January 18 and would be fully occupied through the weekend, but he
might be able to get away on January 21 and spend the next two days in
Edinburgh. He could ill afford the trip, but it seemed a necessity. Geddes
replied he would come to London for the meeting, and Sharp wrote on
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January 21 to say he would keep the afternoon and evenings of January
29, 30, and 31 entirely free to talk with Geddes. The Sharp’s flat had only
one bedroom, but he would arrange with a nearby friend — probably
Mona Caird — a place for him to stay.

In his response to Sharp’s January 15 letter, Geddes suggested
Sharp consider moving to Edinburgh where he could play a leading
role in the publishing firm and avoid extensive travel between London
and Edinburgh. In his January 21 response Sharp said he found the
idea tempting: “I have a profound & chronic distaste for London &
London life and a nostalgia for the north.” The chief drawback of a
move would be financial as a good deal of his income derived from
reviewing London art exhibits and works of literature. Editors were
less likely to ask for reviews beyond the London postal zone “partly
on account of late transmissions & early return of proofs.” He doubted
there was “publishing, secretarial, tutorial, or other work in Edinburgh
that, without more expenditure of time and energy than I now give
to my reviewing, would ensure me say £300 & leave me time for my
own particular work.” In addition to the financial disadvantage of a
permanent move to Edinburgh, the Sharps had many acquaintances
and some dear friends in London, and the city was a great meeting
place, a “bazaar of fortunate & smiling chances.” Sharp mentioned his
ambitions in the direction of the stage and his wife’s love of music, one
of her chief joys. He didn't see how he could “throw up Fogtown — at
present.” Perhaps he might have “rooms in Edinburgh (or the flat in
Ramsey Gardens we want to take if possible [...] and come & go a good
deal: in fact, if the publishing idea develops, & you entrust me with a
responsible part in it, I would need to be in Edinburgh for one week &
perhaps two weeks in each month.” On the other hand, if his work for
the Geddes publishing firm were to develop to the point where he could
receive a guaranteed salary of £300 per year, the move might be possible
as he would be glad to drop all his “miscellaneous pen-work.”

Having addressed his situation and his availability for the new
publishing venture, Sharp described at some length how he thought the
firm should develop. “The effort,” he wrote, “should be to produce at
first certain books of as pronounced a character as possible — books of
significance so to say: so that the Firm be known at once for a certain
distinction.” To help the firm get a good start, he suggested “a little
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Fortnightly,” like Stone and Kimball’s Chap-Book which sold for only
two pence and was “a splendid advt. of their wares.” He had given
Geddes a copy of the Chap-Book that featured his photograph and an
article publicizing the American edition of his Vistas. He would be
glad to undertake the required careful editing and handling. Geddes
penciled “Agreed” against this suggestion, which was the genesis of a
more elaborate publication, The Evergreen: A Northern Seasonal, the first
issue of which appeared in the spring of 1895.

Sharp went on to say the firm should engage in “no haphazard
publishing at first”: “There might be, to start with, a biological book by
A. Thomson: a sociological or other work by yourself: ‘A New Synthesis
of Art’ or other work by myself [...] a Celtic romance by Fiona Macleod
[...] (for it is on Celtic lines, I think, the most development will take
place first).” He estimated the firm would need an initial outlay of
about £1,000; authors would be paid on a royalty system. As for his own
involvement,

If you intend me to be the literary “boss” in the firm (tho” perhaps I
mistake your intent!) I would give my best thought, care, & experience to
making the venture a success in every way, & ultimately a potent factor
in the development of Scotland & of Edr [Edinburgh] in particular. Of
course, my editorial experiences, & far-reaching literary connections,
would stand me in good stead: & in a year or so we could have a varied
and potent “staff.”

As he continued Sharp’s thoughts expanded to include Wales and
Ireland, “If I were lity. ‘boss,” as I say, one effort would be to centralise
in Edinburgh all the Celtic work now being done by Scottish, Irish,
and Welsh writers.” Capital would be needed to “grease the wheels”
and then “patience” and “wise discretion.” Here Geddes again
wrote, “Agreed.” There is always room at the “top of the tree,” Sharp
asserted, and “We are too enthusiastic, too determined, not to get to
that top if it be possible, as I firmly believe it is, and as I know you
do.” To this statement, Geddes gave his final blessing: “Quite so. Full
speed ahead!” Sharp concluded by apologizing for writing “so scrappy
and unsatisfactory a note,” but said the writing of it moved him out of

2

his “depression & ‘doleful dumps.”” This letter provided the basis for
their discussion in London as Geddes noted his agreement with many

of Sharp’s suggestions and moved ahead with them without involving
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Sharp. He must have sensed Sharp’s inability to stay focused for long on
the practical details of management.

In early February 1895, Sharp put the finishing touches on the
second Fiona Macleod romance, The Mountain Lovers, which John Lane
published in the summer. He also wrote Fiona stories for a volume called
The Sin-Eater and Other Tales which was published in November of 1895
by the Geddes firm in Edinburgh and by Stone and Kimball in Chicago.
He was corresponding as Fiona with Herbert Stone about that volume
and as William Sharp about The Gypsy Christ and Other Tales which Stone
and Kimball published, also in 1895. Two weeks of intensive writing
and arranging took a heavy toll, physically and mentally. An incident
brought home to Elizabeth the seriousness of his condition.

A telegram had come. I took it to his study. I could get no answer. I
knocked, louder, then louder, —at last he opened the door with a
curiously dazed look in his face. I explained. He answered, “Ah, I could
not hear you for the sound of the waves!” It was the first indication to me,
in words, of what troubled him (Memoir, 242-243).

It was “the noise and confused magnetism of the great City” and his
estrangement from the sea. Since there were no waves to be heard in
London, he soon left for the West of Scotland.

After spending a weekend in Edinburgh, he went to Corrie, a village
on the western Island of Arran, and described his arrival on February 18
in a February 20 letter to Elizabeth:

It was a most glorious sail from Ardrossan. The sea was a sheet of blue
and purple washed with gold. Arran rose like a dream of beauty. I was
the sole passenger in the steamer, for the whole island! What made
the drive of six miles more beautiful than ever was the extraordinary,
fantastic beauty of the frozen waterfalls and burns caught as it were in
the leap. Sometimes these immense icicles hung straight and long, like a
Druid’s beard: sometimes in wrought sheets of gold, or magic columns
and spaces of crystal. Sweet it was to smell the pine and the heather and
bracken, and the salt weed upon the shore. The touch of dream was upon
everything, from the silent hills to the brooding herons by the shore.

Sharp was the sole passenger on the ferry between the mainland and the
port of Brodick on the island. From there he traveled six miles north to
the seaside village of Corrie.
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After a cup of tea, I wandered up the heights behind. In these vast
solitudes, peace and joy came hand in hand to meet me. The extreme
loneliness, especially when I was out of sight of the sea at last and could
hear no more the calling of the tide, and only the sough of the wind,
was like balm. Ah, those eloquent silences: the deep pain-joy of utter
isolation: the shadowy glooms and darkness and mystery of night-fall
among the mountains.

“In that exquisite solitude,” he continued, “I felt a deep exaltation grow.
The flowing of the air of the hills laved the parched shores of my heart.”

Fig. 32 Winter on theIsle of Arran. By Archie46 — Ownwork, CCBY-SA 3.0, Wikimedia
Common, https://commons.wikimedia.org/w/index.php?curid=30013029

Years later, Sharp retold the story of his 1895 experience in an essay
called “Earth, Fire, and Water” which appeared in Fiona Macleod’s The
Divine Adventure: lona; By Sundown Shores (1900). After repeating several
tales about men who were called to the sea by the sound of waves, the
narrator continued:

I have myself in lesser degree, known this irresistible longing. I am not
fond of towns, but some years ago I had to spend a winter in a great city.
It was all-important to me not to leave during January; and in one way I
was not ill-pleased, for it was a wild winter. But one night I woke, hearing
arushing sound in the street — the sound of water. I would have thought
no more of it, had I not recognized the troubled noise of the tide, and the
sucking and lapsing of the flow in weedy hollows. I rose and looked out.
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It was moonlight, and there was no water. When, after sleepless hours,
I rose in the grey morning I heard the splash of waves. All that day and
the next I heard the continual noise of waves. I could not write or read; at
last I could not rest. On the afternoon of the third day the waves dashed
up against the house. I said what I could to my friends and left by the
night train. In the morning we (for a kinswoman was with me) stood on
the Greenock Pier waiting for the Hebridean steamer, the Clansman, and
before long were landed on an island, almost the nearest we could reach,
and one that I loved well. We had to be landed some miles from the place
I wanted to go, and it was a long and cold journey. The innumerable little
waterfalls hung in icicles among the mosses, ferns, and white birches on
the roadside. Before we reached our destination, we saw a wonderful
sight. From three great mountains, their flanks flushed with faint rose,
their peaks white and solemn, vast columns of white smoke ascended. It
was as though volcanic fires had once again broken their long stillness.
Then we saw what it was: the north wind (unheard, unfelt, where we
stood) blew a hurricane against the other side of the peaks, and, striking
up the leagues of hard snow, drove it upward like smoke, till the columns
rose gigantic and hung between the silence of the white peaks and the
silence of the stars.

That night, with the sea breaking less than a score yards from where
I lay, I slept, though for three nights I had not been able to sleep. When I
woke, my trouble was gone.

The word painting of this passage is precise and moving. The description
of his arrival in the 1895 letter to Elizabeth germinated into a striking
and controlled passage of poetic prose. While there are subtle efforts
to feminize the narrative voice earlier and later in the essay, Fiona, the
supposed author, is absent from this passage.

Elizabeth addressed the issue: “Although the essay is written over
the signature of ‘Fiona Macleod” and belongs to that particular phase
of work, nevertheless it is obviously ‘William Sharp” who tells the story,
for the “‘we” who stood on the pier at Greenock is himself in his dual
capacity; his ‘kinswoman’ is his other self.” After inventing Fiona, Sharp
sometimes portrayed himself as two persons in one body, one male and
one female. In the 20 February letter of 1895, after telling Elizabeth he
was alone on the ferry to Arran, he wrote,

There is something of a strange excitement in the knowledge that two
people are here: so intimate and yet so far-off. For it is with me as though
Fiona was asleep in another room. I catch myself listening for her step
sometimes, for the sudden opening of a door. It is unawaredly that she
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whispers to me. I am eager to see what she will do — particularly in The
Mountain Lovers. It seems passing strange to be here with her alone at
last.

It was one thing for Sharp to create and name a secondary personality
over whom he had control. It was quite another, as here, to turn that
personality into a woman over whom he had no control.

When Sharp objectified the Fiona persona as a separate person,
she was sometimes a stand-in for a real person. The kinswoman who
accompanied him to Arran in mid-winter 1895, stood on the pier with
him, and was sleeping in the next room, may have been not the imagined
Fiona, but Edith Rinder. Ever kind and generous, we recall Elizabeth
writing of Mrs. Rinder:

Because of her beauty, her strong sense of life and of the joy of life;
because of her keen intuitions and mental alertness, her personality
stood for him as a symbol of the heroic women of Greek and Celtic days,
a symbol that, as he expressed it, unlocked new doors in his mind and
put him “in touch with ancestral memories” of his race.

In an 1896 letter to Elizabeth, Sharp wrote “to her I owe my development
as ‘Fiona Macleod’ though, in a sense of course, that began long before
I knew her, and indeed while I was still a child,” but “without her there
would have been no ‘Fiona Macleod’” (Memoir, 222).

It is impossible to pin down the precise role Edith played in the work
Sharp signed Fiona Macleod. Near the end of 1895, writing to his friend
Sir George Douglas who knew Fiona was Sharp, he referred to her not as
a separate personality, but as a “puzzling literary entity.” The previous
January, we recall, he told Catherine Janvier, “My truest self, the self
who is below all other selves, and my most intimate life and joys and
sufferings, thoughts, emotions and dreams, must find expression, yet I
cannot save in this hidden way.” Here Fiona was not a separate person,
but one of several “selves” demanding expression. Elizabeth believed
Edith Rinder enabled her husband to drop his defenses, release his
deepest “self,” and exercise most fully his creative imagination. She
accepted his claim that he could write most fluently as Fiona when he
and Edith were alone together. Some of his letters, especially those to
E. C. Stedman, imply he used his need to be away from the city, his
need for solitude, as an excuse to be alone with Edith. The build-up of
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frustration that preceded his escape to the West of Scotland in February
1895 and again in June of that year may have been partly a build-up of
sexual tension. The sense of relief and renewal in his February 20 letter
to Elizabeth and, after a similar escape, in a June 4 letter to Geddes is
palpable.

In early March, Sharp was back in London sending Geddes a
detailed proposal for a quarterly which would be a vehicle for stories,
articles, poems, and visual art and also a means of advertising the firm's
other publications. He had in mind “a thoroughly representative Anglo-
Celtic ‘quarterly’” that would be “well-supported” in all the big towns
of Great Britain and America and draw “Anglo-Celtic writers to look to
Edinburgh.” He enclosed a draft of what he thought the first number
should contain and volunteered to be its editor (with the help of his
wife). Drawing on his London connections, he would assemble a strong
list of contributors. He envisioned the quarterly, entitled “The Celtic
World,” as a “valuable record” of the entire Celtic Revival. Rather than
naming an editor, it should say only: “Published by Patrick Geddes and
Colleagues” or “Edited and Published in Edinburgh.” He constructed a
Table of Contents for a “Summer Number” that included items by the
most notable Irish, English, Welsh, and Scottish Celticists: W. B. Yeats,
Ernest Rhys, Patrick Geddes, Katharine Tynan, George Russell (&),
and, of course, Fiona Macleod. Planning expansively, he proposed a
Frontispiece and Celtic Ornament by John Duncan, the principal visual
artist of the Scottish revival.

Ignoring Sharp’s offer of himself as editor, Geddes took the idea of a
quarterly issued as a book and quickly implemented it. After securing
an arrangement with T. Fisher Unwin in London to market the book,
he produced not a summer issue, as suggested by Sharp, but a spring
issue simply called The Evergreen: A Northern Seasonal. This would be
followed, in accordance with Sharp’s suggestion, by Summer, Fall and
Winter issues. Geddes asked William Macdonald, an aspiring poet, to
assemble and oversee the publication of the first volume. It began with a
seven-page “Proem” by Macdonald and J. Arthur Thomson, a biologist,
which set forth Geddes’s ideas for reforming not only Edinburgh’s Old
Town, but the industrialized cities of Britain and beyond. It equated the
decadence that pervades literature and the arts with the decay of cities
and asserted there were signs of a New Birth “against the background
of Decadence.”
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The music of the coming Renascence is heard so far only in “broken
snatches,” but in these snatches four chords are sounded, which we
would fain carry in our hearts — That faith may be had still in the
friendliness of fellows; that the love of country is not a lost cause; that the
love of women is the way of life; and that in the eternal newness of every
Child is an undying promise for the Race.

One hears in that sentence attributed to the aspiring poet William
Macdonald the distinctive voice of Patrick Geddes.

The content of the Spring volume was divided into four sections:
“Spring in Nature,” “Spring in Life,” “Spring in the World,” and
“Spring in the North.” Each story, poem, and essay touches on the
theme of renewal. The authors are not the luminaries of the larger Celtic
renaissance Sharp proposed, but comparatively unknown Scots. It
contained two essays by Geddes (“Life and its Science” and “The Scots
Renascence”), a Fiona story (“The Anointed Man”), and three Sharp
poems, one under his own name and two signed Fiona. Headpieces
and Tailpieces of Celtic design appear throughout the volume which

Fig. 33 “Apollo’s School Days,” John Duncan, in The Evergreen: A Northern Seasonal,
The Book of Spring (Edinburgh: Patrick Geddes and Colleagues, 1895).
Photograph by William F. Halloran of his copy in 2020
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was printed on fine paper by Constable in Edinburgh. Several copies
were produced with tan leather bindings and a full-page design on the
front cover embossed in green. The finest of several full-page drawings
is John Duncan’s “Apollo’s School-Days” which echoes the drawings of
the decadent Aubrey Beardsley.

As a sidelight, my wife and I spent the summer of 1962 in Edinburgh
where we met Arthur Allhallows Geddes — Patrick Geddes” son and
William Sharp’s godson — at the National Library of Scotland. He was
a Lecturer in Geography at Edinburgh University who always wearing a
kilt as he moved about the Old Town. When he learned I was examining
the papers of his godfather, he offered to sell me for five pounds his set
of the four Evergreens bound in leather. When he failed to locate his set,
he arranged for me to receive the set, also bound in leather, belonging to
Lady Mears, his sister, Patrick Geddes” daughter, and the widow of Sir
Frank Mears, (1880-1953). Trained as an architect, Mears became Patrick
Geddes’ assistant in 1908 and married Norah Geddes in 1915. Scotland’s
leading planning consultant from the 1930s to the early 1950s, he was
knighted in 1946. There followed an invitation to have sherry with
Lady Mears at her home in the Morningside district of Edinburgh. She
hoped to learn more about William Sharp and his relationship with her
father. After a pleasant visit and well-fortified with sherry, we returned
to our humble flat in Edinburgh’s New Town with Lady Mears’ set of
The Evergreen which may or may not have been replaced by Arthur’s
missing set.

In a letter to Geddes dated May 15, Sharp said he liked much of what
was in the spring volume, but some of it lacked “distinctiveness as well
as distinction.” It was promising and with “careful piloting” should
“come to stay.” He read Geddes’s two contributions “with particular
interest and pleasure, not only with the affection of a friend but with
the sangfroid of a critic.” The poetry in the volume, including that of
Fiona Macleod, did not seem as good as the prose. The editorial control,
he wrote, “must be more exigent.” And the illustrations, he thought,
perilously weak: “With the exception of Duncan’s “Apollo’s School Days”
& some of the head-pieces, there is not a drawing [ ...] which is not crude
in draughtsmanship and in design — or in one or two instances frankly
meaningless!” John Duncan’s “Anima Celtica” was weakly imitative and
lacking in any redeeming features. He judged this kind of work as “the
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mere dross and debris of the ‘fin-de Siecle’ ebb.” It had “the same effect
on one’s optic nerves as a scraping nail has on one’s auditory ditto.” He
expected much adverse criticism of the volume because of its art; “The
Yellow Book drawings are at least clever if ultra-fin-de-Siecle, while the
majority of these of The Evergreen are fin-de-Siecle without being clever.”
He recognized his criticism may be too severe, but he felt so strongly
“that a really valuable & significant future awaits the ‘Evergreen’ if it
preserve & develop its best, in literature & art, & disengage itself from
what is amateurish.”

The second volume of The Evergreen appeared in the fall of 1895, while
the third (summer) and the fourth (winter) followed in 1896. Sharp’s
critique had the effect of improving the quality of the later volumes.
In a note called “Envoy” at the close of the fourth volume Geddes and
Macdonald announced the end of the first series and declared the
need to take some seasons off before producing a second series. Since
the publication was without an editor and invited authors were free

Fig. 34 The Outlook Tower, Castlehill, Edinburgh., locus of the Scottish Celtic
Revival. Photograph by Kim Traynor (2013), Wikimedia, https://commons.
wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Outlook_Tower,_Castlehill,_Edinburgh.JPG#/

media/File:Outlook_Tower,_Castlehill,_Edinburgh.JPG, CC BY-SA 3.0
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to contribute as they wished, The Evergreen reflected Geddes’s effort to
create an artistic commune in the Outlook Tower and its surrounding
buildings, in which writers, visual artists, and scientists would live
happily together and stimulate each other’s creativity. According to the
“Envoy,” the artists and scientists now recognized the need to go off on
their own and do their own work before coming back together in a new
synthesis. The Evergreen was not revived.

In early April Sharp wrote a long letter of complaint to Herbert
Stone; he had not received proof sheets of The Gypsy Christ which had
been promised in February, and Fiona Macleod was upset for not having
heard from him about the agreement to publish an American edition
of Pharais. Sharp was beginning to have doubts that Stone and Kimball
would be a reliable American publisher of his books. It was an early sign
that stresses had developed between the two young publishers. In fact,
Melville Stone — Herbert’s father and publisher of the Chicago Daily
News — who supported the publishing venture had begun to wonder if
it would develop into a viable business.

In mid-April Sharp went to Paris to cover a salon for the Glasgow
Herald. He was back in London by the twenty-seventh when he wrote
to Geddes apologizing for not having time in Paris to look up Thomas
Barclay, a Scottish barrister and asking him to support Geddes’s scheme
to create a Franco-Scottish College somewhere in France. He promised
to contact Barclay when he was back in Paris on May 5, this time with
his wife, to review another salon.

Prior to the second Paris trip he wrote Geddes another long letter
(April 29) describing an elaborate plan for book publications. He would
be in Scotland around May 20 and would like to stay with the Geddes
in Dundee for a few days to confer “about the publishing business.”
The two men must have came to an arrangement during Geddes’s
late January visit to London, for Sharp to oversee the publication of
books, and his April 29 letter contained proposals for discussion. Sharp
thought the firm’s first book should be an “R. L. S. volume” — that is,
a volume either about or by Robert Louis Stevenson — followed by a
romance composed by “a well-known Man.” Here Geddes wrote in
the margin “Mrs. Mona Caird — Agreed 23/5/5.” Though not a man,
Mona Caird was a well-known advocate for the rights of women and a
close friend of the Sharp’s. Geddes’s marginal note, surely suggested by
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Sharp, raises the possibility that Mona Caird, who published in 1894 her
ground-breaking novel, The Daughters of Danaus, was working on or had
completed her next book, The Pathway of the Gods: A Novel, which was
published in London by Skeffington in 1898. Neither a Stevenson book
nor a Mona Caird romance was published by the Geddes firm.

The first two books, Sharp continued, should be followed by Fiona’s
volume of short stories, The Sin-Eater and Other Stories, which would be
ready in late fall. Stories of the kind were in demand, Sharp explained,
and its sales should be helped by the June appearance of Fiona's
second romance, The Mountain Lovers. Geddes wrote in the margin
of Sharp’s letter next to Fiona’s Sin-Eater, “Press for July,” and then,
during his meeting with Sharp on May 23, he wrote “Agreed 23/5/5/
for the Autumn.” Lyra Celtica, an anthology of Celtic poetry, would also
be ready for publication in the fall. Sharp suggested the firm publish
a series of short books of fiction called “The Evergreen Series” and a
“Cosmopolitan Series” containing translations of works by “foreign
authors of marked power & distinction in the ‘new movement’ —a
vague phrase that really means little save the onward wave of the
human mind.” He listed fourteen authors from six countries, including
the United States, whose work might be translated. Finally, he thought it
best to leave until 1896 the publication of a book called The Literary Ideal,
which would contain the lectures he planned to deliver in August in
Geddes’s Summer School. Geddes wisely wrote in the margin “Discuss
in August,” as he wanted to see the lectures before agreeing to publish
them.

Though few of the ideas proposed in this letter materialized, Sharp
served briefly as Manager of Patrick Geddes and Colleagues and, when
that proved impracticable, as its Literary Adviser. The firm produced,
under Sharp’s supervision, several beautiful books that rival in design
and format those published by established firms in Dublin and London
for the Irish contingent of the Celtic Revival. In a series called The Celtic
Library, Fiona’s Sin-Eater and Other Tales appeared in the fall of 1895
and her Washer of the Ford in 1896. The series also included in 1896, The
Fiddler of Carne: A North Sea Winter’s Tale, a Welsh romance set in the
late eighteenth century by Sharp’s friend Ernest Rhys, and, in 1897, The
Shadow of Arvor; Legendary Romances and Folk-Tales of Brittany, translated
and retold by Edith Wingate Rinder. The presence of Wales and Brittany
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reflected Sharp’s determination to have the firm reach beyond Scotland
in its portrayal of Gaeldom. A collection of Fiona poems called From
the Hills of Dream, Mountain Songs and Island Runes was published in
1896. It was dedicated to Geddes’ son and Sharp’s Godson, Arthur
Allhallows Geddes, who was one year old on Halloween in 1896. In
1897, the firm issued Fiona’s Songs and Tales of St. Columba and His Age
and The Shorter Stories of Fiona Macleod, a rearrangement and reissue in
three inexpensive paper-covered volumes of the stories published in The
Sin-Eater and The Washer of the Ford. While under his direction, the books
published by Patrick Geddes and Colleagues were limited to those by
Sharp disguised by the pseudonym, his wife, and his friends. It became,
nonetheless, the principal voice of the Scottish Celtic Revival due
principally to the writings of Fiona Macleod; and with those writings
she became, according to an article in the Irish Independent, “the most
remarkable figure in the Scottish Celtic Renascence.” In that context, we
need to keep reminding ourselves she was William Sharp.

Fig. 35 An example of a Patrick Geddes and Colleague book: The Shadow of Arvor:
Legendary Romances and Folk-Tales of Brittany, Translated and Retold by Edith
Wingate Rinder (Edinburgh: Patrick Geddes & Colleagues, 1897). Printed
by W. H. White and Co. Ltd., Edinburgh Riverside Press. Photograph by

William F. Halloran (2019).
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In his April 29 letter to Geddes, Sharp said Lyra Celtica, an anthology
of Celtic poetry, would be ready for publication in the fall of 1895. He
thoughtits editor of record should be neither F. M. nor W.S., but Elizabeth
Sharp. This was advisable, he thought, “for several reasons (one among
them, its inclusion of F. M.’s runes & Celtic lyrics).” Sharp, however,
would write a “critical introductory essay (as distinct from an ordinary
preface).” When it appeared, the book’s editor was Elizabeth A. Sharp,
but it was largely the work of her husband who selected the poems,
contributed copious notes, and wrote a lengthy introduction. Lyra Celtica
contains ancient Irish, Scottish, and Cornish poems and early Armorican
(Breton) and Cymric (Welch) poems, but most of the volume is devoted
to representative poems by “modern and contemporary” poets — Irish,
Scottish, Welch, Manx, Cornish, and Breton. Even Canada is represented
by Bliss Carman, chosen because he was Sharp’s friend, but justified by
his Scottish ancestry. The volume’s definition of Celtic is very broad;
poems by Lord Byron and George Meredith are included. It reflects the
suggestion in Sharp’s April 29 letter to Geddes that the firm publish a
“Cosmopolitan Series.” That series did not materialize, but Sharp knew
Geddes wanted the Scottish Celtic Revival’s inclusiveness to signal its
“cosmopolitanism,” then fashionable in Europe, and the restoration of
Scotland’s centrality as a European center of learning and culture. E.
A. Sharp was joined as editor by J. Matthay for the second revised and
enlarged edition of Lyra Celtica which was published by John Grant’s
Edinburgh firm in 1924 and 1932.

Patrick Geddes and William Sharp shared a propensity to dream
grandly and cast a wide net in their interests and concerns. It is no
wonder they became good friends. Neither was a well-organized
businessman, and the publishing firm soon descended into financial
insolvency. Sharp’s efforts to sustain his writing and publication
under two signatures, his frequent bouts of ill-health and depression,
and his inability to remain for long in one place placed a strain on his
relationship with the individuals Geddes enlisted to save the firm. He
was ever patient with Sharp and concerned for his well-being. Their
close friendship produced a great deal in a brief period, but Geddes
soon moved beyond the Celtic Revival as his interests expanded into
town planning on a grand scale.

As promised in his April 29 letter to Geddes, Sharp left London
on May 18, spent two nights in York with his friend George Cotterell,
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Fig. 36 Title page of the first edition of Lyra Celtica, An Anthology of Representative

Celtic Poetry, edited by Elizabeth A. Sharp, with an Introduction and Notes

by William Sharp (Edinburgh: Patrick Geddes and Colleagues, 1896),
https://archive.org/details/lyracelticaantho0Oshar/mode/2up

editor of the Yorkshire Herald, and went on to the Geddes home in
Dundee on May 20. On the 23 he left for a long weekend of relaxation
in the West. During their brief visit Geddes became concerned about
Sharp’s physical and mental well-being. He wrote to ask Elizabeth’s
opinion about her husband’s health and to propose a stipend from the
publishing firm that would enable him to spend less time reviewing and
more time on his poetry and fiction. In a late May response, Elizabeth
expressed her deep appreciation for Geddes’s concern and generosity.
She was thankful to have someone else who “sees how he is expending
health and strength — and encroaching on his reserve — in work of a
kind he ought not to do.” She continued:

Like you, I have a great belief in the future of W. S. and Fiona M., and
I am equally persuaded that he must give up the fretting hack-work in
order to give his real work its chance. But it is so difficult to make him
do so; he grows nervous, and, I regret to say, chiefly on my account. But
I feel sure, that now, your kind interest in him, and thought for him will
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do more [than] anything else to make him, not only feel, but act on our
advice — which coincides. You are indeed a most valuable ally.

It was a relief for her “to see that there is a friend who understands
Will and sees his persistent overwork and delicacy.” She would discuss
Geddes’s offers with her husband when he returned to London and put
him into “his doctor’s hands” to deal with the weakness in his back,
which was the result of overwork. She assured Geddes of her interest in
all the “schemes” he and her husband were discussing and hoped she
might be allowed “to share in a little of the work.”

After he returned to London on May 29 and saw the Geddes letter,
Sharp wrote again to Geddes on June 3. He expressed his gratitude for
his “solicitude about his health and welfare” and called Geddes “a good
& loyal comrade as well as a dear friend.” He promised to ponder all
Geddes’s “arguments and advice,” but he was sorry Geddes had written
“so exigently” about his health, especially about his back, as he had
hoped not to worry Elizabeth about that “passing trouble.” That said,
he launched into a lengthy description of his brief sojourn:

I had the most glorious weather in the West and had a true sun-bath
every day. Friday, Saty, Sunday, & Monday last I spent at one of my
favourite remote places on Loch Fyne in Western Argyll. There I lived
mentally, spiritually, & physically (excuse the unscientific specifications!)
in rainbow-gold. All day from sunrise to midnight I was on the higher
mountain slopes, or in the pine-woods (full of continuous solemn music
with the north wind), or on the sea. On Sunday forenoon I rowed across
(2 miles or so) to the uninhabitable rocky solitudes opposite (South of
Ceann More) — went for a long glorious swim of about an hour! — lay
naked in the sunlight below a pine on a mossy crag, & dreamed pagan
dreams, & fell asleep, & had a wonderful vision of woodland lives
unknown of men, and of a beautiful Child God, of which you will hear
something from Fiona in due time — & wakened two hours later, still sun-
bathed, tanned & burnt & midge-bitten — then another swim — then
rowed across the loch again &, after tea etc., away up to the summit of a
hill set against a marvellous vision of mountains & peaks & lofty ranges,
which I have baptised with a Gaelic name meaning the Hill of the Beauty
of the World — then watched the sunglow till 10 p.m. & came down thro’
the dewy heather to the pinewoods, where I climbed into the branches of
a great red brother & lay awhile listening to the wind, with its old-world
wonder-song of the pines, & watching the moon sail upward.
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This impressive paragraph of prose, with its long concluding sentence,
pulls the reader into sharing the experience. It must have so affected
Geddes who shared Sharp’s affinity for escaping into the natural world.

Sharp then proceeded to the effect of the experience:

I have come away with a sense of the sunflood through & through
me: of magic rhythms and hints of secret voices and cadences haunting-
sweet: & with the almost passionate health & eagerness of that young
Norse god who in sheer extravagance of joy wove the rainbows into a
garland for the moment’s mountain he made out of falling worlds.

Sharp’s physical and mental state certainly improved during the brief
interlude, but the main impetus of the letter was to convince Geddes
he was well enough to undertake work for the publishing firm, and
well enough to prepare the lectures he promised to deliver for Geddes’s
Summer School in August. All this, Sharp asserted, “means I am well.”
He thanked God “for life — for a swift pulse & red blood — and fever in
the heart and brain,” and stated his intention to “be good, & to lecture,
& to publish, & behave, & always love Mrs. Geddes & yourself.” The
letter is yet another example of Sharp’s ability to recover quickly from
his too frequent bouts of illness and depression. The overt “Paganism”
and his promise to behave raise the possibility he was not alone in this
restorative interlude. Though he remained well enough through June to
do a good deal of work, his recovery, as usual, was only temporary.






Chapter Thirteen
July—December 1896

During the first three weeks of July, Sharp was writing and corresponding
with Herbert Stone about American editions of The Gypsy Christ and
Other Tales by W. S. and Pharais and The Sin-Eater by F. M. He told
Stone his arrangement with Elkin Mathews in London specified Stone
and Kimble had the right to publish another collection by Sharp, Ecce
Puella and Other Prose Imaginings, in America, and the book was issued
simultaneously by the two publishers in November. On July 5 he and
Elizabeth went to Hindhead in Haslemere, Surrey to spend the weekend
with the Grant Allens, “a brief respite,” he told Stanley Little. In a letter
thanking Mrs. Allen for an enjoyable time, Sharp assured her she need
not be concerned about a rumor floating through London involving her
husband and a “literary Parisian.” Since he was anxious to assure Mrs.
Allen it would soon pass, the rumor must have come up during the
weekend. Most people, he wrote, knew Allen had been in Paris not with
a French woman named Belloc, but with his wife. Sharp’s focus on this
rumor is notable given the likelihood he was recently in Paris with a
woman not his wife — before she was replaced by his wife.

In a postscript, Sharp declared the publisher John Lane “should be
careful how he speaks,” and advised Allen “not to give himself away.”
Having received the manuscript of Allen’s The Woman Who Did and
agreed to publish it, Lane let it be known Allen was its author. Allen
intended to publish the novel pseudonymously, and Sharp advised him
to stick with that intent despite Lane’s indiscretion. When the novel
appeared several months later, its author was Grant Allen. The book
attracted a great deal of attention, positive and negative, and made
its author both famous and infamous. Soon after it appeared, Victoria
Crosse produced The Woman Who Didn’t, and Mrs. Lovett Cameron
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Fig. 37 “The Croft,” Grant Allen’s House in Hindhead, Haslemere, Surrey (1906).
© The Francis Frith Collection, https://www.francisfrith.com/hindhead/
hindhead-grant-allen-s-house-1906_55569

produced The Man Who Didn’t. The woman in one and the man in the
other adhered closely to the norms of Victorian society. Allen’s woman
believed women should throw off the shackles of male dominance and
assert their equal rights, views shared by Sharp. In recommending Allen
publish pseudonymously, Sharp knew the book would generate a good
deal of outrage. The novel has recently emerged from obscurity as an
important contribution to the fin de siécle feminist movement known
as the “New Woman.” The Paris rumor, Sharp’s concern about Lane’s
indiscretion, and the negative response to Allen’s novel offer a glimpse
of the self-reflective and interconnected London publishing scene in the
1890s.

Allen shared Sharp’s interest in authorial deception. He published
several books as the work of invented males, and in 1897 he issued The
Type-Writer Girl as the work of a woman, Olive Pratt Rayner. By that time,
he knew Fiona was Sharp, and Sharp’s use of a female pseudonym may
have encouraged him to follow suit. Two years earlier, however, in 1895,
Sharp worried Allen might learn the truth. Writing to Allen on July 15
as Fiona, he made a “small request.” If Allen intended to write anything
about her Mountain Lovers, she hoped he would “not hint playfully at any
other authorship having suggested itself.” She continued, “And, sure, it
will be a pleasure to me if you will be as scrupulous with Mr. Meredith
or anyone else, in private, as in public, if chance should ever bring my
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insignificant self into any chit-chat.” Sharp was especially anxious to
keep Fiona’s true identity from George Meredith as he thought he might
lose his friendship if he discovered the deception. Fiona ended her letter
by telling Allen she looked forward to meeting him “when she came
south in late Autumn.”

In early July Sharp began writing the ten lectures totaling, he
estimated, 70,000 words promised Patrick Geddes for his August Summer
School. On July 13, he went down to the Burford Bridge Hotel in Surrey
for a dinner meeting of the Omar Khayyam Club, an organization of
literary figures dedicated to the pleasures of good wine and food. Many
important writers attended, among them Grant Allen, Thomas Hardy,
Theodore Watts-Dunton, George Gissing, and George Meredith who
was the guest of honor. Meredith seldom appeared in public, but he was
lured to the dinner by his friend Edward Clodd, the club’s president,
and arrived only for the dessert course. Clodd welcomed him “in a
charming and eloquent speech not devoid of pathos,” and Meredith,
overcoming his famed reticence about speaking in public, responded
graciously and wittily. After Sharp attended this dinner as a guest,
Edward Clodd recommended him for membership in the Club, and he
joined in November (Memoir, 246).

In a July 11 letter, Sharp told Richard Le Gallienne, who was living
near Allen and Meredith in Surrey, he hoped to see him at the Omar
Khayyam dinner to arrange a private meeting. He knows Fiona will
be gratified by Le Gallienne’s “kind words of praise for The Mountain
Lovers” in that evening’s Star, but he must again make “a friendly
protest” against Le Gallienne’s “inference as to her pseudonymity.”
He concluded: “Please Don’t! — for her sake much more than for that
of Yours ever in Friendship, William Sharp.” Four days later, on July
15, he wrote again to Le Gallienne. He was sorry Le Gallienne had not
attended the Omar Khayyam dinner. It was “a memorable as well as
a pleasant one because of George Meredith” who has sent Fiona “a
letter of splendid praise & encouragement.” He appreciated anything
Le Gallienne says about Fiona in print, but “she and her unworthy
cousin [Sharp] earnestly hope for no more confusion respecting her
actual authorship of “The Mountain Lovers,” publicly or privately.” Le
Gallienne had compared the two writing styles and concluded — first
privately and then publicly — Fiona was Sharp. Sharp wanted a private
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talk, probably to tell Le Gallienne a version of the truth and extract a
pledge of secrecy, but Le Gallienne could not meet that week, and
Sharp could not meet the following week. He was leaving London and
would not return until October, by which time Le Gallienne would be in
America. The July 15 letter was his only hope of silencing Le Gallienne,
and he concluded by returning to Meredith who knows, he wrote, Fiona
is “my cousin, but, I hope, will never be “put about’ by hearing any other
rumor.” Wherever the fires threatened to rise, Sharp tried to extinguish
or at least contain them.

Sharp also wrote to Patrick Geddes on July 15: he would be in
Scotland the following week, but not in Edinburgh until the end of
the month when his wife would join him. He enclosed the titles of his
Summer School lectures and informed Geddes he (“or rather Fiona”)
received a letter from Meredith in which he “slips the laurel into Fiona’s
dark locks right royally & prophesizes big things of her.” When Geddes
learned Sharp was coming north in advance of his wife, he proposed a
hiking trip. Sharp declined, saying he could “see no one for the week I
shall be ‘hanging about.”” He would be in Edinburgh only intermittently
until the end of July when he would be available to talk with Geddes
about The Evergreen and other publications of the new firm. He planned
to visit Murray Gilchrist on his way to Scotland, but he wrote on the 18"
to say he could not leave London until the morning of the 22" and had
to be in Edinburgh that evening. Few of his lectures had been written,
and he was beginning to panic. Before leaving London, he found time
to write a heartfelt letter to Annie Alden, whose mother, Susan Alden,
recently died after a long and debilitating illness. While visiting the
Aldens in Metuchen, New Jersey during his visit to America in 1891, he
developed a sincere affection for the family. The letter reveals something
of his conception of death and the afterlife. Everyone who knew Annie’s
mother loved her. Certainly, he did. In fact, he had a special spiritual
connection with her. He often dreamed of her, and once he had “a kind
of vision of her, white and sunlit, walking through a shadowy wood that
was all bright where she went.” She was one of the few who “go through
life as white spirits clothed with the accident of body,” and now she has
been “born into new life.” She has had “still another resurrection — that
resurrection in the minds of all who knew her, which keeps new and
fresh a vivid and dear memory.” She now lives twice, as a spirit in the
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afterlife and in the memory of all who knew and loved her. In concluding,
Sharp hoped Annie would enjoy the copy of Fiona’s The Mountain Lovers
he sent to her father and asked her to preserve the secret of her identity
he had shared with the Aldens.

In a late July letter Fiona thanked Grant Allen for his favorable review
of The Mountain Lovers in the Westminster Review. The letter contains a
clue as to Sharp’s whereabouts during the week of July 22. As he passed
through Edinburgh, he had his sister copy the letter into the Fiona hand
with a “temporary” return address of 144 North St. | St. Andrews | Fife,
(now a shopping area across the street from the University), and Sharp
mailed it from there. In the letter, Fiona says she is visiting friends in
St. Andrews and that her cousin Will Sharp is “coming to spend the
weekend” with her — “or I with him, I should say, as I am to be his
guest, at almost the only Celtic place we know of on this too ‘dour’
shoreland of Fife.” From later correspondence, we know Edith Rinder
was vacationing in or near St. Andrews until late August, when she left
for Brittany to collect folklore. Sharp’s insistence on being alone that
week and his claim Fiona was visiting him in St. Andrews suggest he
was using a rendezvous with Fiona as a cover for one with Edith. As
the years went by, Sharp claimed Fiona as his cousin, and sometimes he
implied they were romantically involved, though both were married to
another. Fiona’s movements as portrayed by Sharp in correspondence
and conversations often modeled those of Edith. When Edith was in
Scotland, Fiona was there; when Edith was abroad, so was Fiona; when
Edith was with him, Fiona was with him. This was a convenient way
to keep track of Fiona’s whereabouts and, if necessary, account for the
presence of a female companion. It also signaled his predisposition to
conflate the two women, one real and the other imagined.

In an early August note Sharp assured Stanley Little his lectures were
going well, but they had “told upon” him heavily, and he was “far from
well.” According to Elizabeth, while he was delivering the first of ten
scheduled lectures on “Life & Art” in the Summer School, he “was seized
with a severe heart attack and all his notes fell to the ground. It was with
the greatest effort that he was able to bring the lecture to a close: and he
realized that he must not attempt to continue the course; the risk was
too great” (Memoir, 251). The plural in the letter to Little implies more
than one lecture was delivered, but apparently that was not the case.
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At the end of August, he informed Herbert Stone he had not been at all
well, “the strain of lecturing” had been too great. As much as he liked
to sketch out the topic of lectures, Sharp was less successful in forming
his notes into a coherent narrative. Delivering a lecture provoked great
anxiety. The “heart attack” must have been an episode of angina brought
on by nervous apprehension. Whatever the case, he repaired across the
Firth of Forth to recuperate at the Pettycur Inn in Kinghorn where Edith
Rinder could visit from St. Andrews. Elizabeth stayed on in Ramsay
Gardens “to keep open house for the entertainment of the students.”

Fig. 38 Ramsay Gardens from Princes’ Street, Edinburgh. The Outlook Tower is on
the High Street behind this impressive group of buildings. Photo by David
Monniaux (2005), Wikimedia, https://commons.wikimedia.org/w/index.
php?curid=228032#/media/File:Edinburgh_old_town_dsc06355.jpg, CC

BY-SA 3.0.

In an August 12 letter with a Ramsey Gardens return address, Sharp
informed Herbert Stone “Miss Macleod” was staying with him and
Elizabeth for a day or two to hear his lectures, “particularly that on The
Celtic Renascence.” This was the fifth lecture of the ten he had planned
to give, and, if Elizabeth’s recollection was correct, he did not get beyond
the first. Having Fiona with him at Ramsey Gardens at the halfway
point of his planned lectures explains why he was able to add a brief
note to a Fiona letter to Stone, also dated August 12. The simultaneity
of the two letters was possible because Sharp’s sister Mary was close by
in Murrayfield to supply the Fiona handwriting. In an August 30 letter
to Stone, Sharp reported Edith Rinder had entered the Ramsay Gardens
milieu during the previous week. She had been staying in Fifeshire
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during August, and she was leaving the next day for Brittany “to work
up Breton legends and folklore.” Sharp was sure Stone would be pleased
with her Belgian book, The Massacre of the Innocents and Other Tales by
Belgian Writers, which his firm published in its Green Tree Library series
in November 1895. He offered to write “a short article on the Belgian
Renascence” for Stone’s Chap-Book to publicize the book.

There followed one of Sharp’s many stratagems. Edith, he wrote
in the August 30 letter to Stone, was “Miss Macleod’s most intimate
woman-friend” and the “dedicatee of Pharais.” Since she was William
Sharp’s “most intimate woman friend” and since it was William Sharp
who dedicated Pharais to her, he was equating himself with Fiona.
Continuing, he said Edith and Fiona had been “staying together recently
and (I believe) writing or planning something to do together.” It was
William Sharp and Edith Rinder who had been staying together recently.
After broaching the possibility of joint authorship, Sharp quickly denied
it — “that, from what I know of Miss F. M., will never come off, as she
is far too essentially F. M. to work in harness with anyone.” The passage
increases the likelihood Edith was with him on St. Andrews and at the
Pettycur Inn, but why, we wonder, did he raise with Stone the possibility
of joint authorship only to dismiss it. Since he was corresponding with
Stone about the writings of both Fiona and Edith, Stone might succumb
to rumors and equate Fiona with Edith or, more likely, with William
Sharp. Edith was not Fiona; nor was she collaborating with Fiona.
Rather, she was translating and editing continental stories and folktales,
including those of Celtic Brittany. By sharing these details of the Sharp
| Macleod | Rinder triangle with Stone, Sharp reinforced the separate
identity of Fiona. The three were good friends and compatriots in the
Celtic cause, but quite independent of each other.

Sharp’s careful manipulation of people’s locations was not limited to
Edinburgh. He and Elizabeth had taken a cottage with his mother and
sisters for September in the west of Scotland. In his August 30 letter to
Stone, Sharp said he was leaving the next day for Tigh-Na-Bruaich in the
Kyles of Bute, in Argyll where he planned to stay at least ten days and
where “his cousin, Miss Macleod,” would be with him “most of the time.”
A postscript to Fiona’s August 12 letter informed Stone that her address
throughout September would be “c/o Mrs. William Sharp [not Mr.] |
Woodside | Tigh-Na-Bruaich | Kyles of Bute | Argyll | Scotland.” Having
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brought Fiona to Ramsey Gardens in mid-August, he would have her in
the West with him during September. More correspondence with Stone
about the publication of The Sin-Eater and Pharais would be necessary,
and sister Mary would be in Tigh-Na-Bruaich to supply the requisite
handwriting. Correspondence could move back and forth more rapidly
between Chicago and Tigh-Na-Bruaich without having to pass through
Edinburgh. This sort of manipulation of Fiona’s whereabouts was a fact
of Sharp’s life until his death in 1905. It was necessary to sustain the
fiction of Fiona’s separate existence, and he enjoyed orchestrating the
complexities.

In mid-September, the Sharps were joined in the Kyles of Bute by
Agnes Farquharson Sharp, Elizabeth’s mother and William’s aunt. On
September 18 Sharp told Stone their party was breaking up the next
day, but he and Elizabeth would stay on till the end of the month. By
September 26, the plans had changed. Sharp wrote Gilchrist to say
he was taking his aunt back to London because she was prostrated
by a telegram from abroad saying her son had suddenly developed a
malignant cancer and was dying so rapidly he had given up hope of
coming home. This turn of events disrupted his plan to visit Gilchrist,
but he promised to stop for a visit in late October when he would be
returning to Edinburgh.

On September 27, William, Elizabeth, and Agnes left the Kyles of
Bute for Edinburgh, where Sharp posted a long birthday letter to E. C.
Stedman; he should receive from Stone and Kimball “on or about the
8%” — Stedman’s birthday — a copy of The Gypsy Christ. He wanted
to send a book of “prose imaginings,” Ecce Puella, but Elkin Mathews
had delayed publication until late October. Stedman would also soon
receive from Stone and Kimball as a special present a copy of the
American edition of The Sin-Eater by his cousin Fiona Macleod, who
“is now admitted,” Sharp wrote, “to be the head of the Scots-Celtic
movement — as W. B. Yeats is of the Irish-Celtic.” The British edition
of The Sin-Eater, which would be published in Edinburgh, “is novel &
beautiful as a piece of book-making.” He was responsible for its type,
paper, binding, & general format. Apart from The Evergreen it was the
first publication of Patrick Geddes & Colleagues of which he was “chief
literary partner.” The books published by the Geddes firm in 1895-1896
are, indeed, beautiful examples of bookmaking. As described in the
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previous chapter, Sharp also played a critical role in their content since
all the initial publications were written by 1) Sharp as Fiona Macleod
(The Sin-Eater, The Washer of the Ford, and From the Hills of Dream), 2) his
wife (Lyra Celtica, with a lengthy introduction by her husband), and 3)
his close friends Edith Rinder (The Shadow of Arvor) and Ernest Rhys
(The Fiddler of Carne).

Fig. 39 Fiona Macleod, The Sin-Eater and Other Tales (Edinburgh: Patrick Geddes &
Colleagues, 1895). Photograph by William F. Halloran (2019).

From Edinburgh on 28 September, Sharp sent Stone an article on the
Belgian Renaissance for publication in the Chap-Book and told him it
would not be necessary to send Mrs. Rinder proofs of her Massacre of the
Innocents and Other Tales by Belgian Writers, since she was anxious for it to
appear. It was published on November 15, 1895 in Stone and Kimball’s
Green Tree Library series. The book took its title from its first story, “The
Massacre of the Innocents,” by Maurice Maeterlinck, whose dramas had
established his substantial reputation. In her introduction to the volume
Edith wrote, “even the most enthusiastic admirers of the author need
not be surprised at never having heard of the story” as Maeterlinck
himself was amazed that she had unearthed his only published prose
tale from an “obscure and long since defunct French periodical where
it made its first appearance before anyone had heard a word concerning
its author.” Edith was in touch with Maeterlinck and the other authors
as she assembled and translated their stories for the volume.



178 William Sharp and “Fiona Macleod”

Sharp wanted to issue works by W. S. and F. M. at about the same
time “in part to sustain what reputation belonged to his older Literary
self, and in part to help preserve the younger literary self’s incognito”
(Memoir, 251). To counterbalance the publication of Fiona’s Sin-Eater
by the Geddes firm in October 1895, Sharp produced two books by W.
S. One was The Gypsy Christ and Other Tales, which Stone and Kimball
published in Chicago as the first in their “Carnation Series.” The
volume’s titular story drew upon Sharp’s experience as an adolescent
with a band of gypsies in Scotland, and on a recent encounter while
walking with Murray Gilchrist on the moors of Derbyshire. When the
book was published in England by Archibald Constable and Co. in 1897,
its second story was given preference in the title: Madge o’ the Pool: The
Gypsy Christ and Other Tales.

Sharp dedicated a second book, Ecce Puella and Other Prose Imaginings
(published by Elkin Mathews in London on November 1) to his friend
George Cotterell, editor of the Yorkshire Herald. Not one to pass up
dedicatory possibilities, he ascribed each of the book’s sketches to a close
female friend. The title piece, “Ecce Puella,” a revised and condensed
rendition of “Fair Women in Painting and Prose,” which Sharp wrote
for P. G. Hamerton's Portfolio of Artistic Monographs in 1894, celebrates
the beauty of women. Dedicated “To the Woman of Thirty,” it begins
with a quotation by H. P. Siwdarmill, an anagram of William Sharp:
“A Dream of Fair Women: Every man dreams his dream. With some it
happens early in the teens. It fades with some, during the twenties. With
others it endures, vivid and beautiful under grey hairs, till it glorifies the
grave.” Sharp’s dream of a fair woman became a reality and endured in
the person of Edith Rinder who, born in 1865, was a “Woman of Thirty”
in 1895, and was the dedicatee.

The second piece in the book, “Fragments from the Lost Journals of
Piero di Cosimo,” is one of Sharp’s attempts to produce a prose version
of Robert Browning’s “dramatic monologues.” Cosimo, an Italian
Renaissance painter, records in old age his failure to measure up to the
promise of his youth. Sharp dedicated this piece to E. A. S. — Elizabeth
Amelia Sharp — who introduced him to the paintings of Cosimo and
his more accomplished contemporaries. The next piece — “The Birth,
Death, and Resurrection of a Tear” — is dedicated “To A. C.” whose
identity remains a mystery. She must have been a woman of great beauty,
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since the narrator elaborately parallels the course of his unrequited love
for her with the course of a tear which falls down “the lovely sunbrown
cheek no bloom of any ‘sun’d September apricock’ could outvie.” Next,
“The Sister of Compassion,” is dedicated “To A. M. C.” or Alice Mona
Caird. The woman of the title is “so wrought by the tragic pain of
the weak and helpless” that she laid down her life in order that she
might be “a messenger of that tardy redemption which man must make
in spirit and deed for the incalculable wrong which he had done to that
sacred thing he most values — Life.” A well-known spokeswoman for
the rights of women, Mona Caird was a vocal participant in the animal
rights movement. The first-person narrator, a stand-in for Sharp, “loves
and honors” her as Sharp surely did since she supplied shelter and
sustenance for the Sharps whenever they were in need.

The next piece, “The Hill-Wind,” resembles the impressionistic prose
poems Sharp was writing as Fiona Macleod, and he dedicated it to F. M.
Personified as a beautiful woman, the Hill-Wind sees the “whiteness of
her limbs beneath the tremulous arrowy leaves and the thick clusters of
scarlet and vermillion berries” as she descends to become the bride of
the Sea-Wind. The image of red berries against the white flesh recalls
Sharp’s “Swimmer of Nemi” in Sospiri di Roma, the volume of poems he
published in Italy in 1891. Since he associated that poem with the birth
of Fiona Macleod, the dedication to Fiona is fitting, but the overwrought
description of the forest through which the winds blow contrasts sharply
with the restrained language of the poem.

“Love in a Mist,” the final piece in the volume, is dedicated “To a
Midsummer Memory.” In this poem, “Love” is a young Cupid who
spends a good deal of time examining a beautiful forest in search of
something to do. He comes upon a handsome man and a beautiful
woman, and they provide an opportunity to carry out his designed
function; he shoots each with an arrow. He is concerned as they appear
to fall in agony, but he soon realizes “they were not dead or even dying,
but merely kissing and fondling each other, and this too in the most
insensate fashion.” Sharp’s memory of this encounter, one supposes
with the woman of thirty who was his dedicatee in the first essay,
enabled him to end a book dedicated to the women in his life with a note
of titillation for his female readers. Ecce Puella is yet another example
of Sharp’s preoccupation with women, this example focused on the
women in his life.
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In a series of letters to Murray Gilchrist in the fall of 1895, Sharp
revealed his deeply conflicted state of mind. His unfulfilled promises
to visit caused Gilchrist to wonder if a rift had developed. From Argyle
on September 26, addressing Gilchrist as “My dear boy,” he wrote,
“Of course, my dear fellow, there is no ‘shadow of a shadow of hill or
sea,’ as they say here, between us. At all times I bear you in affectionate
remembrance: and then, we are comrades.” He was sorry Gilchrist’s
year was filled with “mischances and misadventures.” His own year
had such extremes of “light and shade’ that it was no wonder his friends
noted the progressive greying of his hair. To further allay Gilchrist’s
concern, he closed the letter: “to you, my dear friend & comrade, my
love, sympathy, & affectionate heed.” With the letter, he sent a set of
proofs of the “Tragic Landscapes” section of Fiona’s Sin-Eater and asked
Gilchrist, who knew the Fiona secret, what he thought of the three prose
poems. He especially wanted to know what Gilchrist thought of the
third piece — “Summer Sleep” — which Gilchrist would know was

an exact transcript of — Phenice Croft at Rudgwick, and that the three
men are — you, Garfitt, and myself. I cannot explain aright: you must
read into what you read. The most tragic & momentous epoch of my life
followed that visit of yours to Phenice Croft, & is, so far, indissolubly
linked with that day I met you, and that time.

Published as the work of Fiona Macleod, the “Summer Sleep” section
of “Tragic Landscapes” recounts an incident that occurred when
Gilchrist and Garfitt were staying with Sharp at Phenice Croft in 1894.
As discussed at some length in Chapter Eleven, Sharp wanted Gilchrist
to read that section carefully and decipher its hidden meaning.

Shortly after returning to London, Sharp wrote another letter to
Gilchrist to say he would spend a day with him between the October 13
and October 19. He was disappointed by Gilchrist’s failure, in his note
of acknowledgement, to say what he thought of “Tragic Landscapes.”
He would elicit Gilchrist’s thoughts when they met in person. Sharp
returned to Edinburgh on October 12 without stopping to see Gilchrist,
and, on October 14, he asked Gilchrist by what means he could go from
York to his house in Derbyshire when he returned to London at the
weekend. Two days later, he told Gilchrist he was ill with a diarrheic
weakness and wondered if Gilchrist could meet him on Friday October
18 after 9:00 p.m. at the Station Hotel in York where he would spend
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that night and where Gilchrist would be his guest. The meeting did not
take place.

On November first, Sharp wrote again to Gilchrist thanking him for
a letter praising The Sin-Eater. Grateful for Gilchrist’s favorable opinion,
he remained unsatisfied by what he did not say in his “little message.”
He wanted to know what Gilchrist felt and thought about the entire
book which, he wrote, “is full of myself, of my life — more than any
(save one other than myself) can ever know.” Edith Rinder, as we shall
see, was the only one other than himself who knew The Sin-Eater was
full of his life. That he would make Gilchrist the third to know shows he
considered him an intimate friend and trusted him to preserve the secret
of Fiona Macleod. He continued with another confession: “I am in the
valley of Deep Shadow just now. Great suffering, of a kind that must
not be shown, has led me stumbling and blindfold among morasses and
quicksands. I see the shining of my star — and so have hope still, and
courage. But, while I stumble on, I suffer.” He wanted Gilchrist to know
he was in the throes of a deep depression.

What, we must wonder, had Sharp embedded in The Sin-Eater that
he hoped Gilchrist would uncover? The tales in the first section — “The
Sin-Eater,” “The Ninth Wave,” and “The Judgment of God” — each tell
the story of a man who commits an infraction of the norms of the Gaelic
islands and ends up naked and consumed by the sea. In his depressed
state, Sharp must have identified with these poor bedraggled men. In
each of the volume’s final three stories — “The Daughter of the Sun,”
“The Birdeen,” and “Silk o’ the Kine” — Sharp, disguised as Fiona,
described a beautiful woman. In the first, she is Ethlenn “with her tall,
lithe, slim figure, her dark-brown dusky hair, her gloaming eyes, her
delicate features, with, above all, her radiant expression of joyous life.”
In the second, the Birdeen, or baby girl, grows into a young lady who is

tall and slim, with a flower-like way wither: the way of the flower in
the sunlight, of the wave on the sea, of the tree-top in the wind. Her
changing hazel eyes, now grey-green, now dusked with sea-gloom or a
violet shadowiness; her wonderful arched eye brows, dark so that they
seemed black; the beautiful bonnie face of her, wither mobile mouth and
white flawless teeth; the ears that lay against the tangle of her sun-brown
shadowed hair, like pink shells on a drift of seaweed; the exquisite poise
of head and neck and body.
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In the third, Eilidh was the “most beautiful woman of her time.” Because
of her “soft, white beauty, for all the burning brown of her by the sun
and wind, she was also called Silk o’ the Kine.” She slays the man the
King forces her to marry and joins Isla, the man she loves. They shed
their clothes and swim out “together against the sun,” and they were
“never seen again by any of their kin or race.” Sharp hoped Gilchrist,
reading deeply, would recognize that in each of these stories of female
beauty, intense love, and inevitable tragedy, Sharp was telling the story
of his troubled relationship with Edith Rinder, which he had described
to Gilchrist when they met at Phenice Croft. He concluded the November
first letter with a dramatic appeal to Gilchrist: he needed his help, and
he needed it “just now.”

That plea reached its apotheosis in a late December letter, where he
recalled for Gilchrist the “tragic issues” underlying his despair:

To me, 1896 comes with a gauntleted hand. It will be a hard fight against
the squadrons of Destiny (for I hear the trampling of an obscure foe and
menacing vague cries) — but perhaps I may — for a time, and that is
the utmost each of us can expect — emerge victor. What a bitter strange
mystery fate is! You know, dimly and in part, out of what tragic pain and
amid what tragic issues I wrote “Summersleep,” the third of the “Tragic
Landscapes”? Well, every environment is changed, and circumstances
are different, and yet the same two human souls are once more whelmed
in the same disastrous tides & have once more to struggle blindly against
what seems a baffling doom.

The imagery recalls that of the “Silk o’ the Kine,” but Sharp and Edith
could not shed their responsibilities and swim out “together against
the sun,” never to be seen again. Sharp was “wrought by overwork,
anxiety, and the endless flame of life,” and he needed to have a long talk
with Gilchrist. He told Gilchrist he was in financial trouble due to the
indisposition of his wife, who had to spend the three winter months in
Italy. He asked again if The Sin-Eater “wore” with Gilchrist. He wished
Gilchrist would write a long letter, not “one of his usual notelets.” He
would be thankful if he could leap over “the black gulf of January” and
be “safe on the shores of February.”

Over-dramatized, but with a ring of truth, the letter is a long cry of
desperation and a plea for help. It ends with an “offering” to Gilchrist,
a “specially bound proof-revise copy of his last book: Ecce Puella:
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And Other Prose Imaginings.” The volume’s extensive ruminations on
beautiful women were unlikely to interest Gilchrist, but the intensity
of Sharp’s adoration might drive home the seriousness of his dilemma.
The letter raises Gilchrist to the status of a secular priest whose receipt
of an offering might elicit an absolution, a way forward. It is not clear
how Sharp thought Gilchrist could help, but he may have assumed the
restrictions placed on Gilchrist’s relationship with Garfitt resembled
those on his relationship with Edith. Gilchrist’s experience may have
produced insights that would alleviate Sharp’s depression. Gilchrist’s
writings offer another clue to the intense language of Sharp’s appeal
for help and to his repeated requests for Gilchrist’s response to Fiona’s
“Summer Sleep” in which Sharp saw and feared the “Gates of Hell.”

Gilchrist was drawn to speculating about the dark mysteries
embedded in the human psyche. Hugh Walpole, in his The Apple
Trees: Four Reminiscences (Waltham Saint Lawrence, Berkshire: Golden
Cockerel Press, 1932), described a visit to Gilchrist (42-51):

So dark was the house that we lived for most of the day in candle-light.
[...] He liked candles and Elizabethan thickness of atmosphere and, if
possible, the rain beating on the leaded windows. [...] He liked to sit in
the low heavily-beamed room and, as the candles flickered in the old
silver candlesticks, and read aloud some of his favorite pieces from his
writings.

In their introduction to a selection of Gilchrist’s tales — The Basilisk and
Other Tales of Dread (ix—xvi) — John Pelan and Christopher Roden wrote:

The themes of madness and doomed love echo through the majority
of his stories and in rare instances where his protagonists survive their
encounters with the supernatural, it is a close call, and we know that
they will carry the psychic scars left by their encounter with the Other-
worldly for ever more. Gilchrist’s tales are High Tragedy; stories with
an air of the morbid and grim, compressed into vignettes of just a few
thousand words.

Sharp was especially interested in Gilchrist's response to The Sin-
Eater because Gilchrist’s tales of “doomed love” and “psychic scars”
resembled those he was writing as Fiona Macleod. Sharp’s attraction to
Gilchrist was rooted in his belief that Gilchrist’s circumstances, his view
of the world, and his state of mind resembled his own.
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Pelan and Roden also described the “duality of Gilchrist,” as shown
by his shift in the late 1890s from “ornately crafted fantasies” to “deftly
limned sketches of the Peakland District,” from horror stories to local
color. “It has been posited” they continue, “that Gilchrist abandoned the
realm of the fantastic due to concerns for his own safety following the
arrest of Oscar Wilde.” They reject that supposition. While they agree
that Gilchrist, as “a homosexual living in homophobic times [...] had
reason to be concerned,” their analysis of the full scope of his writings
indicates Gilchrist turned to “charming travel books and mainstream
novels” primarily because he recognized a change in the literary market
and decided to produce writings that would sell.

In addition to the duality in his writing, Gilchrist, like Sharp,
experienced a further, more basic splitting of self. Though he was
living with George Garfitt in a homosexual relationship, the nature
of the relationship unknown to those outside the relationship. Less
flamboyant than Wilde, Gilchrist was not averse to distinctive role-
playing. In Eyam — The “Milton” of Robert Murray Gilchrist, a small
pamphlet of unknown date written by a resident of Eyam and available
locally, Clarence Daniel recalled his father saying Gilchrist attended
church services wearing “a cassock and girdle, as though it indicated
membership of some religious order,” while another villager said that
Gilchrist was “a huge man, full of tricksy humor, who could rattle off
anything on a piano and surprise the stranger with the sweetness of a
tenor voice coming from his massive frame.” With occasional lapses,
Gilchrist projected a distinctive but decidedly masculine image to
the world. Sharp also projected that image while secretly wondering
if he was more a woman than a man. Gender identity is not openly
addressed in Sharp’s 1895 letters to Gilchrist, but it is clearly a subtext.
The confidential tone and confessional content of the letters suggest
they shared while together their concerns about dual identities and
gender fluidity. Gilchrist may have been surprised, if not perplexed, by
the desperation conveyed in Sharp’s 1895 letters, but he must also have
recognized similarities in their interests and circumstances: their shared
fascination with the supernatural, the psychic traumas lurking below
accepted patterns of behavior, and their unconventional relationships,
his with Garfitt and Sharp’s with Edith. Sharp’s pursuit of an intimate
relationship with Gilchrist was based, at least partially, on his hope
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the younger man might provide some solace, a path of escape from
depression. Gilchrist’s refusal to accommodate Sharp’s repeated pleas
for a more detailed and intimate response to The Sin-Eater reflected,
as Sharp feared, his reluctance to deepen and shift the nature of their
friendship.

Sharp seems not to have desired or needed a sexual relationship
with another man, but he had a compelling need for a male friend to
whom he could confide his deepest feelings. That need was rooted in
his emotional distance from his father during his childhood, and in his
father’s early death, which prevented a healing of the breach. In the late
1870s and 1880s, Sharp confided in John Elder, the brother of Elizabeth
Sharp’s close friend, Adelaide Elder. They met just before Elder
immigrated to New Zealand for reasons of health, and the intensity of
their relationship, which ended abruptly in Elder’s premature death, is
preserved in Sharp’s letters. Dante Gabriel Rossetti adopted Sharp as
an acolyte in the early 1880s, and Sharp became a willing supplicant.
Recently discovered letters to Hall Caine show how he became Sharp’s
confidant after Rossetti died in 1882. In the early 1890s, Sharp developed
a close friendship with J. Stanley Little who found Phenice Croft for
the Sharps and lived nearby in West Sussex. When he met Gilchrist in
1894, Sharp, sensing their compatibility and the comparability of their
circumstances, adopted him first as a confidant and then made him a
confessor, a role Gilchrist resisted.

Sharp met his first cousin, Elizabeth Amelia Sharp, a well-
educated girl from London, when they were children, and they
became engaged when they were twenty. She became his companion
and mentor, and she remained such until he died. In mid-life, he met,
and came to depend on, the beautiful and brilliant Edith Rinder. The
“needs and desires, interests and friends” of the Fiona Macleod side of
his “nature,” which was “deepening and becoming dominant,” needed
her presence. It was she who enabled him to summon and objectify his
female self. “Without her,” he said, “there would have been no ‘Fiona
Macleod”” (Memoir, 222). He came to love her; he needed to be with
her; and several unpublished Sharp sonnets in the National Library of
Scotland suggest his despair was deepened by the circumstances that
prevented them from having a child. A passage in Elizabeth’s Memoir
(292) offers further insight into the state of mind that caused Sharp to
reach out in despair to Gilchrist:
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The production of the Fiona Macleod work was accomplished at a
heavy cost to the author as that side of his nature deepened and became
dominant. The strain upon his energies was excessive: not only from
the necessity of giving expression to the two sides of his nature; but
because of his desire, that, while under the cloak of secrecy F. M. should
develop and grow, the reputation of William Sharp should at the same
time be maintained. Moreover, each of the two natures had its own needs
and desires, interests, and friends. The needs of each were not always
harmonious one with the other but created a complex condition that led
to a severe nervous collapse.

Here Elizabeth described her husband’s condition in 1898, but the
problem surfaced four years earlier when he first faced the effects on his
psyche of his creation of a female persona.

To the extent Sharp identified Edith with the woman he experienced
in himself, one might say one part of his nature had fallen in love with
another — that, like Narcissus, he had fallen in love with himself. In
November 1880, when he was twenty-five years old, he unabashedly
declared his love to John Elder:

Don’t despise me when I say that in some things I am more a woman than
a man — and when my heart is touched strongly I lavish more love upon
the one who does so than I have perhaps any right to expect returned;
and then I have so few friends that when I do find one I am ever jealous
of his or her absence.

This sentence should be read in the broader historical context of
Tennyson’s relationship with Arthur Henry Hallam, Matthew Arnold’s
with Arthur Hugh Clough, and many similar relationships between men
in nineteenth-century Britain. In this case, however, Sharp was seriously
attempting to come to terms with his gender identity: sometimes he
identified as a man, and other times as a woman. The norms of his
society dictated he identify as one — that of a man — not both.

Despite his mental anguish, Sharp continued writing and negotiating
